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Corporate Information and Key Dates
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Key Dates EEAM
Annual Results Announcement 24 June 2024 HFEXEBHAS 2024 6H24H
Final Dividend HKS$0.003 per share  kEARR & S0%0.00378 7T
— Latest Time to Lodge Transfers 26 August 2024 — IR IBF X 20244 8H26H
(before 4:30 p.m.) =& R HA (FF4K309 A1)
— Book Close Dates 27-28 August 2024 — H{EMIER K 20244 8H27-28H
(both days inclusive) WA E:CHE (BEEEmH)
— Record Date 28 August 2024 —sE# BHA 2024%8H28H
— Payment Date 19 September 2024 — Ik H # 20245 9H819H
Annual General Meeting 20 August 2024 RERBEFEKXE 20244 8H20H
— Latest Time to Lodge Transfers 14 August 2024 —EXRBRNH 20244 8H14H
(before 4:30 p.m.) R&MRH (FF48530493 A1)
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Results Summary

FIRME

The board of directors (“Board” or “Directors”) of Emperor HERKEEEARATD(SATNEEFTG(E
International Holdings Limited (“Company”) presents ZGIRBFNREXQTAKREWEB LT (4%
the audited consolidated results of the Company and its 877 & E)) & £2024F38318 It F E (&
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “Group”) for the year EENZRBIZIESEE -

ended 31 March 2024 (“Year”).

For the year ended 31 March

§E3A31HILLEE
2024 2023
HK$’000 HKS 000 Changes
F#ET FET b= )]

Gross profit 1,021,959 590,026 +73.2%
el

Underlying profit attributable to owners of the
Company! 575,933 345,439 +66.7%

AAB YR A FE AL Z 00 1

Basic (loss) per share HK$(0.56) # 7T HKS(0.58) 7 7T N/A
SREX(EBE) rEA
1 Represents profit attributable to owners of the Company before gain ! REHE—RNRBATZKE  AAEBEES
on disposal of a subsidiary, fair value changes and impairment loss RAEBERBRAEERENARMBERAZ

and the relevant deferred taxes, as well as finance costs KRATER NELET
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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RESULTS

Benefiting from the recoveries of the tourism and hospitality
sectors, the Group’s total revenue increased by 45.5% to
HKS$1,761.8 million (2023: HK$1,210.7 million) during the Year.
The Group’s rental income increased slightly to HK$879.3
million (2023: HK$870.8 million), representing 49.9% (2023:
71.9%) of the total revenue. Revenue from the sales of
property development increased by 78.9% to HKS141.8
million (2023: HKS$79.2 million), accounting for 8.1% (2023:
6.6%) of the total revenue. Revenue from the hospitality
segment significantly increased by 184.2% to HKS$740.7
million (2023: HK$260.7 million), accounting for 42.0% (2023:
21.5%) of the total revenue.

Gross profit increased by 73.2% to HKS$1,022.0 million
(2023: HKS590.0 million). Excluding the gain on disposal of
a subsidiary, fair value changes and impairment loss and
the relevant deferred taxes, as well as finance costs, the
underlying profit attributable to owners of the Company
increased to HKS575.9 million (2023: HKS$345.4 million).
Due to the increase in total revenue, the loss for the Year
attributable to the owners of the Company narrowed to
HKS2,046.7 million (2023: HKS2,142.0 million). Basic loss was
HKS0.56 (2023: HKS0.58) per share. The Board recommended
a payment of a final dividend of HK$0.003 (2023: HK$0.003)
per share. Together with the interim dividend of HKS$0.003
(2023: HKS0.005) per share, the total dividends for the Year are
HKS0.006 (2023: HKS0.008) per share.

x5

RERKRERBERNER  2EEREE
FE B 48 UK A 38 f045.5% %£1,761,800,0007% 7T
(20234 :1,210,700,000# 7T) - " E B W H &
W A B i £ A £879,300,0007# JT (20234 :
870,800,000 JT) > 1 48 Uk A #949.9% (2023
FIT71.9%) c MEERFEWAEINTE.ONE
141,800,0007% 7t (20234 : 79,200,0007% JT) »
1l 48 U A B98.1% (20234 : 6.6%) © & & AR #5
53 &R B9 WX A K & 18 0184.2% % 740,700,000
7 7T (20234 : 260,700,000 7o) > 14 48 Ix A
#942.0% (20234 : 21.5%) ©

E£ Fl + #73.2% £=1,022,000,000% 7T (2023
£ :590,000,0007 7t) > A B & H & — [
BRralzl@d AABEEH R AERIE
REMELEREBEBURTEER A 5
B A FE 1k % 0 & # 18 50 575,900,000 7T
(20234 : 345,400,000 7T) o HH 7% 48 U A 18
m: x2ABBEEARBELEAEESREKEERE
2,046,700,0003% 7T (20234 : 2,142,000,0003%
7o) o BRREAEIE A0.567 7T (20234 : 0.58
B - EETEZ RN RERKRE S0.003
B (023F:0.003Bm)  ERGTHKRES
§£0.0033% 7T (20234 : 0.005% 7T) > & F E
BG B 48 %8 4 5 §50.00638 7T (20234 : 0.008%

JT) °
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ERE R

MARKET REVIEW

During the Year, the Hong Kong government was determined
to revitalise the financial market and tourism industry
by vigorously promoting favourable policies. This has
significantly helped the recovery of the local retail market and
the reinvigoration of economic activities including financial
conferences, global exhibitions and international events,
giving impetus to the rebound of retail leasing and hospitality
demand.

Although the global economy has been recovering from
the pandemic, a number of macroeconomic issues such
as uncertainty over high interest rate cycles, geopolitical
tensions, shrinking turnover of the Hong Kong stock market
and China property developers’ debt issues, are at play.
Hence, potential property buyers have diversified their
investments, which has inevitably impacted demand for
residential units.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Based in Hong Kong, the Group principally engages in
property investment, property development and hospitality
businesses with its major investment property portfolio
located in the Greater China and the United Kingdom.

Rental Income

The Group’s investment properties portfolio primarily focuses
on commercial buildings and quality street-level retail spaces
in prominent locations, with an aggregate gross floor area
of over 2,600,000 square feet. In the past decade, the Group
has strived to further develop beyond its origins, notably
by expanding its coverage from Greater China to the United
Kingdom, enabling it to possess a geographically balanced
property portfolio. By doing so, the Group can diversify its
rental income streams and minimise impacts due to market
volatility.

Hong Kong

Hong Kong accounted for approximately 50% of the Group’s
total gross floor area of investment properties currently for
lease. As at 31 March 2024, the occupancy rate of the Group’s
investment properties in Hong Kong was over 90%.

The Group owns many premium offices, commercial and
industrial complexes which mainly include Emperor Group
Centre, China Huarong Tower and GF Tower in Wan
Chai; Emperor Commercial Centre in Central; Emperor
Hollywood Centre in Sheung Wan.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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GF Tower, a Grade-A office building at No. 81 Lockhart Road,
Wan Chai, with a gross floor area of approximately 126,600
square feet, was leased to a single tenant on an en bloc basis
during the Year. By undertaking a redevelopment programme,
the Group has maximised the rental income, presenting
significant value-creation opportunities to the Group.

k|

GF Tower
Y EZAE

The Group also generated rental income from numerous
retail spaces in popular residential and shopping districts.
Key investment properties include the pulse in Repulse Bay;
retail shops of Fairview Height at Mid-levels; retail shops
at Level 3, New Town Commercial Arcade in Tuen Mun;
Nos. 8, 20, 22-24 and 50-56 Russell Street in Causeway
Bay; Nos. 35-37 Haiphong Road and Nos. 25-29 Hankow
Road in Tsim Sha Tsui.

During the Year, the Group completed the disposal of
Fitfort Shopping Arcade in North Point, at a total
adjusted consideration of approximately HKS$1,944.2
million. The property was located beyond the traditional
tourists’ shopping areas, and is regarded as a non-core
investment property with limited chances of further
substantial value appreciation by transformation or
redevelopment exercises. The net proceeds of approximately
HKS$1,146.9 million helped strengthening the Group’s financial
position for future investment opportunities, and enhancing
its investment portfolio for higher returns.

BEAE MR EFRTESIRAN—ER
MM AEKE > Q12 EMEEL126,600F 75
R>BERFEFEELERAETFE—MER - K&
EZEBEREB  ARERAEZWA >
AEEBTHREANVEEKS -

REBTRSEMURIRONEEREY
ez TEFHELEHASKA  TERSE
YEBEMRZKENthe pulse ; i it ¥
WHNEEEFEFH, AR EMNMHTE
BMEETEFH NN BEENEEHS
20 + 22-24%50-56%F ; i1 it R 7V 1B 89 & By
B35-37% R E ] iB25-295F -

REAEE > AEEHE A EEMURIEA
NRBGBEYEHS SABBRERD
1,944,200,0007& 75 - M E U R ERiEEE
MeaZi > WEARFRZOREWE > BEK
KRNERTIEME—TABAENHKESR
PR o Fff 1S 7} TH % 88 491,146,900,0007% 7T 5 Bf
RN AE BB MFBRRT > UAFREROR
EREg TERB{CHREBEESUESESNE
| o
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Mainland China

Located in Chang’an Avenue East, Beijing, Emperor Group
Centre Beijing is a 28-storey (excluding three-storey
basement with parking facilities) Grade-A office tower and
premier shopping mall with premium cinema, encompassing
a gross floor area of approximately 1,062,000 square feet.
It becomes an important part of Yong’anli CBD and marked
a major milestone for the Group in developing upscale
commercial projects in Mainland China. It has therefore
attracted reputable office tenants, multiple international
superior jewellery, watch, and high-quality lifestyle product
brands, as well as special trendy food and beverage
tenants from different countries. Emperor Group Centre
Beijing gives full play to advanced structural systems,
intelligent technology, and energy saving technology to
create a new commercial image with a balance between
environment and urban economic development. During the
Year, Emperor Group Centre Beijing was awarded LEED
Platinum certification v4.1 Operations and Maintenance
(Existing Buildings) standards by the U.S. Green Building
Council, which is a significant endorsement of the Group’s
commitment to implementing green building practices
in property development, and commends the Group’s
outstanding performance in property operations and
maintenance.

Macau

With a gross floor area of approximately 29,600 square feet,
Emperor Nam Van Centre is a multi-storey premium retail
complex located at the centre of Macau Peninsula. It has
become a prime shopping location with a blend of shopping
and lifestyle offerings, featuring a fitness centre, sportswear,
cosmetic and jewellery stores.

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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London

The Group owns a 7-storey (including basement) retail
and office building at Nos. 181-183, a 9-storey retail
and office building at Nos. 25-27 as well as Ampersand
Building at Nos. 111-125 on Oxford Street, London.
Ampersand Building is an 8-storey (including basement)
composite building comprising retail spaces, office premises
and apartments under lease with a gross floor area of
approximately 113,000 square feet (for retail and office
portions only). Located in the prime retail and vibrant SOHO
office area of London’s West End, it is also in close proximity
to the Tottenham Court Road Crossrail development,
thereby enjoying significant pedestrian traffic and excellent
accessibility.

Property Sales

The Group pursues a strategy of providing quality residential
properties including luxury composite buildings in popular
urban areas, and low-rise detached houses in unique spots,
with convenient access to transportation networks. A steady
development pipeline has been established, which will
provide medium-term contributions to the sale of residential
units, for earnings visibility.

Projects completed and launched for sale

Located at No. 8 Mosque Street, Mid-Levels, Central 8 is a
29-storey (including lower ground floor) boutique residential
tower, offering 99 units with studio to 2-bedroom layouts.
Adjacent to SOHO area and Lan Kwai Fong, it is in close
proximity to the Central-Mid-Levels Escalator, with convenient
access to the central business district. As at 31 March 2024, 67
units were sold and 7 units were contracted. Subsequent to
the Year, an additional of 10 units have been contracted.

|

L4
NEBMBEEMUNR M BFEEHI81-1835 —
BESTEEMBEINSZERBAKRE
2527 M — BB BB N EE R A K
18 W K111-125%F &9 Ampersand X & -
Ampersand;('fé"?%—filz%‘m'wﬁ(E‘Eiﬂlf)ﬁ
ETERH PAVERBEERABNGES
Kig o ﬁ'*%ﬁﬁf?’]llB,OOOq:?‘iﬂR(E ME
ERBABOIMS) IR GRABREEST
ERAFHSAMAZTHER » ZWETRE T
REMBiRREESREREER » AKN
0 > [OiE )\ E

MEHE
FEBBRTFT-EMRKE > EFXREHBEMNS
ERESREFEAEURETE RGN MEIR
HEBBILIFESEETEME  9ZAT
BANENRERAE AEEEREREN
EEZEREBER  PHMEAEAEEEM
HEWRERM  EMESHBFES -

EXIEHENEEH

URF LEEBEHSE ZFUH M S1ES29
B(EFEMTERENBEmEETKE  ZH9
ERMAENEBERNEML - ZEBRA
BREREED  BBPRREFLBIHHKF
BB AEREPOLOEER - 102024538

31 6T ENEE H RTEE M BT ILHE
EEN - RAEFER > BINEEMETIL
HERH -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Seaside Castle is a prime residential project located at No.
9 Ching Lai Road, Tai Lam, Tuen Mun which comprises 8
luxurious detached houses with sea views, encompassing a
project saleable area of approximately 32,000 square feet.
With close proximity to new transportation infrastructure
such as Hong Kong-Shenzhen Western Corridor and the Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macau Bridge, the project has convenient access
to the cities in the Greater Bay Area. It is also close to the
prestigious Harrow International School. As at 31 March 2024,
3 houses were sold.

BEHUREMABERERIZEESEE
HH HEESEBIBRREXRE > EHE
B A EEA32,000F 5 R o %18 B Bt #E R B
FHEBEERBRBEABSEMIBEERRE
FERFTAREENHT ZEBITRMES
BHRERRER - 102024538318 > 31
FEBEEH -

Seaside Castle

BE i
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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No. 15 Shouson, located in Southern District, Hong Kong
Island, is a signature luxury residential project boasting a
project saleable area of approximately 97,100 square feet. In
proximity to Aberdeen Tunnel and a network of prestigious
schools, the site has been developed into 15 low-density
luxury villas, complemented by comprehensive auxiliary
facilities. The Group owns a 50% stake in this project. As at 31
March 2024, 2 houses were sold and 1 house was contracted.
Subsequent to the Year, an additional of 1 house has been
contracted.

MR ABERENSEWISH A REUERE
HE > HEEERAEEAI,100F 5 R  Z
IR EBFREUAKRIREL  BER
RALERZEEREFR  BATERER
o REEBERZEBS0%KRM o 1220244
3A3IA 2MEFEEEHRIEFEBEIIL
HESGHN NREFEE®R > RINEFEES]

UHERKN

No. 15 Shouson
FEUI15%

12 Emperor International Holdings Limited 5% 2 B
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Other projects under development

SouthSky is a 23-storey residential and retail building,
offering 110 units with a project saleable area of
approximately 38,800 square feet. Located in the Aberdeen
town centre, it is conveniently accessed by a variety of public
transport and is within the one-hour living circle of the
Greater Bay Area covering Guangdong-Hong Kong and Macau.
It has been launched to the market by means of pre-sale since
October 2023 with an overwhelming market response. As at
31 March 2024, 70 units were contracted with relevant sales
contact sum of over HK$440.0 million. Subsequent to the Year,
an additional of 9 units have been contracted. The project is
scheduled for completion in 2025.

No. 1 Wang Tak Street, Happy Valley, a site previously
occupied by Emperor (Happy Valley) Hotel, will be
redeveloped into a 27-storey residential tower with a
project saleable area of approximately 47,400 square feet.
Happy Valley is a traditional luxury residential location on
Hong Kong Island, with easy access to major shopping and
business districts such as Causeway Bay and Wan Chai, and
in close proximity to major facilities such as the Hong Kong
Jockey Club, Hong Kong Sanatorium & Hospital and Hong
Kong Stadium. Foundation works have been completed and
superstructure works are in progress. The project is scheduled
for pre-sale in 2024 and the entire redevelopment is expected
to be completed in 2025 or after.

The existing buildings at Nos. 24-30 Bonham Road,
Mid-levels, have been demolished and will be redeveloped
into a 27-storey residential complex with a project
saleable area of approximately 91,100 square feet. It is just
5-minute walk away from the Sai Ying Pun MTR station. The
redevelopment is scheduled for completion in 2025 or after.

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Hotel and Hotel Related Operations

As at 31 March 2024, Emperor Entertainment Hotel Limited
(“Emperor E Hotel”; Hong Kong stock code: 296), a subsidiary
of the Group engaging in the provision of hospitality and
entertainment services, covered a total of six hotels and
serviced apartments in Hong Kong and Macau, as follows:

- The Emperor Hotel and three blocks of The Unit
Serviced Apartments — namely The Unit Morrison
Hill, The Unit Happy Valley and The Unit Davis — in
Hong Kong;

- Grand Emperor Hotel and Inn Hotel in Macau.

T B TS B B
12024438310 > &£ Bt FIRHEE R
MERBZMBATDRLREEEFRA
=) (T35 2 48 5 15 5 & B R A7 K 37 296) it
EBEREMIGHLEE FHARERESRRS
RAE:

- R EBNBEBEBE R =&
The Unit jg # it 22 & — B The Unit
Morrison Hill ~ The Unit Happy
Valley 5. The Unit Davis ;

- URRPINES B HIE T &EHHE -

The Unit Davis

The hospitality and entertainment services income from
the above-mentioned hotels and serviced apartments was
consolidated into the Group during the Year.
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OUTLOOK

Subsequent to the Year, especially after removal of property
cooling measures and relaxation of mortgage rules, the
momentum of the local property market has been picking
up and property developers have accelerated the launch of
new residential units. The New Capital Investment Entrant
Scheme as well as various talent schemes introduced by the
local government have attracted a huge number of applicants,
covering talents and their families from Mainland China and
overseas, resulting in a rise in local housing demand. With
a steady interest rate in the near term, the Group remains
cautiously optimistic regarding the outlook for the residential
property market.

Supported by the government’s initiatives and promotional
efforts, various international activities and mega events
will be rolled out for enhancing Hong Kong’s offerings and
attractions, which can strengthen Hong Kong’s position as an
international tourist destination. The arrivals of talents from
various talent schemes and their families will become a new
source of spending power in the local market, despite Hong
Kong residents more frequently travelling to other parts of
the Greater Bay Area during weekends. Particularly in light
of the expanding middle class and further expansion of the
Individual Visit Scheme, the Group believes that Mainland
China’s outbound tourism will continue growing, and remains
positive regarding the market outlook for retail leasing and
hospitality services.

Looking ahead, in view of this ever-changing operating
environment, the Group will continue promptly adjusting
its strategies in response to changes in the market, and will
maintain a balanced property portfolio to diversify business
risks and achieve steady development.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s net asset value and net
asset value per share amounted to HK$21,607.9 million (2023:
HKS$23,887.2 million) and HKS5.9 (2023: HKS6.5) per share,
respectively.

The Group had cash, bank balances and bank deposits
amounted to HK$1,494.3 million (2023: HK$2,367.9 million)
as at 31 March 2024. The total external borrowings (excluding
payables) was approximately HK$20,213.3 million (2023:
HKS$22,444.0 million), and the Group’s net gearing ratio
(measured by net debts as a percentage to its total asset
value) was 40.2% (2023: 39.3%).

To finance its operations, the Group utilises cash flow
generated from business operations and maintains multiple
channels of funding sources including bank borrowings
and bond issuances. As at 31 March 2024, the outstanding
principal of the medium-term notes issued by the Group
was HK$379.8 million (2023: HKS1,247.3 million), which were
denominated in Hong Kong dollar and United States dollar at
fixed rates ranging from 4.4% to 4.9% per annum.

The Group’s bank balances and cash were denominated in
Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi (“RMB”), Macau Pataca and
Sterling Pound (“Pound”). A small portion of the Group’s bank
borrowings were denominated in RMB and Pound, the Group’s
foreign exchange risk caused by markets fluctuations in RMB
and Pound was insignificant. The Group closely monitors its
overall foreign exchange exposure and will adopt appropriate
measures to mitigate the currency risks, if necessary.

Assets Pledged

As at 31 March 2024, assets with carrying value of HK$34,549.9
million (2023: HK$37,056.8 million) were pledged by the
Group as security for banking facilities.
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EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Formation of the Fund

Subsequent to the Year, the Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiary, acting as general partner, has entered into an
agreement with limited partner(s) to form a property asset
investment fund (“Fund”), which covers the Group’s certain
investment properties. The formation of the Fund will help
the Group to explore new financing channels for its ongoing
business development, enabling the Group to capitalise on its
rental income while unlocking its value in the new financing
channel. The funding from limited partners allowed the Group
to obtain immediate cash and enhanced the cash flow, thus
further strengthening the Group’s financial position.

The property interests held by the investment portfolio
company(ies) will become entirely the property interests of
the general partner, and will be consolidated into the financial
statements of the Company and remain as the Group’s assets.
Hence, the rental income to be received by the Fund (via the
investment portfolio company(ies)) will also be consolidated
into the Company’s financial statements.

Disposal of a Property

Subsequent to the Year, the Group disposed of two units in an
industrial building located at Chai Wan at a consideration of
HKS$100.0 million. The net proceeds of approximately HKS$55.0
million will enhance the Group’s financial position and
increase its general working capital.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The total staff cost including Directors’ emoluments, was
HKS471.7 million (2023: HKS434.4 million) during the Year.
The number of staff was 952 (2023: 850) as at 31 March 2024.
Each employee’s remuneration was determined in accordance
with the individual’s responsibility, competence and skills,
experience and performance, as well as market pay levels.
Staff benefits include medical and life insurance, retirement
benefits and other competitive fringe benefits.

To provide incentive or reward to the staff, the Company has
adopted a share option scheme, particulars of which is set out
in the section headed “Share Option Schemes” in notes to the
consolidated financial statements of the Company’s annual
report for the Year.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management
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Non-executive Director and Chairperson
LUK SIU MAN, SEMON, aged 68, a Non-executive Director
of the Company and the Chairperson of the Board. She
joined the Company in June 1999 and provides leadership
for the Board. Ms. Luk is also a non-executive director and
the chairperson of Emperor E Hotel. She is the mother of
Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander, an Executive Director
and the Vice Chairman of the Board. Ms. Luk worked in the
banking industry for almost 10 years. She graduated from The
University of Toronto with a Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce.
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Executive Director and Vice Chairman

YEUNG CHING LOONG, ALEXANDER, aged 38, joined the
Group in 2009 and was appointed as Executive Director of
the Company and Vice Chairman of the Board in May 2018
and May 2022 respectively. He is also a member of the
Executive Committee and the Nomination Committee as
well as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr.
Yeung has been involved in the management of the overall
business of the Group. He is tasked to sharpen the Group’s
vision with an open approach and guide the Group’s major
long-term strategic development so as to achieve synergies
among its businesses. Further, with his young and dynamic
perspectives, Mr. Yeung has played an active role in promoting
shared corporate values within the Group, thereby bringing
together an elite team to the new heights. In the pursuit
of innovation while maintaining the Group’s competitive
edge, he has strengthened the Group’s core businesses
and management proposition and strives to explore and
cater to the needs of younger customers, and develop new
and emerging businesses. He is currently a member of the
14th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”) and a member of the
14th Beijing Municipal Committee of the CPPCC. Mr. Yeung
holds numerous voluntary public service positions, with
a particular focus on youth development. He serves as a
committee member of All-China Youth Federation and vice
chairman of Beijing Youth Federation. Additionally, he is a
member of Culture Commission, a member of Hong Kong
Arts Development Council and the Regional Commander
(Kowloon) of Civil Aid Service of Hong Kong. Mr. Yeung is also
a board member of Emperor Foundation, where he leads
Emperor Group in promoting charitable activities. Mr. Yeung is
also an executive director of Emperor Culture Group Limited
(Stock Code: 491) (“Emperor Culture”) and the executive
director and chairman of Ulferts International Limited (Stock
Code: 1711) (“Ulferts”), (both being listed members of
Emperor Group). He is the son of Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon, a
Non-executive Director and the Chairperson of the Company.
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Executive Directors and Managing

Directors

WONG CHI FAI, aged 68, the Managing Director of the
Company. He joined the Company in 1991 and has been
responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, business
growth and development and overseeing the financial
management of the Group. Mr. Wong is the Chairman of the
Executive Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. He has over 30 years of finance
and management experience in different businesses ranging
from property investment and development, hotel and
hospitality, retailing of watch and jewellery, financial and
securities services, wholesaling and retailing of furniture,
cinema development and operation to entertainment
production and investment, artiste management as well
as media and publication. Mr. Wong is currently a director
of Emperor E Hotel, Emperor Watch & Jewellery Limited
(Stock Code: 887) (“Emperor W&J”), Emperor Capital Group
Limited (Stock Code: 717) (“Emperor Capital Group”),
Emperor Culture, Ulferts and New Media Lab Limited (Stock
Code: 1284) (“New Media Lab”), all being listed members of
Emperor Group. He is a Certified Public Accountant of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Remark:

With effective from 20 August 2024, Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander will
replace Mr. Wong Chi Fai as the Chairman of the Executive Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr.
Wong Chi Fai will also cease to be the Managing Director of the Company,
but will remain as an Executive Director and a member of the Executive
Committee.

FAN MAN SEUNG, VANESSA, aged 61, the Managing Director
of the Company. She joined the Company in 1990 and has
been responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, business
growth and development as well as overseeing different
functions within the Group. Ms. Fan is also the Chairperson of
the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of the
Executive Committee of the Company as well as a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company. She has over 35 years of
corporate management experience in diversified businesses
ranging from property investment and development, hotel
and hospitality, retailing of watch and jewellery, financial
and securities services, wholesaling and retailing of furniture,
cinema development and operation to entertainment
production and investment, artiste management, as well
as media and publication. Ms. Fan is currently a director
of Emperor E Hotel, Emperor W&J, Emperor Capital Group,
Emperor Culture, Ulferts and New Media Lab. She is a lawyer
by profession in Hong Kong and a qualified accountant, and
holds a Master’s Degree in Business Administration.
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Non-executive Director

CHEUNG PING KEUNG, aged 68, joined the Company
in 2005 and was re-designated from Executive Director
to Non-executive Director of the Company in September
2023. During the period from 1997 to 2005, Mr. Cheung was
an executive director of Henderson Investment Limited
(Stock Code: 97). He has over 40 years of experience in
professional general practice surveying as well as property
development and marketing in Hong Kong, Macau, Mainland
China and Canada. He graduated from University of London
with a Bachelor’s Degree (Hons) in Arts. He is a Chartered
Valuation Surveyor and a Fellow of both the Royal Institution
of Chartered Surveyors and the Hong Kong Institute of
Surveyors.

Independent Non-executive Directors
CHAN HON PIU, aged 64, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in August 2015. He
is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee as well
as a member of the Audit Committee and the Corporate
Governance Committee of the Company. Mr. Chan has been
admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong since 1991 and is now
a partner of a law firm in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan graduated
from The University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree in
Social Sciences. He also obtained the Certificate of Education
and a Master’s Degree in Laws from The University of Hong
Kong.

CHU KAR WING, aged 67, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in August 2021. He
is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee as well as
a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company. He was an independent
non-executive director of Emperor Capital Group from
May 2010 to February 2022. He has extensive experience
in the banking and finance sector for several well-known
corporations. Moreover, he is now the director of Jetour
Holding Limited and president of Partners Education
Foundation. Mr. Chu holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Social
Sciences majoring in Economics.
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POON YAN WAI, aged 54, was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company in August 2022. He is
the Chairman of the Audit Committee as well as a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee of the Company. He is now the financial controller,
company secretary and an authorized representative
of a Hong Kong listed company and an independent
non-executive director of Dragon Mining Limited (Stock Code:
1712). Mr. Poon was an independent non-executive director of
Emperor Capital Group from January 2014 to February 2023.
He has over 20 years of experience in auditing and accounting
field. Mr. Poon holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accountancy and
a Master’s Degree in Corporate Finance from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a fellow member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Directors’ Report
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The Directors present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 48 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on pages 73 and 74 of this annual report. The dividends paid
during the Year and proposed to be paid for the Year are set
out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

An interim dividend of HKS$0.003 per share for the Year
(2022/2023: HKS0.005 per share), amounting to approximately
HKS$11.0 million (2022/2023: HKS$18.4 million), was paid to the
shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) during the
Year.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HKS0.003 per share for the Year (2023: HK$0.003 per share),
amounting to approximately HK$11.0 million (2023: HKS11.0
million) to Shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members on 28 August 2024 (Wednesday) subject to the
approval of the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to be held on 20 August 2024 (Tuesday)
(“2024 AGM”).

Business Review and Performance

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion and
analysis of the Group’s performance during the Year,
important events occurred after the reporting period and
an analysis of the likely future development of the Group’s
business are set out in the Management Discussion and
Analysis from pages 6 to 17 of this annual report. Description
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
are set out in the Corporate Governance Report from pages
38 to 64 of this annual report and notes 39 and 40 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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In addition, an analysis of the Group’s performance during the
Year using financial key performance indicators is provided
in the Five-year Financial Summary on page 219. Discussion
on the Group’s environmental policies and performance,
key relationships with the Group’s key stakeholders as well
as compliance with relevant laws and regulations which
have significant impact on the Company are set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023/2024 of
the Company.

Five-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 219 of
this annual report.

Investment Properties

During the Year, the Group acquired investment properties at
a cost of approximately HK$4,678,000 and incurred costs of
approximately HKS$460,000 on investment properties under
development.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group revalued all of its investment
properties on an open market value basis. The decrease in fair
value amounting to approximately HK$1,318,322,000 has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Details of changes in the investment properties of the
Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

A summary of major properties of the Group as at 31 March
2024 is set out on pages 220 to 228 of this annual report.

Property, Plant and Equipment
During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and
equipment at a cost of approximately HK$17,207,000.

Details of changes in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Share Capital
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the Year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.
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Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

Reserves
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Year are set out on pages 77 and 78 of this annual report.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to Shareholders, calculated in accordance
with the provisions of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
amounting to HKS$4,222,448,000 (2023: HKS4,245,808,000),
of which HKS$11,033,000 has been proposed as a final
dividend for the Year. In addition, the Company’s share
premium account in the amount of HK$4,563,248,000 may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

Directors
The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual
report were:

Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon (Chairperson)

Mr. Cheung Ping Keung (re-designated from Executive Director
to Non-executive Director with effect from 1 September 2023)

Executive Directors:

Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Wong Chi Fai (Managing Director)

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa (Managing Director)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Hon Piu
Mr. Chu Kar Wing
Mr. Poon Yan Wai

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management
as at the date of this annual report are set out from pages 18
to 22 of this annual report. Details of Directors’ remuneration
are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

In accordance with Bye-laws 84(1) and 84(2) of the Company’s
Bye-laws, Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander (“Mr. Alex
Yeung”), Mr. Wong Chi Fai (“Mr. Bryan Wong”) and Mr. Chan
Hon Piu (“Mr. Chan”) shall retire by rotation at the 2024
AGM. Mr. Alex Yeung and Mr. Bryan Wong, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election while Mr. Chan who served as
independent non-executive director of the Company (“INED”)
for almost 9 years, being eligible but does not offer himself for
re-election.
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None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at
the 2024 AGM has an unexpired service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

Management Contracts

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s business were entered into or
existed during the Year.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, the
Company has in force the permitted indemnity provisions
which are provided for in the Company’s Bye-laws and in the
directors and officers liability insurance maintained for the
Group in respect of potential liability and costs associated
with legal proceedings that may be brought against the
Directors and the directors of the Group respectively.

Emolument Policy

The emoluments of the Directors shall be decided by the
Board as recommended by the Remuneration Committee
having regard to a written remuneration policy (which ensures
a clear link to business strategy and a close alignment
with the Shareholders’ interest and current market best
practice). Remuneration should be paid with reference to
the Board’s corporate goals and objectives, the salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the executive and non-executive Directors,
internal equity of employment conditions across the Group
and applicability of performance-based remuneration. The
Directors’ fees are paid in line with market practice. No
individual should determine his or her own remuneration.

Employees’ remuneration was determined in accordance with
individual’s responsibility, competence and skills, experience
and performance as well as market pay level. Remuneration
package includes, as the case may be, basic salaries, Directors’
fees, housing allowances, contribution to pension schemes,
discretionary bonus relating to the financial performance of
the Group and individual performance, ad-hoc rewards, share
options and other competitive fringe benefits such as medical
and life insurances. Details of the emoluments of the Directors
and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out
in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ and Chief Executives’ EREREETHABZES

Interests in Securities fE 25

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of #2024F3831H ' EERE A TDESTH
the Directors and chief executives of the Company (“Chief AB(RBITBRAEN)REARXET REBE E
Executives”) in the shares, underlying shares and debentures B(EZRFHFKRBPEKRGA(E S RBPERK
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the 1) EXVEB) Z IR 17 ~ HEARKR D R E#E b
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance A EAATIREEH RIS KM FE352E %
(“SFO”)) as recorded in the register maintained by the HBFZEGZMAERZETERXE  ABREX
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise ATRMZEZTETESIZHNRETH
notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong ((HEBKZFHTINEASTHNEEALRTR
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model ERMBMAEXSZMAERADT (HIF) 2#ER
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors adopted by the F¥E®WTF:

Company (“EIHL Securities Code”) were as follows:

(a) Long position interests in the Company (QQRETATZIF R
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company ERFFREEOIEBTZ ZBR
(“Shares”) (TR 1%1)
Number Approximate %
of Shares of issued
Capacity/Nature of interested voting Shares

Name of Directors interests BFEESmZz HWERTHIRERE
EEnR 1S3V 7331 K& B2 15 B 89 %
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon Interest of spouse 2,747,611,223 74.71
(“Ms. Semon Luk”) fic 18 7 = (Note)
EhEZLE(ELZT)) (Kt 3E)
Mr. Alex Yeung Eligible beneficiary of a 2,747,611,223 74.71
s private discretionary trust (Note)
MARNBEEZEE (Kt 3%)
Z@mA
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa Beneficial owner 10,500,000 0.29

BmEAA

(“Ms. Vanessa Fan”)

BRERE(EL L)

Note:

These Shares were held by Emperor International Group Holdings
Limited (“Emperor International Group Holdings”), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Albert Yeung Holdings Limited (“AY Holdings”). AY
Holdings was held by First Trust Services AG (“First Trust Services”)
in trust for a private discretionary trust set up by Dr. Yeung Sau
Shing, Albert (“Dr. Yeung”), as founder of the private discretionary
trust, had deemed interests in the said Shares held by Emperor
International Group Holdings. By virtue of being the spouse of Dr.
Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk had deemed interests in the same Shares
whereas Mr. Alex Yeung also had deemed interests in the same
Shares by virtue of being one of the eligible beneficiaries of such
private discretionary trust.

EH

ZERMTHBHAEEEEERZERERAT(HE
BREEERIFE  EABSREXZEZRSE
RARI(ESHREEXEERIZEZERBAGE °
125 i E 2 AR B First Trust Services AG (TFirst
Trust Services))# A » MiFirst Trust Services%
BERBET(BREBLTIRIZAARNBEELEZ
SHEAGETEARANBELEZAIILA
WRAGBERAEERERZERMFA LREM®
2D o EBERERIABELZERB  WER
RAEEHBRMNWES  MERBAERZ
EMWANEEXEZ26ERSTTAZ— IR
WRAEESHEBRRMNEZ -
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(b) Long position interests in associated (b)MRELTHE EZE ZIFE RS
corporations of the Company
Ordinary shares ZiERg
Approximate %
Number of issued
of shares voting shares
Name of Name of associated  Capacity/ interested HERT
Directors corporations Nature of interests BFEERZ BRRE
EENR HEZERTE VD8 §:1:3-1 i & B B 15 8% &9 %
Ms. Semon Luk Emperor E Hotel Interest of spouse 851,353,645 71.63
EZ+ HEREHEE Fc B
Emperor W&J -Ditto- 4,298,630,000 63.41
HEEEKE -EE
Emperor Culture -Ditto- 2,371,313,094 73.80
HEXEEZR -BE L
Ulferts -Ditto- 600,000,000 75.00
ER 1t -B L
New Media Lab -Ditto- 315,000,000 52.50
MmELE -EE
Mr. Alex Yeung Emperor E Hotel Eligible beneficiary of a private 851,353,645 71.63
mRE HEREEE discretionary trust
MWARBEEIZEEBREA
Emperor W&J -Ditto- 4,298,630,000 63.41
HEBHREE -E L
Emperor Culture -Ditto- 2,371,313,094 73.80
HEXEEE -E L
Ulferts -Ditto- 600,000,000 75.00
B 1t -BEE
New Media Lab -Ditto- 315,000,000 52.50
MmELE -B L
Note: By az:
Emperor E Hotel, Emperor W&J, Emperor Culture, Ulferts and New HEWRBEE HEERKE HEXEEE -
Media Lab are companies with their shares listed on the Stock BREERMECEHSAEROREBXMLETZA
Exchange. These shares were ultimately owned by the respective B ZERMEBEMLANBEGER(rEBE
private discretionary trusts which were also founded by Dr. Yeung. TRINZ)REER - ENERLIABEL 2R
By virtue of being the spouse of Dr. Yeung, Ms. Semon Luk had WEWAAEEEBERMNEST  MENIEL
deemed interests in the same shares whereas Mr. Alex Yeung also LAZEMWANBEEXZEERZTTAZ—
had deemed interests in the same shares by virtue of being one of MR RRAEBHER RO ES -

the eligible beneficiaries of such private discretionary trusts.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the B& kX Fri 58 & 5b » 122024F3831H » ##
Directors nor Chief Executives had any interests or short BMEERXRESTHRAERAATDRETM
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of #EEZE(EERBHRBEBXRBIEXVE) 2~
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the {EfAi&% « HEARM R EBEEEZ P HEE T @E
meaning of Part XV of the SFO). MIEHE ©
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Share Options

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on
19 September 2023 (“Share Option Scheme”), details of
which are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements. No option was granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

The number of options available for grant under the scheme
mandate limit and the service provider sublimit under the
Share Option Scheme were 367,754,566 and 183,877,283
respectively at the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme and the end of the Year.

Equity-linked Agreements

Other than the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company during the Year
or subsisted at the end of the Year.

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or

Debentures

Other than the Share Option Scheme as stated above, at no
time during the Year was the Company, any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors or Chief Executives
or their spouses or children under 18 years of age to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

Other Persons’ Interests in Shares and
Underl}:mg Shares

-
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So far as is known to any Director or Chief Executives, as at 31 12024538310 MEAEE I RS TH
March 2024, the following persons or corporations (otherthan AEFH BRESHIHZETEHAEN > T
the Directors or Chief Executives) who had, or were deemed AT SHZBR RS KABRIRMD P ES W
or taken to have interests and short positions in the Shares &AW EHEELCBENKRBESABEE
or underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to &l 553361% B 77 B Z & 5T Mt (T 25 & 58 )
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO (“DI Register”) were as ZHHZmKEXBWT:
follows:
Long position in the Shares RRHZE¥E
Number of Shares Approximate % of
interested issued VOtirEl,F Shares
Name of Shareholders Ca au;é/Nature of interests BFEiESZ HERTHE
BRERBE RPBE RBREERMGHELS%
AY Holdings Interest in a controlled corporation 2,747,611,223 T74.71
BEREEER REESEEPRZ R
First Trust Services Trustee of a private discretionary trust 2,747,611,223 74.71
FMARBELEZZFEA
Dr. Yeung Founder of a private discretionary trust 2,747,611,223 74.71
miEL MABBEEFEZBIILA
Note: These Shares were the same Shares of which Ms. Semon Luk ffa. ZERNIEXEERERESITHRABZE

and Mr. Alex Yeung had deemed interests as those set out under
Section (a) of “Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests in
Securities” above.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors
or Chief Executives were not aware of any other person or
corporation (other than the Directors and Chief Executives)
who had, or were deemed or taken to have, any interests
or short positions in any Shares or underlying Shares as
recorded in the DI Register.

Directors’ Interests in Competing
Business

The Group is engaged principally in property investments,
property development and hospitality in Greater China and
overseas. As at 31 March 2024, the following Directors were
considered to have interests in other activities that compete
or were likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the said
core business of the Group, all within meaning of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”):

Ms. Semon Luk, being the spouse of Dr. Yeung (founder
of a private discretionary trust), was deemed to be
interested in various companies under such trust
which were also engaging in property investment and
development. As Ms. Semon Luk is not involved in the
Company’s day-to-day operations and management, the
Group is capable on its business independently of and
at arm’s length from such disclosed deemed competing
business;

ii. Mr. Alex Yeung, being one of the eligible beneficiaries
of the aforesaid trust, was deemed to be interested in
various companies under such trust which were also
engaged in property investment and development.
He also had shareholding and directorship interests
in private companies engaged in property investment.
Given that (a) he cannot control the boards of the
Company and the companies under such trust; and (b)
size and dominance of the portfolio of the Group, the
Directors considered the Group’s interests are adequately
safeguarded; and

iii. Mr. Bryan Wong and his associates and Ms. Vanessa Fan
had shareholding and directorship interests in private
companies engaged in property investment business. In
light of the size and dominance of the portfolio of the
Group, such disclosed deemed competing business is
considered immaterial.
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Directors’ Material Interests in
Transactions, Arrangements or
Contracts and Connected Transactions

During the Year, the Group had the following connected
transactions with connected persons (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company and certain Directors had material
interests, directly or indirectly, in certain transactions:

A. Continuing Connected Transactions
— Master Agreement on purchase of
products and consultancy services
(“Master Furniture Agreement”)

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Nature:

Connected
relationship
and Directors’
interest:

Announcement:

Aggregate
amounts:

3 March 2023

(1) The Company

(2)  Ulferts

From 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2026

Ulferts and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as “Ulferts Group”) shall (i) sell furniture and
accessories products; (ii) sell furniture coupons;
and (iii) provide furniture procurement consultancy
services and such other types of ancillary services to
members of the Group for projects and investments
or for own consumption in the ordinary course of
business of the Group.

The Company and Ulferts were indirectly controlled
by the respective private discretionary trusts which
were both founded by Dr. Yeung. As such, under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, Ulferts was a
deemed connected person of the Company. Ms.
Semon Luk and Mr. Alex Yeung had deemed interest
in the transactions by virtue of being respectively an
associate of the eligible beneficiaries and an eligible
beneficiary of the relevant private discretionary
trust controlling Ulferts.

3 March 2023

During the Year, the amounts of HK$169,000 was
paid to Ulferts Group for the purchase of furniture
and obtaining consultancy services under the
Master Furniture Agreement.
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B. Continuing Connected Transactions —
2020 Master Leasing Agreements

Date:

Parties:

Term:

Nature:

3 December 2020
(1) Agreement 1: The Company and Emperor W&J

(2) Agreement 2: The Company and Emperor
Capital Group

(3) Agreement 3: The Company and Emperor
Culture

(4)  Agreement 4: The Company and Ulferts

(5) Agreement 5: Emperor E Hotel and Emperor
WeJ

(6) Agreement 6: The Company and (1) New Media
Group Investment Limited (struck off on 1 July
2022); (2) Albert Yeung Entertainment Holdings
Limited; (3) Albert Yeung Financial Holdings
Limited; (4) Albert Yeung Investments Holdings
Limited; and (5) Albert Yeung Management
Company Limited (collectively referred to as
the “Non-Listed Group”)

(the above counter-parties are collectively
as “members of Emperor Group” and Agreement 1 to
Agreement 6 are collectively as “2020 MLAs”)

From 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024

Each of 2020 MLAs sets out the framework of the
terms governing all existing and future tenancy/
licensing transaction(s) (“Tenancy Transactions”)
regarding leasing of certain office properties or
other properties (including retail shop, warehouses,
carpark spaces, signage or signboard spaces) to the
members of Emperor Group with aggregate tenancy
annual caps being set for each of the financial years
ended 31 March 2022, 2023 and 2024 (“Aggregate
Tenancy Annual Caps”).

Pursuant to the 2020 MLAs, relevant members of
the Group and any member(s) of Emperor Group
(as the case may be) may from time to time enter
into any definitive leasing agreements in relation
to any Tenancy Transactions (“Definitive Leasing
Agreement(s)”). The terms of each of Definitive
Leasing Agreements shall be on normal commercial
terms or on terms which are no less favorable
available to the Group than terms offered by
independent third parties. The terms and rental
shall be subject to arm’s length negotiation and
be determined based on the condition of the
properties and with reference to the then prevailing
market rents on property(ies) comparable in
location, area and permitted use.
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Connected The Company and the members of Emperor MEMBRR AAAKRESEEMEHMANE
relationship ~ Group were all indirectly controlled by private BEFz fGRBEITAEIA)BEE-
and Directors’ discretionary trusts which were also founded i At RELHRAEIAE RE
interest: by Dr. Yeung. As such, under Chapter 14A of the ERRHERGATRBAZHEA
Listing Rules, each of the members of the Emperor ToBUTRBREDR AT E
Group was a deemed connected person of the EEEMBZZEMANBEERS
Company. Ms. Semon Luk and Mr. Alex Yeung had ERZHEAZHBRAR—MUEER
deemed interest in the transactions by virtue of RaN HEERAARRZPE

being respectively an associate of the eligible B o

beneficiaries and an eligible beneficiary of the
private discretionary trusts controlling the members
of Emperor Group.

Announcement: 3 December 2020 {F 2020F1283H
Circular: 24 December 2020 B 2020%12824H
Independent 2 February 2021 B\iRE  2021F282H
Shareholders’ s
approval:
Aggregate During the Year, the aggregate amounts of the am: RAFEE > REEEEZHEMME
amounts: rental income of the Tenancy Transactions from the KEZEERAHEERALENT:
relevant members of the Emperor Group were as
follows:
HK$000
Members of Emperor Group HEEEME TET
Emperor W&J HERKHKE 60,552
Emperor Capital Group HEBRER 9,344
Emperor Culture HENEER 12,004
Ulferts Bt 7,153
Non-Listed Group FLEHER 22,847
Remark: With the expiration of the 2020 MLAs, the Company s HR200FRHEERZERR > £ A
entered into new master leasing agreements with AR0BEIAVBHEEEERM
the relevant members of the Emperor Group on 23 MRETUMEHERE E&HF
March 2023. Details of the renewal are set out in the BE KA ’L‘\ 8 B B 42023%F7H14
announcement of the Company dated 14 July 2023. H Z’R
C. Continuing Connected Transactions — C. KEMERS —AMEERMN
Service Agreement (“Service Agreement”) HEWRSHE 2 IRF (R
in relation to the operation of Grand HEinE)
Emperor Hotel
Date: 30 December 2022 and 26 April 2023 (for an B 2022128308 K&2023F48268 (f8
addendum) TR
Parties and (1) Tin Hou Limited (“Tin Hou”), an indirect 8FR (1) XEERLABT(XZ) AKX
connected wholly-owned subsidiary of Emperor E BRERMG: NEAZEEEZENBEATE
relationship: Hotel which is an indirect non wholly-owned EREEEZHREZENBEA
subsidiary of the Company g e
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EREERE
(2) SJM Resorts, S.A. (“SUM”), a company 2) BE&a Ffﬁxﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ
incorporated in Macau, which was principally ( RIR) RRMEMRMRILZ
engaged in gaming business in Macau RE TERRARZELE
and was one of the concessionaires/sub- ?%  AA RN RFEE RIS
concessionaires licensed to carry on casino FEBZEBARRTRA
operations in Macau. SJM had 19.99% equity MWABlz— RRBEEHER
interest in Luck United Holdings Limited, SEEZHEFZ2ENERT
an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary Luck United Holdings Limited
of Emperor E Hotel, and was a connected 19.99% 2 R A#E G AEAT
person of the Company by virtue of being a MEBARZEERR AKX
substantial shareholder of a subsidiary of the NEZHENL -
Company.
Term: From 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025 HAPR: H2023F1A1H £2025%12831H
Nature: The provision of services including management i3 ARERREHRFESREE
services and promotion services by Tin Hou to EREHARB(EREERTR
SJM in relation to the operation of the Grand ERRE) MARKEESRD R
Emperor Hotel whereas Tin Hou shall be entitled to ﬁ%ﬁkm?ﬁ!‘ﬁ%ﬁ@’éﬁ BRI
percentage sharing of the gross gaming revenue in ZBEBRWE TAREEERE
respect of the monthly operating performance of BZz-IBEERS
the gaming area of the Grand Emperor Hotel and
bear all necessary operational expenses in relation
to the operation of the gaming area.
Announcements: 30 December 2022, 21 February 2023 and 25 N 20225 12H30H ~ 2023F2H21H
January 2024 &2024%1825RH
Receipt: During the Year, the Group’s receipt amount under Wit REFE FEERBBHHEET
the Service Agreement was HK$459,150,000. Z W& #459,150,0007 7T ©
Remark: As supplemented by the addendum, several clauses k. KRRBRET RBEHMIENET
of the Service Agreement were partially amended BEREDHET HERAREX
which did not vary materially from its original BEAMHA-
provisions.
D. Very Substantial Disposal and Connected D. JEEEAHERIARMAESS —

Transaction - Sale and Purchase
Agreement in relation to the disposal
of entire interest in Joybridge Services
Limited (“Joybridge Services”)

Date:

Parties:

3 July 2023
(1) Emperor Property Investment Limited (“EPIL”),
a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

Emperor Agency Limited (“Emperor Agency”),
a company indirectly controlled by a private
discretionary trust which was also set up by Dr.
Yeung

A B il & Joybridge Services
Limited (TJoybridge Services))

EMESNERES

B 2023%7H3H

8% (1) RENEREERAR(HS
MELE) AR 2EER
HHELT

2) ZREREBERAFA(EER
B) —MEmELTmizi
ARBREARRENZAT

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEEEREBBREAF
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Nature: EPIL entered into a sale and purchase agreement
with Emperor Agency, pursuant to which EPIL
conditionally agreed to sell and Emperor Agency
conditionally agreed to acquire (a) the entire equity
interest of Joybridge Services, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company which indirectly
holds a property, Fitfort Shopping Arcade, located
at No.560 King’s Road, Hong Kong and (b) the entire
amount of the loan due by Joybridge Services to
EPIL at a consideration of HK$1,944,215,000.

Connected The Company and Emperor Agency were indirectly
relationship  controlled by respective private discretionary trusts
and Directors’ which were both founded by Dr. Yeung. As such,
interest: under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, Emperor

Agency was a deemed connected person of the
Company. Ms. Semon Luk and Mr. Alex Yeung had
deemed interest in the transaction by virtue of being
respectively an associate of the eligible beneficiaries
and an eligible beneficiary of the relevant private
discretionary trust controlling Emperor Agency.

Announcement: 3 July 2023
Circular: 23 August 2023

Independent 19 September 2023
Shareholders’
approval:

Completion: 22 September 2023

Compliance with Disclosure Requirements
Save as “Rental income from related companies” (under
the 2020 MLAs) and “Purchase of furniture from a related
company” (under the Master Furniture Agreement) in the
amount of HK$111,900,000 and HK$169,000 respectively for
the Year as shown in note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements which constituted continuing connected
transactions (“CCTs”) of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules, all other transactions as shown in that note
are connected transactions exempted from announcement,
reporting, annual review, and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of the above non-exempt connected transactions.

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
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Independent Auditor’s Letter on
Non-exempt CCTs

The Company’s independent auditor was engaged to
report on the Group’s non-exempt CCTs in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” (“Auditor’s Letter”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The independent auditor issued an unqualified conclusion in
respect of the non-exempt CCTs of the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

Confirmation of Independent
Non-executive Directors on

Non-exempt CCTs

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs had
reviewed the non-exempt CCTs and the Auditor’s Letter and
confirmed that these transactions had been entered into by
the Group:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of its business of the
Group;

(2) on normal or better commercial terms (as the case may
be); and

(3) according to the respective agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed above, there was no transaction,
arrangement or contract which was significant in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director or his/her connected entity had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

Charitable Donations
During the Year, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately HK$1,990,000.

FRIERRFEMERS Z
35 37 4% 8% 6 K 1

AR BUZHMEEZRZREB G
B A G 0RM 2 &8 S 5 ER R ZE 3000
(B AE5T) B9TRE £ B %5 B8 KL & 5t 3 &/ B U 5b
BEBRER I 2R E R B BT405E (K
BN EB LT RAVFMAEKERER S
WRHBMRGE MAEEZFERETHERM
BERZEHBRE ((ZEBER M) -

B ZEENE %R E T RA B 14A.5610% > 5L
FEBZIFBRFERAERZRELERE

W e

FRERRFENERRZ
BIIERITER R

Rk EH AR B FE14A55E > WIFERNITES
EERFREFEREXS RZBMR MG
WHEDBZEXZHHNER:

(1) REEERER—REFBIEZRITIL;
2) B—RAEEFHXRMER@RBERME) &
Tk
DEBZEZEERZHERBERNZIF

RET MXZERBLRAFTEERLENS
RRZEREM -

(3)

BREXWBEEIN  REAFERHAETFERE
BB ARABDIEEAERAE - HEBA
AHEAMBEARDBMENETEREXHEITA
EEYHAEEREEZEIBERADRESR
EABGZEARS - BHFHEH -

ZEhAmM
YT I LT
1,990,000 7T °
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the Year, the aggregate amount of revenue attributable
to the Group’s five largest customers represented 42% of the
Group’s total revenue. The largest customer accounted for
26% to the Group’s total revenue.

During the Year, the aggregate amount of purchases and
services received attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers represented 25% of the Group’s total purchases and
services received. The largest supplier accounted for 5% to
the Group’s total purchases and services received.

None of the Directors, their close associates or Shareholders
(who, to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital), had a beneficial interest
in the share capital of any of the above major customers or
suppliers of the Group.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest
practicable date prior to the issue of the annual report, there
was sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s
issued Shares as required under the Listing Rules.

Independent Auditor

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire and a resolution
for their re-appointment as independent auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the 2024 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Luk Siu Man, Semon
Chairperson

Hong Kong, 24 June 2024
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The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance for the Company so as to ensure “Accountability,
Responsibility and Transparency” towards the Shareholders,
investors, employees as well as other stakeholders of the Company.

The Directors have adopted various policies to ensure
compliance with the code provisions of Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules so as to having effective application of the
principles of good corporate governance. During the Year, the
Company had fully complied with all code provisions of the
CG Code.

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company is committed to cultivating a corporate
culture, focusing on four pillars, namely customer centricity,
excellence in products and services, people first and
positivity, which is underpinned by its purpose and values
that enable employees at all levels of the Group to thrive
and meet their full potentials by acting in a lawful, ethical
and responsible manner that allows the Company to deliver
sustainable long term performance and operate in a way that
benefits society and the environment.

The Company’s purpose and values serve as a guide for
employees’ conduct and behaviours, ensuring that they
are integrated throughout the Company’s operational
practices, workplace policies and practices and stakeholder
relationships:

EFERNATRBAETSKFTZEEE
B UERARR - ARFKREE -EEU
REMBHEREEE - EERBEERE]
ZHE e

EFERMBPERE  UBRAFARETFTLETHRA
Mgk CIFM B X BB TFA(EEERTR)
ZTFABXUENERAREFEXEERAZR
Al - MAFERN > xAFEZEETEEE
ABTRIZPRETAME -

1 3 3016 K SR g

FABRUREREBERAERIBEEEX
B EEAUFEL - BEERRT - UASR
T BEBEELIOREN  RAOREEERR
EERUBBTZE  aFERKEEENT
ELANRDUEESE AR TDERRB
AFEER LUEERFHERIRIENA

FTABRNREREBEERFERAEENTAR
TRMES  BEREEBLHERSURALTL
BAMNEEER  TESFABRRERUKRE
MERFEP:
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Emperor International Holdings Limited EEEEREBBREAF
Annual Report 2023/2024 £




Corporate Governance Report

EEERES

The management is responsible for setting the tone and
shaping the corporate culture of the Company, as well
as defining the purpose, values and strategic direction of
the Group, which are under review by the Board. Taking
into account the corporate culture is reflected in various
contexts, such as workforce engagement, employee retention
and training, legal and regulatory compliance, staff safety,
wellbeing and support, the culture, purpose, values and
strategy of the Group are aligned with one another.

THE BOARD

The Company is headed by the Board which is responsible
for the leadership, control and promotion of success of the
Group in the interests of the Shareholders by directing and
supervising its affairs and by formulating strategic directions
and monitoring the financial and management performance
of the Group.

Board Composition and Diversity

The Board currently comprises eight Directors, with two
Non-executive Directors, three Executive Directors and three
INEDs. Mr. Cheung Ping Keung (“Mr. Donald Cheung”) was re-
designated from Executive Director to Non-executive Director
with effect from 1 September 2023. Names and biographical
details of the members of the Board are set out on pages 18
to 22 of this annual report under “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” section. All of them possess the
skills, experience and expertise either in the same industry or
relevant to the management of the business of the Group.

Ms. Semon Luk is the mother of Mr. Alex Yeung. Save as
disclosed above, there are no other relationship (including
financial, business, family or other materials/relevant
relations) among Directors.

To ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board, the following mechanisms were established:

e sufficient number of INEDs in a total of three,
representing more than one-third of the Board;

* no INED has served the Board for more than 9 years;

e separation of the role of the Chairperson and the chief
executive ensures that there is a balance of power and
authority; and

e annual meeting between the Chairperson and all INEDs
without presence of other Directors provides an effective
platform for the Chairperson to listen to independent
views on various issues concerning the Group.

During the Year, the Board reviewed the implementation of
these mechanisms and determined that they remain effective.
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The Company also adopted the Board Diversity Policy setting
out the approach to achieve a diverse Board with a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives to the business
nature of the Company. In designing the Board’s composition,
Board diversity has been considered from a wide range of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors
that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from
time to time. The merits and contribution that will bring to
the Board for any Director proposed for re-election or any
candidate nominated to be Director will also be assessed,
taking into account the Company’s corporate strategy and the
mix of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in
the future.

The current Board composition reflects a diverse mix of
educational background, professional knowledge, industry
experience and length of service. The diversity mix of the
Board as at 31 March 2024 is summarized as follows:

(i) Board Composition, Gender Distribution, Age
Distribution and Length of Service

Number of Directors

EEAY
8
7
6
Male
5 Y
NED
4 FHTES
3
2
ED
HITES famEle
! foh
0
Designation Gender
B 187 gl

KRBT RMNEFEGLZEHE > EFHT
BEBAARBDEFHEEZIIGNRE &
BEREZTBEMERZTEEZTENFE -7
EETEFENEESH XA ERZES
HEZEEFEZE BEEFRRICER
F XTERBEER -BE - FEXER -
RE-MBRBBEH > UKEFEFER
AUERBARERNEAEMER - XAQFH
NEEEARANEERBRARBREEN
REE~ M~ BB RZTIEES » UFTEIE
MEREENEZTAEMNERRZZEASE
EZBRBEARASEZEHTRZEBEREM °

BREEgHEARRMBEEES  EXH
#TEERIMMBEENS TIEES - 0
20243831 EFENZ TEEG B
mE:

(i) EFXTHR - E5 25 - F§2 5 HRIK
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(ii) Directors’ Skills and Experience

Areas of Experience

Related Industry Knowledge/Experience
HETENS &%

Business Management

FHER

Legal/Regulatory

ER/EE

Financial & Accounting

MBEG s

Strategic Planning & Risk Management
RREHRIERRERE

The Board’s gender diversity level is relatively high
compared to other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange, with two female directors out of eight
(25%). During the Year, the Nomination Committee
recommended and the Board approved a target of
having no less than 25% female directors on the Board.
The Nomination Committee was of the view that the
current gender diversity of the Board was appropriate,
balanced and maintaining the target set. Therefore, no
timeline or plan was proposed for further enhancing the
gender diversity target of the Board for the time being.
The Nomination Committee will continue reviewing the
composition of the Board to maintain diversity.

As at 31 March 2024, our total workforce comprised of
47% female and 53% male, whereas senior management
comprised of 20% female and 80% male. The current
gender diversity of workforce was appropriate taking into
account the business models and operational needs.

The term of appointment of the INEDs is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election provisions
under the Bye-laws of the Company and the Listing
Rules. Based on the annual review conducted by the
Nomination Committee, the Board considered each of
them to be independent with reference to the factors as
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

(ii) B FHEGERAESE

Number of Share of the
Directors Board

EEAY HERGLLH

4 50%
4 50%
2 25%
3 37.5%
8 100%

BHMABMIFA LT ABMEL  EF
EHMNZETIEKTFRERE ) \BE
ENEMBES (5% ALM - RAE
ER RRLEECRZEEETHESE
FEYMEFTFERDWNER - ER
ZEEgRR EFTEAMNMENSZ T
DEE T BEFRENBR-
> BftHRREHE—PIRESEFGMH
MZTEERNEHERNE - REE
EEREBERNESTENAEAN > UFRE
o

72024563831 HMHE THHH
4T% By 2 1% K 53% B9 BB AR 0 T & &R
B EH20%89 24 5% 80%HI S AR ©
EZRINEFEAREERTE BRI 2R
BINMNZTERGE -

BYFRATESFNERARBEEARTR
BRI R EHRAEMRERERER
WIEXFRR - BNV ZETETZ
FEER EFERA/ESRLTRA
BEIMEFEHZEARE > KBILIFATT
EFBBIAL -

Board Process EFgEF

Other than regular Board meetings held during the Year, BRTEAXAFENBRANETHESTS ZEN
additional Board meetings, or meetings of Board committees HERZBRHEINNESTTTH  AEFT IR
established by the Board to consider specific matters, were MHMEZEZEETEEH  UBZERTEH-
convened, when necessary.
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The attendance of the Directors at the meetings during the HAEFEEEFTHESZZBREAIIWMT:
Year is set out below:

No. of meeting attended/held

LEed /8083
Corporate
Audit Remuneration  Nomination  Governance Executive General
Name of Directors 4.3 Board  Committee  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee  Committee meeting
tEER
EZ® EWERT? &MERT REERe ERE® HUfERY T PN |
Non-executive Directors FHHES
Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon ENggt 6/6(C) - - - - - 11
Mr. Cheung Ping Keung ki 6/6 - - - - 11 I
(Note) ()
Executive Directors WrES
Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander ~ BB 4 6/6 - - il - 02 1N
Mr. Wong Chi Fai BEBEE 6/6 - 11 - - 2/22(C) 11
Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa PHELL b/6 - - - 11(C) 2/2 11
Independent Non-executive ~ BUFHFEE
Directors
Mr. Chan Hon Piu BEELE 6/6 33 1/1(0) - 11 - I
Mr. Chu Kar Wing RERLE 6/6 3B 11 1(0) - - I
Mr. Poon Yan Wai BLERE 6/6 313(0) - 11 11 - 11
Total number of meetingsheld ~ BIEHZHAH 6 3 l l 1 pi) 1
C: Chairperson/chairman of the Board/committee C: B8 LETXEE
Note: Kzt

Mr. Donald Cheung was re-designated from Executive Director to Non-  3R#&E4EH2023FIRIHEEHRPITESAETAIERNTES
executive Director with effect from 1 September 2023

During the Year, the Chairperson held a meeting with INEDs WRZAEE > BB EE AT ZFAEXE
without the presence of Executive Directors in compliance C27§ > TR EEBIIFRTEETENTT
with code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code. EEREEZBERTEBRAZEE -

The Company received biannual confirmation from each #HAAFECRESEETZLLSEMRNEL
Director that he/she has given sufficient time and attention & > BRERAEEENHEHEEREN
to the affairs of the Company during the Year. Directors also BREAABEH  EEZNEALATRER
disclosed to the Company the changes, if any, in the number FR AR AT RABETBRENHBE M
and nature of offices they held in public companies or BUKREMEARKENESH(NE) SFAL
organizations and other significant commitment, including BRATHABNEZBRETHIETERE
the identity of the public companies or organizations and an ¥ Fi i R BIBERT o

indication of the time involved.

During the Year, Ms. Semon Luk acted as the Chairperson of WRAFEE » EZTERTEETETEF > BEE
the Board who provided leadership to the Board. The day-to- Z® - A&EBENBHEEEHESTEEZRTE
day management of the Group was delegated by the Board HH#KEBEZLLERER T HEEBSTELAER
to the Managing Directors, Mr. Bryan Wong and Ms. Vanessa Z REEHE - EBKERAZER -BEITS
Fan who were responsible for the Group’s strategic planning, EZE e RAEBEMWESHNHIEBE o

business growth and development. The segregation of duties
made the Board and the operation of the Group function

effectively.
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If a Director has conflict of interest in a matter to be
considered by the Board which the Board has determined to
be material, the matter will be dealt with by a physical Board
meeting rather than a written resolution. That Director will
abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution and he/
she shall not be counted in the quorum present at such Board
meeting.

Procedures are also put in place for each Director to have
access to supporting papers and relevant information for
each scheduled meeting. All Directors also have access to the
services of the Company Secretary and her team, and may
take independent professional advice upon request, at the
Company’s expense.

Induction and Training for Directors

Newly appointed Directors will receive a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on appointment. Besides,
the Company provides Directors with regular updates on
changes to and developments of the Group’s business, and
on the latest developments in the laws, rules and regulations
relating to Directors’ duties and responsibilities to help them
make informed decisions and discharge their duties and
responsibilities as Directors.

During the Year, each Director participated in continuous
professional development by attending seminars/workshops/
reading materials on the following topics to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills and provided a record of
training to the Company:

Name of Directors
ERNEH

Ms. Luk Siu Man, Semon
BNt

Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, Alexander
¥ B RE ST &

Mr. Wong Chi Fai
Eﬂluﬁgﬁi

Ms. Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
PER g R

Mr. Cheung Ping Keung

5K U 58 5 &

Mr. Chan Hon Piu
RERETE

Mr. Chu Kar Wing
REREE

Mr. Poon Yan Wai
BLCELEE
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%@Eﬁ%}%%kziﬁu s &R AZEER N
E’B‘ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%% %ﬁﬁa'zlv(iﬁl\uﬁ—k
NERIE - ﬁﬁ‘?%%#}ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ%%aum*ﬁ&
ERE > HAEHALEZRESTEERZE
ENEA

EABNEABESEINEEAAECEREN

HEPI X REAMERNELEF - 2BEEN
FEESATDMEREBERMNIRE » URATR
HERSKRKEBIZENER  EMERAASD
NEIRIE o

EEMEANMRESRIEI
FEENEFRNEERERLE ERR
B 5 EMOARB o Mo AARMEE
EEBNLHRER > UREMESHER
B BSR4 B T IR 51 B R T 5 R E B 1
EERMERMER > LB R EEHABR
ERBIHFAEFOHHRME -

REFE  SEFHESHAFEEXER
EROHEAMUATEEZEXRE HATE
BB > LU R R BB H R K R BE
B RARE R HEEIE:

Topics on training covered
FRifE 2 gl EE

(1) corporate governance
TES /|:|

(2) finance
B 75

(3) industry specific
TTHEER

(4)  regulatory

;
B
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in execution of its duties and facilitate
effective management, certain functions of the Board have
been delegated by the Board to the Executive Committee,
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Corporate Governance Committee mainly.
Clear written terms of reference of all the Board Committees
are given to the respective members of these Committees.

1. Executive Committee
The Executive Committee consists of all Executive
Directors namely Mr. Bryan Wong (Chairman of the
Committee), Mr. Alex Yeung and Ms. Vanessa Fan. It has all
powers and authorities of the Board except the following
major matters as set out in a “Formal Schedule on
matters reserved for and delegated by the Board”:

determining the Group’s objectives and strategies;

ii. approving annual and interim results and financial
reporting;

iii. declaring or recommending payment of dividends or
other distributions;

iv. approving major changes that require notification by
announcement under the Listing Rules;

v. approving publication of announcements for
notifiable transactions under the Listing Rules;

vi. approving non-exempt connected transactions/non-
exempt continuing connected transactions (other
than those transactions took place from time to time
under the master agreement(s) previously approved
by the Board/Shareholders (as the case may be))
under the Listing Rules; and

vii. approving major capital restructuring and issue of
new securities of the Company.

To advise and assist the Executive Committee on the
formulation and implementation of the environment,
social and governance (“ESG”) initiatives of the Group,
a sub-committee under the Executive Committee known
as the ESG Committee was set up. The ESG Committee
consists of representatives from operation and
supporting departments and the Executive Committee.
It has the powers and authorities as delegated by the
Executive Committee to formulate and execute relevant
ESG action plan, and assess and make recommendations
on matters concerning the Group’s sustainability
development and ESG risks and opportunities.
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2. Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, namely
Mr. Poon Yan Wai (“Mr. Andy Poon”)(Chairman of the
Committee), Mr. Chan and Mr. Chu Kar Wing (“Mr. Chu”).

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee
are set out in its terms of reference which include duties
specified in the CG Code and are posted on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

A summary of the work performed by the Audit
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

Vi

Vii.

viil.

reviewed with the management/finance personnel
and/or the external auditor the effectiveness of audit
process and the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, and the accuracy and fairness
of the annual consolidated financial statements for
the financial year ended 31 March 2023 (“Previous
Year”) and the interim consolidated financial
statements for the six months ended 30 September
2023;

reviewed with the senior management and finance
personnel the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group for the
Previous Year;

performed an annual review of the non-exempted
continuing connected transactions of the Group for
the Previous Year;

recommended to the Board on the re-appointment
of independent auditor at the 2023 annual general
meeting (2023 AGM”); and

reviewed the audit fees and the fees for non-audit
services payable to the independent auditor;

approved the audit plan for the Year, reviewed the
independence of the independent auditor and
approved its engagement;

reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting function; and

recommended to the Board on the formal adoption
of policy on use of external auditor for non-audit
services for the Company.
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3. Remuneration Committee
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The Remuneration Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chan (Chairman of the Committee) and Mr.
Chu, both being INEDs, and Mr. Bryan Wong, being the
Managing Director.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration
Committee are set out in its terms of reference which
include duties specified in the CG Code and are posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

A summary of the work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the Directors’ fees and made
recommendation to the Board;

ii. reviewed the current remuneration structure/
package of the Executive Directors and senior
management and recommended the Board to
approve their specific packages; and

iii. recommended to the Board on the adoption of Share
Option Scheme.

Before recommendation to the Board, the Remuneration
Committee has reviewed and assessed the remuneration
package of the Directors with reference to the Group’s
operating results, duties and level of responsibility of the
Directors and the prevailing market conditions. Details
of the remuneration of each of the Directors for the
Year are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Chu (Chairman of the Committee) and Mr.
Andy Poon, both being INEDs, and Mr. Alex Yeung, being
an Executive Director.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination
Committee are set out in its terms of reference which
include duties specified in the CG Code and are posted
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for
formulating policy and making recommendations to the
Board on nomination, appointment and re-appointment
of Directors, and Board succession pursuant to the
Nomination Policy adopted by the Company.
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The Nomination Policy aims at assisting the Nomination
Committee in identifying and nominating suitable
candidates for directorship based on the Board
Diversity Policy and sets out the nomination criteria
and the nomination procedures for (i) nominating
new Director to fill a casual vacancy on the Board; (ii)
making recommendation to Directors and Shareholders
regarding any Director proposed for election or re-
election at general meeting; and (iii) nomination by
Shareholders on election of new Director.

The Nomination Committee may identify potential
candidates from any source as it may consider
appropriate and evaluate them by considering various
factors, including their professional expertise, industry
and business experience, time commitments, potential
contributions to board diversity, material conflict of
interest with the Group (if any) and independence (for
INEDs). The Committee will then make recommendation
of suitable candidates to the Board for consideration
of appointment. In case of reappointment of existing
Directors who will retire at an annual general meeting
(“AGM”), the Committee will review the retirement by
rotation of Directors and make recommendations to the
Board accordingly.

A summary of the work performed by the Nomination
Committee during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board;

ii. reviewed the Board Diversity Policy;

iii. reviewed the mechanisms implemented regarding
independent views of the Board;

iv. reviewed the independence of INEDs;

v. reviewed Directors’ time commitment in performing
their duties as Directors;

vi. made recommendation to the Board on the re-election
of Directors at the 2023 AGM; and

vii. reviewed the gender diversity target at Board level.
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5. Corporate Governance Committee
The Corporate Governance Committee (“CG Committee”)
consists of five members, namely Ms. Vanessa Fan
(Chairperson of the Committee), being the Managing
Director, Mr. Andy Poon and Mr. Chan, both being INEDs,
a representative from company secretarial function and a
representative from finance and accounts function.

The specific written terms of reference of the CG
Committee is available on the Company’s website. The
primary duties of the CG Committee are (i) developing
and reviewing the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Company (“CG Policy”) and making
recommendations to the Board; (ii) reviewing and
monitoring the policies and practices of the Company
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;
(iii) developing, reviewing and monitoring the codes of
conduct applicable to Directors and relevant employees
of the Group regarding dealings in the Company’s
securities; (iv) reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management; and (v) reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
annual report.

A summary of the work performed by the CG Committee
during the Year is set out as follows:

reviewed the CG Policy;

ii. reviewed the policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements;

iii. reviewed the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

iv. reviewed the codes of conduct applicable to
Directors and relevant employees of the Group; and

v. reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure in Corporate Governance
Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, the Company Secretary, being an employee
of the Company, duly complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules by taking no less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTION OF
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the EIHL Securities Code as
its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors on no less exacting terms than the required
standards as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
regarding the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers. Having made specific enquiry to
all Directors, all of them confirmed that they had complied
with the required standard of dealings as set out in the EIHL
Securities Code throughout the Year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledged their responsibilities to
prepare the annual consolidated financial statements of
the Group and other financial disclosures required under
the Listing Rules. The management has provided all
members of the Board with monthly updates on internal
consolidated financial statements which give a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group’s performance,
position and prospects.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
Year, the Board adopted appropriate accounting policies and
applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that
were prudent and reasonable and ensured the consolidated
financial statements were prepared on a “going concern”
basis (with supporting assumptions or qualifications as
necessary) and showed a true view of the state of affairs of the
Group for the Year. The management had provided sufficient
explanation and information to the Board on the consolidated
financial statements to enable it to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other information put before
it for approval. The independent auditor of the Company had
made a statement about their reporting responsibilities in the
Independent Auditor’s Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

A. Goals and Objectives

Internal control is fundamental to the successful
operation and day-to-day running of a business and it
assists a company in achieving its business objectives.
The Board is responsible to ensure that the Group
establishes and maintains appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems (“Risk
Control Systems”). Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss.
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The key objectives of the Risk Control Systems include:
* safeguarding assets;

e ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of
financial records and reports;

e promoting adherence to policies, procedures,
regulations and laws; and

e promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations.

Internal control policies and procedures within the Group
are updated regularly with the primary objective of
providing general guidance and recommendations on a
basic framework of Risk Control Systems.

A review has been conducted on (i) the Group’s internal
control measures and procedures covering governance,
operational, financial and compliance controls; and (ii)
risk management functions in the principal subsidiaries
for the Year.

. Internal Control

(1) Governance Control
The control structure of the Risk Control Systems is
set out as follows:

The Board
e responsible for the overall Risk Control Systems
and reviewing their effectiveness;

e oversee the Risk Control Systems on an
ongoing basis with the assistance of the Audit
Committee;

e ensure presence of appropriate and effective
Risk Control Systems;

e define management structure with clear lines of
responsibility and limits of authority; and

e determine the nature and extent of significant
risks (including ESG risks) that the Group
is willing to take in achieving the strategic
objectives and formulate the Group’s risk
management strategies.
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Audit Committee

review and discuss the Risk Control Systems
with the management annually to ensure that
the management has performed its duty to
maintain effective Risk Control Systems. This
discussion includes the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, and the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting function as well as those relating to
the Company’s ESG performance and reporting;

review the nature and extent of significant risks
(including ESG risks), and the Group’s ability
to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment;

consider major findings on internal control
matters (if any) raised by internal and
independent auditor and make recommendations
to the Board; and

review and discuss annually with significant
control failings or weaknesses that are identified
by the auditor.

Executive Committee

with the assistance of the ESG committee,
review the effectiveness of ESG-related Risk
Control Systems and report to the Audit
Committee for its review.

The management (including heads of business units,
departments and divisions)

design and implement the Risk Control Systems’
policies and procedures duly endorsed by senior
management and the Board;

monitor the Risk Control Systems properly and
ensure the Risk Control Systems are executed
effectively;

monitor risks and take measures to mitigate
risks in their day-to-day operations;

give prompt responses to, and follow up the
findings on internal control matters raised by
internal or independent auditors; and

provide written confirmation to the Board on the
effectiveness of the Risk Control Systems.
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Internal Audit Department

carry out audit checking on sample basis and
evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Risk Control Systems in respect of controls of all
material aspects;

alert the management on the audit review
findings or irregularities (if any) and advise them
on the implementation of necessary steps and
actions to enhance the internal controls of the
Group; and

report the results of internal audit reviews and
agreed action plans to the Audit Committee and
the Board on regular basis.

(2) Operational Control
The management is responsible for analyzing the
control environment, identified risks pertaining
thereto, and implemented various controls therein as
follows:

Approach taken: The management regularly
review and update the operational policies
and workflow procedures to identify areas for
improvement and/or amendments to cope with
changes as necessary. The scope and findings of
the review on the Risk Control Systems will be
reported to the Audit Committee regularly;

Procedure manuals and operational
guidelines are established to safeguard the
assets against unauthorized use or disposition;
ensure consistency of operational requirements;
and ensure proper compliance with the
applicable laws, rules and regulations;

Management information system was
installed to control the business activities
and transactions. It provides close tracking of
various prescribed inputs and outputs. It also
provides audit trails in the authorization system,
under which permissions and responsibility of
authorization are clearly identified and adequate
records can be maintained in the Risk Control
Systems;
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Vi.

Vil.

viil.

Reports and variance analysis: Reports and
analysis of each segment are conducted on a
regular basis. Variance reports are prepared
based on actual results and approved budgets;

Safeguarding of assets: Insurance coverage
on various assets is periodically reviewed
by the management for sufficient coverage.
Surprise physical cash count of hotels and assets
count of serviced apartments are performed
by Operation Finance team and reviewed by
Internal Audit Department to safeguard the
assets;

Service quality control: Operational systems
of hotel and gaming business segments are
reviewed regularly to ensure the service quality;
and questionnaires are provided in different
outlets to welcome customers’ feedbacks for our
service improvement;

Control on leasing of properties: Policies
and checklists on control of rental revenue,
lease terms and conditions, appointment of
property management and leasing agent, asset
security and maintenance review as well as
establishment of credit control team are in place
for leasing of Group’s premises;

Control on property sale: Checklist and
breakdown on control of property for sale and
stock on hand are in place; and

Control on acquisition of properties: Internal
procedures on the acquisition of properties are
in place.

(3) Financial Control

Policies, systems and procedures are in
place to ensure proper accounting records are
maintained which provide complete, accurate
and timely accounting and management
information so that management can make
effective business adjustments;

Financial management report are provided
to directors and senior management which give
a balanced and understandable assessment of
various business segments’ performance and
financial position in sufficient details;
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Annual financial budget and quarterly
forecasts are prepared and reviewed regularly
to ensure any actions can be taken promptly to
mitigate any changes in conditions and market
accordingly;

Annual audit by independent auditor is
carried out to ensure that the consolidated
financial statements and individual companies’
financial statements are prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles,
the Group’s accounting policies and the
applicable laws and regulations; and

24 months cash flow rolling forecast is
regularly reviewed to monitor the cash flows
against budget plan.

(4) Compliance Control

Systems and procedures on disclosure
of inside information to ensure, with the
assistance of an internal work team (if required),
that any material information which comes
to the knowledge of any one or more officers
should be promptly identified, assessed and
escalated, where appropriate, for the attention
of the Board. The Board shall make timely
decisions on disclosure, if necessary and take
appropriate measures to preserve confidentiality
of inside information until proper dissemination
of inside information;

Policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements which
shall be reviewed and monitored regularly
by the Corporate Governance Committee as
delegated by the Board in order to ensure the
Group is in compliance with all the applicable
laws, statutes, rules and regulations; and to keep
up on any legal developments;

Continuing Connected Transactions
Compliance Committee is established
to monitor, control and regularly review
connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions of the Group and ensure
proper compliance with all relevant laws and
regulations, the Listing Rules and disclosure
requirements;
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Whistle-blowing policy is established to
provide reporting channels and guidance
for employees and related third parties who
have business dealings with the Group (e.g.
customers and suppliers) to raise concerns, in
confidence and anonymity, about any suspected
misconduct or malpractice within the Group.
The Audit Committee, delegated by the Board,
shall ensure that proper arrangements are in
place for fair and independent investigation
of any concerns raised, appropriate follow-up
actions are taken and other recommendations
are provided, if thinks fit;

Anti-corruption policy is established to outline
the Group’s zero-tolerance stance against
bribery and corruption and assists employees
in recognising circumstances that may lead
to or give the appearance of being involved
in corruption or unethical business conduct,
so as to avoid such conduct which is clearly
prohibited, and to promptly seek guidance
where necessary or report any reasonably
suspected case of corruption or any attempts
thereof, to the management through an
appropriate reporting channel; and

Anti-money laundering and counter-terrorist
financing policy and procedure is established
to set out the general framework for combating
crime against money laundering and financing
of terrorism. It provides guideline to prevent
the Group’s employees and clients/customers/
suppliers/vendors/contractors from being
misused for money laundering, terrorist
financing or other financial crime and has set
out some indications of potentially suspicious
transactions/activities for employees’ reference.

Review of Internal Controls

Effectiveness of internal control is tested by Internal
Audit Department regularly. The internal audit
reviews and agreed action plans shall be reported
to the Audit Committee and the Board on a timely
basis.
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C. Risk Management
(1) Risk Management Process

56

The risk management process includes risk
identification, evaluation, management and control
measures.

The management is entrusted with duties to
identify, analyze, evaluate, respond, monitor and
communicate risks associated with any activity,
function or process within its scope of responsibility
and authority. Risks are evaluated by the Board and
management based on (i) the severity of the impact
of the risk on the Group's financial results; and (ii) the
frequency and probability that the risk will occur.

Based on the risk evaluation, the Company will
manage the risks as follows:-

— Risk elimination — the management may identify
and implement certain changes or controls that in
effect eliminate the risk entirely.

— Risk mitigation — the management may implement
risk mitigation plan designed to reduce the likelihood
and impact of the risk to an acceptable level or
contingency plan for possible loss scenarios.

— Risk control and monitoring — it involves making
decisions regarding which risks are acceptable and
how to address those that are not; accidents and
other situations involving loss or near-loss will be
investigated and properly documented as part of
the effort to manage risks.

— Risk retention — the management may decide
that the risk rating is low enough that the risk is
at an acceptable level and no action is required
and the risk will continue to be monitored
as part of the risk management program to
ensure the level of risk does not increase to an
unacceptable level.
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(2) Significant Risks and Strategies
Certain significant risks (including ESG risks)
have been identified through the process of risk
identification and assessment. Such significant risks
of the Group and their respective key strategies/
control measures as set out below:
Changes in social, economic and political HE KBERBAIRIEES:
environment:
Changes and volatility in general economic
conditions caused by China-USA tensions, global
economic slowdown, increase/decrease in money
supply and foreign exchange issue would have
impact on Hong Kong property market. Any more
adverse change in one of the above situations would
have significant impact to the Group’s business.
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e Stay alert to changes in economic and market o
conditions in mainland China and Hong Kong
or global economy and adjust business strategic

plans to cope with these changes. e
Investment strategy: BER:

WL RERFAEYEHNETE
FHREHES - REER -EBE
B Rt -HAERBFEFEXRE
REREAZBANEARKE > §HA
EENBREBTEMNERNTFE

Acquisitions of land, investment and development
properties carry inherent risks related to significant
amount of money, missing targets, poor project
management, design, development and sales or
wrong investment decision would have significant

adverse impact on Group’s overall business.

2 -
=

Regularly review investment and business
strategy against overall business environment;

Investment decisions are subject to a robust
risk and return evaluation by executives and
supervision by the Finance and Investment
Committee;

Potential projects are subject to an extensive
due diligence review by in-house specialists
and external advisers. Offers are only made for
projects with reasonable return or of strategic
value;

Ensure there are experienced managers
managing the projects; and

Completed projects are subject to continual
monitoring and internal audit, with regular
performance reports to the Management.
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Rental income sustainability:

Loss of major tenants or rental reduction either due
to changes in tenants’ own strategy, market situation
or competition among landlords would adversely
impact the revenue of the Group.

Closely monitor any adverse market conditions,
work with tenants to mitigate the impact;

Maintain a well-balanced and quality tenant mix;

Maintain high property marketability by timely
renovation;

Invite targeted tenants or anchor tenants to our
existing or new properties from time to time.
Custom-made arrangements are offered where
appropriate to cater for their specific needs;

Propose short term lease restructure for quality
tenants in order to help sustain their businesses;
and

Carry out pre-lease campaigns to replace the
undesirable tenants.

Business/Portfolio concentration:

A significant portion of our Group revenues is
derived from Hong Kong. Unfavourable events in the
city could disrupt our overall business, lower our
revenues and impact the valuation of our assets.

The Group has a diversified portfolio of
investment properties across Hong Kong,
Macau, Mainland cities and London, the United
Kingdom. The Group will keep sourcing quality
investment properties around the world; and

The Group has maintained a diversified
investment property portfolio including
quality street-level retail spaces in prominent
shopping and residential districts, premium
office buildings and commercial and industrial
complexes.
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Property development risks:

Supply of land is subject to the change of land
policies in different markets. Acquisition of land in
Hong Kong, the PRC and other overseas markets may
be subject to various regulatory requirements and
restrictions and competition from other developers.
Future growth prospects of property development
business are therefore affected by the availability
and price levels of prime sites in Hong Kong, the PRC
and other overseas markets. Failure to manage cost
of construction labour and materials could adversely
affect the competitiveness of property development
business.

e Participate actively in the land auctions;

e Regularly update the Group’s long/medium/
short term strategic plans on property
development business;

e Implement well established policies in our
tendering policy and system;

e Monitor project costs closely with strict adherent
to budget;

e Extract advantage from economies of scale
based on our portfolio size, if possible;

e Monitor closely the labour cost and materials
stock/price trends in the industry before
awarding building contracts; and

e Investment through JV structure to reduce the
risk.
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Cyber security:

Loss of data and leakage of confidential information
are the largest costs from cyber-crime that the
Company is facing. The cost of recovering from cyber
attacks, including reputational damage, where the
trust in @ company decreases and their brand loses
value, is considerable.

e |T Security Committee established to review
the Group’s IT security policies and risks
assessment;

e The Company’s IT infrastructure are regularly
scanned and patched;

e Risky external IP addresses are blocked;

e All servers and user computers are equipped
with antivirus or endpoint protection;

e Emails are filtered for spam and malware;

e Password control and user access to the systems
and network elements are regularly updated and
reviewed;

e System backup facilities provide addition layers
of protections; and

® Relevant trainings are provided.

Cost and availability of financing/tight liquidity
and appetite among the banks in real estate
sector:

Failure to ensure the availability of funds to meet
our capital expenditure requirements to develop,
maintain and renovate our properties could limit our
ability to remain competitive.

e Stringent cash and treasury management and
allocation of funds and resources;

e Closely monitor financial market and benchmark
borrowing costs;

e Maintain diversified sources of financing;
e Maintain good relation with bankers; and

e Diversify and explore more new banks.
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D. Management Confirmation

The Board acknowledged that it had a confirmation from
the management on the effectiveness of the Risk Control
Systems of the Group. The Audit Committee and the
Board had reviewed the Risk Control Systems and were
not aware of any significant issues that would have an
adverse impact on the effectiveness and adequacy of the
Group’s operational, financial and compliance areas of
the Risk Control Systems.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy setting out the
principles for the Board to determine appropriate amount of
dividend to be distributed to the Shareholders. The Company
intends to provide Shareholders with regular interim and
final dividends (as the case may be) based on the earnings
attributable to its Shareholders after taking into consideration
of the factors as stated in the policy, including inter alia, (i)
cash flow requirements for business operations; (ii) cash
available, financial liabilities and capital commitment;
(iii) market environment and challenges; and (iv) future
development and investment opportunities. The declaration
of dividends or recommendation on such payment shall be
subject to all applicable laws, rules and regulations including
but not limited to the Listing Rules, the applicable laws of
Bermuda and the Bye-laws of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s Shareholders” Communication Policy
(available on the website of the Company) sets out the
strategies, practices and commitment for maintaining
ongoing and effective communication with Shareholders,
both individual and institutional, and in appropriate
circumstances, the investment community at large so as to
enable them to engage with the Company and exercise their
rights as Shareholders in an informed manner. To this end, the
Company strives to ensure that all Shareholders have ready
and timely access to all publicly available information of the
Group. To facilitate communication with Shareholders and the
investment community, the Company has established various
communication channels, as follows: (i) the holding of AGMs
and special general meetings (“SGM(s)”), if any, which may be
convened for specific purposes to provide opportunities for
the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Board; (ii)
the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim
reports and/or circulars as required under the Listing Rules
and press releases providing updated information of the
Group; (iii) the availability of latest information of the Group
on the Company’s website at https://www.Emperorint.com;
(iv) the holding of press conference(s) from time to time; and
(v) meeting with investors and analysts when necessary.
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General presentations are made when financial results are
announced and dialogue with institutional Shareholders is made
from time to time. Shareholders and investors are welcome to
visit the Company’s website and to raise enquiries through our
Investor Relations Department whose contact details are available
on the Company’s website and the “Corporate Information and
Key Dates” section of this annual report.

The Chairperson of the Board and the chairperson/members
of the Board Committees, appropriate management
executives and the independent auditor are available to
attend the general meetings to answer questions from the
Shareholders.

The Company shall review the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy annually to ensure its implementation and
effectiveness. Having considered the multiple channels
of communication and engagement in place, the Board is
satisfied that the Shareholders” Communication Policy has
been properly in place during the Year and remains effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
Shareholders as required to be disclosed pursuant to the CG
Code:

Right to Convene/Call general meetings
Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and Bye-
laws of the Company, Shareholder(s) holding at the date
of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall have the
right to submit a written requisition requiring a SGM to be
called by the Board. The written requisition (a) must state
the purpose(s) of the meeting; and (b) must be signed by
the requisitionists and deposited at the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
for attention of the Company Secretary, and may consist
of several documents in like form, each signed by one or
more requisitionists. Such requisition will be verified with
the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and
upon its confirmation that the requisition is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene
a SGM by serving sufficient notice to all Shareholders. On
the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in
order, the requisitionists will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, the SGM will not be convened as requested.
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If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the
deposit of a valid requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM
for a day not more than 2 months after the date of deposit
of a proper requisition, the requisitionists or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them may convene a SGM, but any SGM so convened
shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from the
said date of deposit of the requisition. In addition, such
meeting convened by the requisitionists shall be convened
in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings are to be convened by the Board.

Putting forward Proposals at General
Meetings

Pursuant to the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, either any
number of the Shareholders holding not less than one-
twentieth of the total voting rights of all the Shareholders
having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at general
meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”), or not less
than 100 of such Shareholders, can request the Company
in writing to (a) give to the Shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution
which may properly be moved and is intended to be moved
at that meeting; and (b) circulate to Shareholders entitled
to have notice of any general meeting any statement of not
more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to
in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at
that meeting. The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists
must be deposited at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong with a sum reasonably sufficient to
meet the Company’s relevant expenses and not less than six
weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition requiring
notice of a resolution or not less than one week before the
meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided that an
AGM is called for a date 6 weeks or less after the requisition
has been deposited, such requisition though not deposited
within the time required shall be deemed to have been
properly deposited for the purposes thereof.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director
The procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person
for election as a Director are available for viewing on the
Company’s website.

Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited. Other Shareholders’
enquiries can be directed to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There are no significant changes in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the Year.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE AND
REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is mandated to review and monitor
the independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity
and effectiveness of the audit process of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with applicable standards.
Members of the Audit Committee were of the view that
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) is independent
and recommended the Board to propose its re-appointment
as the Company’s independent auditor at the 2024 AGM.
During the Year, Deloitte had rendered audit services and
non-audit services to the Group and the remuneration paid/
payable to it by the Group is set out as follows:

HEEEX G
RAEE  AAFZBMER L REA
B o

BN 2Bt RS

BERZZEgERERBERZERNERRK
ERZEMZEBILYE  UEBFRESMBRER
BitBREZEHEKRARE -BREEEL
ERA  BE - MEmRAgtmT(1EE)
BEIALT TEZEEFEN2024FRREAE
FAELIREERAEZMEFRBDVZHBIZY
fie RAFER > BHERFEBRIEHRZHK
MBRIEZBRT  MAEERHEEN FE
TZzME&HINMT:

Services rendered FR iR {4 IR 75 Fees paid/payable
et EEER
HKS 000
FHET
Audit services = BAR 75 8,609
Non-audit services JEZ BUR 75
— Reporting services in respect of —MHEMBAR ZHRSE
disposal of subsidiaries BR %5 800
— Agreed-upon procedures in connection to — £ 7~ £ @ iR B & X 15 R8
the Group’s club loans 1 1% E 12 = 50
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Deloitte.

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
EMPEROR INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Emperor International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out
on pages 73 to 218, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

=ED

RREEEREEARATZIEE
(REREZAMAELZZERAE)

==

=R

KT EBEHFI RN TIE20HE M2 2 F IR
EMERANM THBEAR)RE
M A F (M 45808 &= M) #9 45 & Bt
HIRE o It B RS 3R 6 3E 102024483831
BB R REAREZALEE
M EsE CABRSREMREK
RE CARSEBERCAHSRE
= UREAHEREME QEEA
SHMEENRE BB EE o

TITRR ZEFREUMBERRERES
BESMAG(ERBEHMRTNRMBE
EEMBREEN(EBMHBREER)
EEMAEMRIRT SEEIK20245F3
AEMNGEMBRAKRBEZALSE
ENGEUBREARGERHRERE I
EEREEATDMKINKEZRZSH
& o

ERNER
FTERBEREGAMAGHEMNER
Bt ER(EBEHER)ETES - &
TEZSENTRENEEIERLTRS
B BERGEEMBREZEMIE
DHREE-—THL - REBEFEEFAAL
ERMNEEZEGSMERTACTE)
ATBILY EEE > LERETTAR
WHMEREE K1THEE > A1THE
FTHEFEREEREREBEMARITH
Bt ERIZHER -

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZEEZEEERERBRAF] 65
Annual Report 2023/2024 3%k




Independent Auditor’s Report
L RVE 5 G e

66

Material Uncertainty Related to Going

Concern

We draw attention to note 3.1.1 to the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HKS$1,864 million. The Group’s
current liabilities amounted to HKS$9,378 million, out of which
HKS6,426 million represented the current portion of bank
borrowings as at 31 March 2024. These events or conditions,
along with other matters as set forth in note 3.1.1 to the
consolidated financial statements, indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Our conclusion is not
modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.

B RS EHMNEXRFE
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matters

MRgExEEA

Valuation of investment properties

REMEZIGE

We identified the valuation of investment properties
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance to the consolidated financial statements as
a whole, combined with the significant assumptions
and estimations involved in determining the fair
value as set out in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements.
ITREEYEZGE#NA—BRAREZEE
FEEERZERBG M BRREBRMEBE LR
BUMGEMBRRNFIME  EEAABET R
BEABRKMEE o

As disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s completed investment properties
amounted to HK$32,749,034,000, representing 70% of
the Group’s total assets, with their change in fair value
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
During the year, the decrease in fair value of completed
investment properties amounted to HKS1, 252 967,000.
U0 AR S B RS R R MY SE14PR K BB EIZE
&R IR B Y % A32,749,034,0008 7T 0 1:5 5E
WMEEZT0% > 1)32%?’&%15151 2 E st AL
KA REXFE BERREVELIAE
1,252,967,0003% 7T ©

BkE

=

i

/)

ot 0)
)
\>

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s investment properties
are carried at fair value based on the valuations
performed by independent firms of qualified
professional property valuers (the “valuers”).
The valuations are dependent on key inputs,
together with significant assumptions, that involve
judgement. The relevant inputs and conditions
include discount rate, capitalisation rates and
comparable market transactions with adjustments
to reflect different locations or conditions for
completed investment properties. Details of
the valuation techniques and key inputs used
in the valuations are disclosed in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.
MEERBFHRRMFAFTIRE EEEZKREY
ENERBISEREEZYEMEMIT (L EE)
NEEREARBEETY R - HE TETEER‘Z?FEE@A
ABBURERBRET > HRP5 KRFE - HEEE
)\%&?F&szﬂ@%ﬁﬁfﬁﬁ EZMISX&EJI:I:EFE
BRZ(EEHABURBREERKEYMEZRRE
i & AR ) © ﬁ% HERRAZEER :L'&IE
WABBFERNEASMBRRWETI4KRE

7

FAREBZERIA®

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BHmAEEREE&EEA

Our procedures in relation to valuating the
appropriateness of the valuation of completed
investment properties included:

f;ﬁ%WEE?éﬁ!ﬂﬁfﬁ%%ZTEfETﬁ’EE?’IEZEE?’FE

e Understanding management’s process for
reviewing the work of the independent qualified
professional property valuers engaged by the
Company;

e THREHEESRE SATZENBEILISERE
EYEMLEMNITEZRE;

e Evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the independent qualified
professional property valuers engaged by the

Company;
e Mt BERTEZEENBIGERERYEMLE
BENREBIE;

B4R

Bz &~

e Understanding the valuation techniques and
key inputs applied on selected properties by
holding discussion with the management and
the independent qualified professional property
valuers engaged by the Company with the
involvement of our internal valuation specialists;

and

e HEEERKR ELATIZENBILISEREEY
EGEMETHH THATZHRBHEER
2 UTHREEECYERMERNGESR TR

HRAANE &

e Assessing the reasonableness of key inputs
used in the valuation on selected properties
by (i) checking the details of rentals on a
sample basis to the respective underlying
existing tenancy agreements; (ii) comparing to
relevant market information on prices, rentals
achieved and capitalisation rates adopted in
other similar properties in the neighbourhood
with the consideration of changes in market
conditions; and (iii) benchmarking the discount
rates against historical data, market trend and
applicable market yields.

e BB()MEBEESHMARAHEEGEHZZES
15 (i) BTt e H B LU PTG E
%~ %Hﬁ&?%.%l’ﬂﬁ’ﬂﬁzkﬁ%Z#EEﬁFﬁiﬁfﬁﬂ
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Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key audit matters

MERER

FAREBZERIA®

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BMOM@EERREZEE

Valuation of properties under development for sale

HIEHEZRRPNEZIAE

We identified the valuation of properties under
development for sale as a key audit matter due to
the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the significant
estimations associated with the assessment of
whether the properties under development for sale
were stated at lower of cost and net realisable value

BRI B JE'#”F%%ZT 5 5 7l 75 B 52
EEEE"EEE? % ¥ A7
Eﬂ

Nﬂbm

> DU 5 A 15 F W
An] SRR E(ZIRF
5 REKRMGE

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group’s properties
under development for sale are stated at lower
of cost and NRV. As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s
properties under development for sale amounted
to HKS$5,163,576,000. During the year, write-downs
of HKS446,508,000 and reversal on previously
recognised write-down of HK$28,633,000 are
recognised for properties under development for
sale. The determination of the NRV is based on
estimated selling prices less estimated costs to
completion and the estimated costs necessary to
make the sale of these properties. The selling prices
are estimated by reference to the market prices of
similar properties in prevailing market environment.
The costs to completion of the properties under
development for sale are estimated by reference to
the development budget, actual development cost
of similar properties with adjustments based on
current market data. Details of the properties under
development for sale is disclosed in note 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Our procedures in relation to assessing the appropriateness
of the valuation of properties under development for sale
included:
FTHERKFEFHEZERPAVEZMLERENREZ
BFERE:

e Assessing the management’s process in estimating
the costs to completion of the properties under
development for sale, on a sample basis, by
comparing them to the development budget,
actual development cost of similar properties of
the Group and comparing the adjustments made
by the management in the estimated costs to
completion to current market data;

e WMRFGEEENMSTHFFLHEZERER
MEZRANERF > BREE SEBRHELUYE

ZHRERE -BRAENEETLER k&8
T:%E%E%nﬁiﬁhkE’Jﬁﬂ%ﬁi%ﬁ‘ﬁ%%ﬂ%f’ﬁ

e Assessing the appropriateness of the NRV of the
properties under development for sale, on a
sample basis, by comparing the NRV to the market
price less estimated costs necessary to make the
sale achieved in the same project or comparable
properties, based on the current market
development trend, government regulations in
the real estate industry and our knowledge of the
Group’s business; and

. REENTEERBY  BHETLENRME
R K A 17 ;$l¥§“ﬂ’]7ﬁﬁ ) BB A ]
@fﬁﬁéﬁﬁiffﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬂttiﬁ#ﬁl%z?ﬁ{%ﬂﬁi?&
THEMB At ANETEER > AT LT
FHEZZEREDPYETERFENREMN, K

e Evaluating the reasonableness of the assessment
performed by the management of the Group on
the key inputs to evaluate the magnitude of their
impact of the market value and adequacy of
impairment being made.

e Mt EEEEEEMIZERAHBETHNT
EHESEN LR ETERSENREERES
BERDTES
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit EZEHETMBEZESHMBERR
of the Consolidated Financial Z2EE®

Statements (continued)
Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the o HMEBRFAUFBELEATHE

going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit B2 E}Ei = 0 iR #R E',?E B & %
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists BB REERTEYH EEEIFER
related to events or conditions that may cast significant EMNRENEBREARBNEHRIE
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. MEEAFTEERR - MAITHEL
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are Eﬁ%ﬁijﬁxﬁﬁmli NITERE
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the REMKREPRFIBRGEASHUHTR
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements RAPBIERE R K E > 5 HHE R
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. EAE EBITERTHRR - K17
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained Eﬁ?ﬁ;ﬁ%ﬁ"ﬁziﬁ BT ¥R = H HA PR
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events ER/HNE $2 BeE oA AREMH
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a FERATREEN EEEBFLEBAR
going concern. FREIEEmNEES

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content o MEEEHBRR(BIFPETH K Eﬁ)
of the consolidated financial statements, including the NERZEY -RBBNRE > UREK
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial EHBERERE E’Rﬁ%zﬂ*ﬁﬁﬁ
statements represent the underlying transactions and events RHKREHE-

in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the ¢ # BEEAZEERFEEITIN

financial information of the entities or business activities MBENESREREENEZRSE
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated UMEGEEMBRRERER - 17
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, FREREE - EEBENMRTEENSE
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain IR K17 E?% XITHWEZER
solely responsible for our audit opinion. REZEEME -

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, AT (AP BE)BZ TEN B8 E
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the HMBEMEERFTFEEZZXR(BEEZBRES
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant ;‘EJZ/“JUE’JWﬁﬁﬁk}"“ﬂ’ﬂiﬁtﬁ%é’&)iﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. ABETER

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement AT BEBEEAAEFLBE > BT
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements Z!K??E%WEEEE_LHEE’HEE%L@EX )
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all T HMFEEERAUELERITHEIMEN
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought FiERGMEMEEURKRERALEE
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions E’J ﬁ@]‘iﬁﬁﬁ Bﬁi&? mAER HEa s
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. ERANBETER
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial
Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the
independent auditor’s report is Au Mei Yin.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

24 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

SR EIRER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &t ZE20244#35 31 H 1F F &

Revenue B A
Contracts with customers BEEEH 5(a)
Leases i1 5(b)
Total revenue NN
Cost of properties sales MEHEER R
Cost of hotel and hotel related B IE 2 B 5 A Bl
operations EHBR A
Direct operating expenses HEREMEZEHE
in respect of leasing of KER%
investment properties
Gross profit EF
Other income Hth g A
Fair value changes of investment KEMELAARBEZ
properties b=k
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RWRBAR ZW = 37
Other gains and losses Hth U 25 & 5 18 7
Impairment allowance recognised HREZEWHRIEBEZRE
for trade receivables B
Selling and marketing expenses HERTHEEER
Administrative expenses THEHR
Finance costs W% &R 8
Share of result of an associate DME—EBERRZESR 17
Share of result of a joint venture DME—EEECEZESR 18
Loss before taxation IR AT ES 48 9
Taxation credit MIEE & 11
Loss for the year FEFE
(Loss) profit for the year FEMEEE (B18) & T :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KREEABA
Non-controlling interests JFERES
Loss per share sREE
Basic 2= 13

882,510
879,305

1,761,815
(119,040)

(481,413)

(139,403)

1,021,959
72,754

(1,318,322)

(444,211)

(135)
(203,542)
(282,665)
(919,178)

(344)

(12,675)

(2,086,359)
57,782

(2,028,577)

(2,046,666)
18,089

(2,028,577)

HK$(0.56) # 5t
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339,913
870,769

1,210,682
(64,953

(406,808

(148,895

)
)

)

590,026
94,421

(1,804,437
212,069
(285,117

(1,346
(107,471
(287,909
(690,389

(12,447

(6,628

)
)

(2,299,228
97,642

)
)
)
)
)
)
)

(2,201,586

)

(2,141,983
(59,603

)
)

(2,201,586

)

HKS$(0.58) # 7T

73




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e RmREMEEEER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive expense
Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:

FEBR PRPLRAAN  (2,201,586)
Hfh2@ERH%

HEAEEN D EERm ZHE -

Exchange differences arising on MEBINEBMELEEREZSR:

translation of foreign operations:

- subsidiaries — B AT (206,875) (666,372)

- an associate ——EEEAT (3,787) (9,709)
Other comprehensive expense FEHMZ2EMAX

for the year (210,662) (676,081)
Total comprehensive expense FEZEEMRX

for the year (2,239,239) (2,877,667)
Total comprehensive (expense) EEFEFEE2EEGISZ) KE:

income for the year attributable to:

Owners of the Company EREEBA (2,257,328) (2,818,064)

Non-controlling interests JEIER R 18,089 (59,603)

PIELWEL)]  (2,877,667)

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEZ2EEREEEREAF
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SFEMIARE

At 31 March 2024 }$20244F3531H

Annual Report 2023/2024 ££3

Non-current assets JEREBEE
Investment properties KEYE 14 34,394,034 37,944,753
Property, plant and equipment ME B RRE 15 2,592,987 2,723,519
Deposits paid for acquisition of WERBEYE ME
investment properties/property, e RRERXMZ
plant and equipment k& 1,563 2,182
Receivables related to a Ef—EEREBHZE
development project W kI 14 163,801 169,628
Right-of-use assets EHEEE 16 444,978 466,235
Interest in an associate R—EBE AR Z S 17 106,099 110,230
Interest in a joint venture R—EEEEEZETS 18 1,333,859 1,327,580
Goodwill (S 19 1,940 1,940
Other assets H&EE 20 3,997 3,997
Pledged bank deposits EBRMIRITER 25 30,811 -
39,074,069 EEEYRCIINT
Current assets WENEE
Inventories =8 12,256 11,312
Properties held for sale BFIEREZYE 21 282,234 582,409
Properties under development FEHEZERPWE
for sale 22 5,163,576 4,861,331
Trade and other receivables BEREMEWKRIE 23 546,451 471,528
Taxation recoverable B] iR [B] 73 18 4,965 7,417
Deposit in designated bank account MERMEFEBINIEE
for development properties IRITEREZEMR 24 9,628 9,885
Pledged bank deposits BIRMIEITER 25 311 66,187
Short-term bank deposits FHRITER 25 14,900 56,789
Bank balances and cash RITHBRIEE 25 1,479,449 2,311,133
7,513,770 8,377,991
Current liabilities pid BB
Trade and other payables B 5 K HAth FE 1 =R IE 26 916,465 801,982
Contract liabilities sH&aE 27 3,169 2,735
Amount due to an associate e — BB = A B I8 28 132,370 137,079
Amount due to a related company FE— MR EASIE 29 1,502,225 1,404,128
Amounts due to non-controlling M B AT 2 IEER
interests of subsidiaries g ] 30 39,523 39,523
Taxation payable FEfI 1R 18 54,890 97,098
Unsecured notes - due within one year BIRNREE ——FREH 31 299,950 867,963
Bank borrowings — due within one year RITEE — —FRNEH 32 6,426,360 7,803,510
Lease liabilities — due within one year HEaE - —FAEH 33 2,787 2,893
9,377,739 EERARLIX NI
Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF 75




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A RE

At 31 March 2024 }$20244F3531H

2024 2023
NOTES HK$’ 000 HKS 000
M 5% F&xT FET
Net current liabilities mENE BB (1,863,969) (2,778,920)
Total assets less current liabilities #FEER RKEBASE 37,210,100 39,971,144
Non-current liabilities JEREBERG
Unsecured notes — due after one EIKINEE — —F%38
year 31 79,893 379,351
Bank borrowings — due after one RITEE — —FR.EH
year 32 11,865,371 EEEIRIERLL
Lease liabilities — due after one year HEadE - —F&IH 33 30,699 33,041
Deferred taxation RIETRIE 34 1,686,995 1,800,942
13,662,958 14,162,822
Net assets EEFE 23,547,142 25,808,322
Capital and reserves Bk G
Share capital & 7 35 36,775 36,775
Reserves #E& 21,571,152 23,850,421
Equity attributable to owners KATIEB ARG ER
of the Company 21,607,927 23,887,196
Non-controlling interests JEERE R 1,939,215 1,921,126
Total equity e 23,547,142 25,808,322

BRBEEFR2BEMHBZHEEMBTREN
2024624 K EF G ERKET
BOWHTINEEAREE!

The consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 218 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
24 June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wong Chi Fai Fan Man Seung, Vanessa
REE e
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EFE EE

76 Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFREBRBREAR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e EnR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &t ZE20244#35 31 H 1F F &

RUNB3E4RIR 36,775 4,563,248  (120,039) 131,577 976,762 18,298,873 23,887,196 1,921,126 25,808,322

At L April 2023

(Loss) profit for the year EE(68) &N - - - - (2,046,666) (2,046,666) 18,089 (2,028,577)
Exchange differences arising BEBNEBMEL

on translation of foreign ERER:

operations:

- subsidiaries -HEBAT (206,875) - (206,875) - (206,875

- an associate -—-HBELT (3,787) - (3,78) - (3,78)
Total comprehensive (expense) ~ EE2EB(H%) KE

income for the year (210,662) - (2,046,666) (2,257,328) 18,089 (2,239,239)
Depreciation attributable to BEEERREENE

assets revaluation surplus 1,045 125 125
Transfer from retained profitsto~ BRGHNERTEEHE

legal reserve 13,151 (13,15]) - -
2023 final dividend paid BRABEXERE - - (13,033 (11,033) (11,033)
2024 interm dividend peid BENMERSRE . — (%) (1,033 (11,033
At 31 March 2024 14202430310 36,775 4,563,248  (330,701) 130,657 989,913 16,218,035 21,607,927 1,939,215 23,547,142

Emperor International Holdings Limited ZEEFREEBRSRAF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e EnR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

At 1 April 2022 #222%481H 3,75 4563248 556,042 132491 960213 20507039 26765814 2,001,689 28,767,503
Loss for the year EEFR - - - - — (2141983 (2141983 (59,603 (2,201,586)
Exchange differences arising BEBNEBMEL
on translation of foreign ERER:
operations:
- subsidiaries -HEAF - - (666,370 - - - (666,372 - (666,372
- an associate -—-RBEAT - - (9,709) - - - (9,709) - (9,709)
Total comprehensive expense EE2EHARX
forthe year - - (676,081 - — (2141983 (2818064 (59603 (2877667)
Depreciation attributable to BEERRRENE
assets revaluation surplus - - - (920) - 1,045 125 - 125
Acquisition of additional interests ~ WERBAR 2 EMER
in subsidiaries fnofe 3§) (H#38) - - - - 16,549 - 16,549 (20,960) [4.410)
2022 final dividend paid BRNNERBERE - - - - - (58841 (58,841 - (58,841)
2023 interim dividend paid BRABERERE - - - - - (18,387)  (18,387) - (18,387)
At 31 March 2023 #2023E3831H 775 4563248 (120039 13577 976762 18,298,873 23887196 1921126 25,808,302
Note: The other reserves of the Group arose from (i) acquisition of izt AEBMZ EMEELEG) WEIFEDE K
additional interests in non wholly-owned subsidiaries; (ii) dilution of BRBIZEEINES; (i) &M B QB &
interest in a subsidiary from allotment of shares by a subsidiary; (iii) BHOMSR &M B AR 2 WIS E; (i)
deemed capital contributions from owners of the Company; and (iv) KATEBEAZRELEEMESE; K(iv)
transfer of profits of subsidiaries outside Hong Kong pursuant to the EEBUIIWELATREEBEEMHtE >
legal requirements in the relevant places of registration. FEEBRBAZEFH
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SFEBEHER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &t ZE20244#35 31 H 1F F &

Operating activities
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:

Interest income

Interest expenses

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use
assets

Share of result of an associate

Share of result of a joint venture

REEE
RIS A 18
H R
FE WA
FMERX
ME KB RREZITE

EREEEZINE

DE—FHBEARDZER
DE—HEEREZEE

Fair value changes of investment REMELAARBEZED
properties
Write-downs of properties under FIEHEZERPMEZ
development for sale, net o — #ER
Write-downs of properties FIEHEZW % Z MR
held for sale
Impairment allowance recognised BREZREWREZRE
for trade receivables B
Reversal of impairment losses on MEKBRIREZHRE
property, plant and equipment B & E
Loss (gain) on disposal of HEME - KBRZEZ
property, plant and equipment B5 18 (K &)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BEWRBARZWE
Unrealised exchange loss REREREIE
Operating cash flows before Rt EESEFAZ
movements in working capital EERETRE
(Increase) decrease in inventories FEZGgm) R
Decrease in properties held for sale FIEHEZMEZR D
Increase in properties under FIEHEZERBPMEZIEM
development for sale
(Increase) decrease in trade and other BoREMEBKRRIEZ
receivables (38 on) ik >
Increase (decrease) in trade and other B hHEMEMRIEZ
payables & o0 Gk L)
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities &&&EZ 0 GRL)
Cash generated from operations RESEZRE
Income tax (paid) refund (EBBRERSESR
- in Macau Special — FRRMFNITHE
Administrative Region
- in Hong Kong Special —REBHFNTHE
Administrative Region
—in People’s Republic of China —RPEARENRA
~in United Kingdom —RER

Net cash from operating activities

REKEZHZHE PR

(2,086,359)

(50,278)
896,990

145,746

21,257
344
12,675

1,318,322
417,875
16,761
135

54

39,448

732,970
(944)
119,040

(357,917)
(78,440)

140,220
434

555,363

(636)

(3,683)
(7,088)
(8,251)

535,705

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
Annual Report 2023/2024 ££3

(2,299,228)

(40,733)
658,962

142,387
21,240
12,447

6,628
1,804,437
251,703
21,113
1,346
(31,781)
(1,258)

(212,069)
70,558

405,752
702
64,954

(184,636)
226,130

(67,586)
(8,294)

437,022

7,219
(1,354)
(5,765)

437,122
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SFEBEHER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

Investing activities REREY
Placement of short-term bank deposits FEHREHBITER (202,345) (79,153)
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEHREEBIRITER (31,490) (2,054)
Acquisition of property, plant and WEME KRR
equipment B4 (6,363) (26,567)
Acquisition of investment properties KWEREMERER
and costs incurred for investment PREYERMESE
properties under development Z A (5,138) (33,910)
Deposits paid on acquisition of W EME
investment properties/property, ME - HBREHE
plant and equipment iZftziE (1,196) (1,542)
Advance to a joint venture m—EaEEERN = (283,998)
Acquisition of partial interest of a joint WE—RHEEtEZ
venture BB 1 = (65,002)
Placement of deposit in designated MEBRMEEKRR
bank account for development BEERITRAZ
properties N (94)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE - HKER
plant and equipment REMISHRIE 90 1,788
Interest received W ER & B 30,061 30,825
Withdrawal of a pledged bank deposit RIN—EEEFRT
EE N 66,555 355
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEREMEMS
properties I 138,793 —
Withdrawal of short-term bank REVEHIRITEM
deposits 244,234 336,703
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries HEMBRBFE
RIE 37 1,943,165 1,831,671
Net cash from investing activities REKREEHZREFEE 2,176,366 1,709,022
Financing activities B E B
Bank borrowings raised MEEZRITHEE 7,357,765 5,655,336
Advances from a related company —HRERTZBR 842,682 737,875
Acquisition of additional interests in W BB Bt B A B 2 BB ob
subsidiaries 1 % 38 - (4,411)
Interest paid for lease liabilities XHTHEERHNE (1,237) (1,324)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEA®RE (2,448) (4,554)
Dividends paid to owners of the BARBAEBAZGZ
Company =) (22,066) (77,228)
Repayment to a related company BRFT—HBAEQRS (744,585) (1,035,074)
Redemption of unsecured notes BoEIEHER (868,553) (200,000)
Interest paid for financial liabilities TfRHEHMEaEHNE (1,246,969) (785,433)
Repayments of bank borrowings BERTEE (8,840,036) (5,348,745)
Net cash used in financing activities ARMEESHZREF5 (3,525,447) (1,063,558)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SEERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

2024 2023
HKS$’000 HKS 000
TER FHET
Net (decrease) increase in cash and RERREEEYZ
cash equivalents G 21) 18 10 7% 28 1,082,586
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning WR#®REHNZRE K
of the reporting period HEEEY 1,252,888
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EX&#Hz ¥ (24,341)
Cash and cash equivalents atend of the MIWBEHRZRER
reporting period, representing bank REEBEY > BRTT
balances and cash ERKRIRE 2,311,133
Emperor International Holdings Limited ZEEZEEERERBRAF] 81
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR EMTERRME

82

1. General Information

Emperor International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The Company’s immediate holding company
is Emperor International Group Holdings Limited, a limited
liability company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI”). The ultimate holding company of the Company is
Albert Yeung Holdings Limited (“AY Holdings”), a limited
liability company incorporated in the BVI which is in turn
held by First Trust Services AG, being the trustee of The
Albert Yeung Discretionary Trust (“AY Trust”), the settlor and
founder of which is Dr. Yeung Sau Shing, Albert (“Dr. Yeung”).
The address of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information and Key Dates” section to the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKS”), which is also the functional currency
of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 48.

1. —fREH

HEEBRERBRABDTEAT)RN
BREAMRLAZBRBERAR >
HRNEEBMEXBZFMBRAE
(BRI ERLET - ARBZEHIE
ERAFDAREBERERIERER
REMEBERHEE(HB R X
E)EMEIZLZERAR) XAF
ZRBRERABDABEREEZER
ERRAB(GEREEZER —MF
REBERESHMMIZERA
8]) > M= Al E F TR B The Albert
Yeung Discretionary Trust (TAY Trust, »
% 18 (518 1) BAY Trust Z
ZE ARAIILAN) Z %55 AFirst Trust
Services AGHi B o AR T MW E AR
REBEEMB 2 MU R AFERRD
BEMREEZRI—HKE -

REMBREDUBT(ETNA
KATZINAEEE) 2] °

ARAB A —EREERAR HMN
BRABIZEEXZFHHMNMEELS -

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEEEREBBREAF
Annual Report 2023/2024 £




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

2. Application of New and Amendments

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual
periods beginning on 1 April 2023 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and
February 2022 Amendments
to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement2  Policies

Excepted as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 8
Definition of Accounting Estimates

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time
in the current year. The amendments define accounting
estimates as “monetary amounts in financial statements that
are subject to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting
policy may require items in financial statements to be
measured in a way that involves measurement uncertainty.
In such a case, an entity develops an accounting estimate
to achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy.
The amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates, and changes in accounting
policies and the correction of errors.

The application of the amendments in the current year had
no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
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ST
"lﬂll'
IEH
i

&

PN I
o
T

X4 S 3

P

I
= fi 3
WS T

2

2 [ B 2 R
EETE AN SRS LA
REFE > ZXEBEERER T
ERGSMAE(EBEHMARE))
Bz I REEBITETBMBERS
ZH> HR2023F4818 AL 2 &
EHEEtES UGN REME
R
EEMBERSENE FREBREH

1T5R (BB B M

REZERBITHR

20204108 %2022

F2RMEST)
BB ERFE GEEZES

b4 )
EBGHENELN HE-IXZPE

Z1E5T T2E8ERE

RAEMZIEL
1B

EEGHENELR BERRHNE

pAH) — X%

&R

EREHERNFIRK G HRKE

BEMHREEL

BERBEHABIRZ

1g35]

PR IXFRitES  RAFERBN
BREEITEBVHBRSENHAE
EEREAEERBEFEZMHBMNK
MERRER,/ A2EREaMBRR
FRESZMBETEEATE -

EREEEERFSRZIEITEE
BHZERBHZE
FEBERTFEEREAZFE
Ao RFEIRGHEFERAIY
BRRAEEAFETHREENEE
TR F A BUR AT BE B R MUK e Bt
EFfEEMNAAGFERFTRSE
WEB ZEHEBERT BEEHWNES

UEBEREGSABRAHEER -
Z st ERBERZ BT E B
LA EHAGHBRREPRIERE
EZBERNER -

REAFEERBAZEBIHGEMH
BRUEBERAZLE -

83




For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR EMTERRME

84

2. Application of New and Amendments

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“H KFRSS”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 12
Income Taxes International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year. HKAS 12 is amended to add the
exception to recognising and disclosing information about
deferred tax assets and liabilities that are related to tax
law enacted or substantively enacted to implement the
Pillar Two model rules published by the Organisation for
Economic Co-operation and Development (the “Pillar
Two legislation”). The amendments require that entities
apply the amendments immediately upon issuance and
retrospectively. The amendments also require that entities
to disclose separately its current tax expense/income related
to Pillar Two income taxes in periods which the Pillar Two
legislation is in effect, and the qualitative and quantitative
information about its exposure to Pillar Two income taxes
in periods in which the Pillar Two legislation is enacted
or substantially enacted but not yet in effect in annual
reporting periods beginning on 1 April 2023 with respect to
the Group.

The Group is yet to apply the temporary exception during
the current year because the Group’s entities are operating
in jurisdictions which the Pillar Two legislation has not
yet been enacted or substantially enacted. The Group
will disclose known or reasonably estimable information
that helps users of financial statements to understand the
Group’s exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in the Group’s
annual consolidated financial statements when the Pillar
Two legislation is enacted or substantially enacted and will
disclose separately current tax expense/income related to
Pillar Two income taxes when it is in effect.

AEe R
HHRSEN(EER
#5885 E 1))

FE 55 5l 2 3% 2 7 18 B
BEIJEFEMBERSEN @

ERAEBEAERFI125 2 IE5TFF
FREFERALE - SHZTER
Ay &
FEBENRTEFEEREAZFE
e BB EFERNBIREEET
MAEDRKREERELREEE
RBBRERNBINER ZFER
BEABEMSESFRERAMMEM
WX RERAIZHEZEFNM
MHENBEERGNRNEZAR ZF
EIREBERBANRTIEREEKEN
BRZEE] ZFEITTERE
RROMNKRERIE AN ENAE
XHEZFEREMNERRERX
S DA R 3% B8R S 2 Ak K 5 18
fih 5 B E 98 5 1B W R 1020235F 481
HRGNAEBRFERSHBEN
WEE ARXE_MIBRERN

+
H
g
B

MR AEEEENHARBMHNEE
LHEMGXEZEFNBEEAREESE
WA 5 B R 7 F E K R A ER B O
ShER BT EGIEMNEE
BMmE AEBRELAERFEELR
EMBHERRPAKREENHSEMES
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MAEEERNIE_FMER > I
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

2. Application of New and Amendments

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“H KFRSs’ ) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

(continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process”
to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to
the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions performance
but has affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting
policies set out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.

2. &
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o BRBEHERMNFINMBERERRZ
EEET  UMERGSHBRER
WAFRAIEZ G5 BR] - &5
RENEERMBRRAFEAME
H—HEZE I SEFHREETE
BRMBERERNIEZEAEREZ
FEMBREFHORE IR E5
HREMBEK °

o

d

ZEEITESFEFHRENTAE
HEEAR S« HthE FHIE 4%
EMBEXR MESELAREKN-
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EHARNEMOEFHRENE
BBEXR - HMEREZERBEFE
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2. Application of New and Amendments 2. ﬁm%ﬁiﬂé&ﬂ 5] /8
to Hong Kong Financial Reporting HEBREEN(TEBH
¢ 4 =
Standards (“HKFRSs’ ) (continued) RS ENI)®
Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet CBlEmERREKZEERE
effective FEAMBHREE
The Group has not early applied the following amendments AEBETRREEABUTEREME
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective: HMREBZREITESBUBEREGE
A
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between ERMBERSENEIONR REEHHKEAT
HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint EREOHENFENREL FEELERZ
Venture! &3] ﬁétﬂglﬁiﬁf
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback? ERNBREENFIN: ERMEDZHAEEE®
5]
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current EREHEANBINZE] RERIEARDY
or Non-current and related FERBUKREER
amendments to Hong Kong BE5%(20208) 2
Interpretation 5 (2020)2 BB
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants? EREHERBINZET MELENER
& ff
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements? EREHERRIRREE MHEBIRERH
HKFRS 7 MBERSENETRZ
5]
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability® EREHERBNRZET RZARHBMN
I Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be VD O REFETHSS 2B EERME
determined. %o
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024. 2 R2024F1B 1Bz BHRZEERE
%o
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. P R2025F1B 1Bz BHRZEERE
PR
Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the BRI XFitz HEBMBRS ZERE
directors of the Company (“Directors”) anticipate that the I ARBEE(ERNEHRER
application of all other amendments to HKFRSs will have no FREEMEBMBREENEITN
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in ARBRAEHEEMBERER]EMN
the foreseeable future. ERTEo
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2. Application of New and Amendments 2. [§

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“H KFRSS”) (continued)
Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-current and related amendments

to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and additional
guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement for
at least twelve months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the
option of the counterparty, result in its settlement by
the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current
or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation.

e specify that the classification of liabilities as current
or non-current should be based on rights that are in
existence at the end of the reporting period. Specifically,
the amendments clarify that the classification
should not be affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within twelve months.

For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date which are conditional on the compliance
with covenants, the requirements introduced by the 2020
Amendments have been modified by the 2022 Amendments.
The 2022 Amendments specify that only covenants with
which an entity is required to comply with on or before the
end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the
reporting date. Covenants which are required to comply with
only after the reporting period do not affect whether that
right exists at the end of the reporting period.
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2. Application of New and Amendments

to Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“H KFRSS”) (continued)
Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities

as Current or Non-current and related amendments

to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020
Amendments”) and Amendments to HKAS 1
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (continued)

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify the disclosure
requirements about information that enables users of
financial statements to understand the risk that the liabilities
could become repayable within twelve months after the
reporting period, if an entity classifies liabilities arising from
loan arrangements as non-current when the entity’s right to
defer settlement of those liabilities is subject to the entity
complying with covenants within twelve months after the
reporting period.

The 2022 Amendments also defer the effective date of
applying the 2020 Amendments to annual reporting periods
beginning on 1 April 2024 with respect to the Group. The
2022 Amendments, together with the 2020 Amendments,
are effective for the Group’s annual reporting periods
beginning on 1 April 2024 with respect to the Group, with
early application permitted. If an entity applies the 2020
Amendments for an earlier period after the issue of the
2022 Amendments, the entity should also apply the 2022
Amendments for that period.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 March
2024, the application of the 2020 and 2022 Amendments will
not result in reclassification of the Group’s liabilities as at 31
March 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. GaMBHERRZENE
Financial Statements and Material EREXEGHBEEH
Accounting Policy Information
3.1Basis of preparation of consolidated BEEAMBHRRZENEE

financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

311 Going concern

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the going concern basis which assumes
the continuity of normal business activity and the
realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities
in the normal course of business. Management
continues to closely monitor the liquidity position
of the Group to ensure adequate liquidity is
maintained.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HKS$1,864 million.
The Group’s current liabilities amounted to
HKS$9,378 million, out of which HKS6,426 million
represented the current portion of bank borrowings.
The liquidity of the Group is primarily dependent
on its ability to maintain adequate operating cash
inflows and sufficient financing to meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due.

HEMBERERDREER G
MAGEmzEBYBREE
AMARS - MR REESHBRRE

SO ERPENERE
TEFEREFREZRE > AR
BERBEZ - IS REMBR
REEERMEREMAERS
AESF MR EHRA) R
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£ o

] IFAEEE
BB RREBREBELS
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EERREE K LB
REFAENRBESE -

12024538318 0 & &
NBERBEBHEHRIEE
1,864,000,0007% 7T - A £ &
19 7t & & 1§ 49,378,000,000
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. FaMBHERRZENE
Financial Statements and Material EREAGHBEEH
Accounting Policy Information (#)

(continued)
3.1Basis of preparation of consolidated BUFEMBHRRZENEE
financial statements (continued) (4

1l BEEEE

311 Going concern (continued)

The Directors have given careful consideration to
the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of financing in assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The following plans and measures are formulated to
manage the Group’s liquidity risk and improve the
Group’s financial position:

e The Group has good track records and
relationship with banks which would enhance
the Group’s ability on restructuring its
borrowing facilities. The Group will continue
to monitor its compliance of financial
covenants of the Group’s bank borrowings and
is confident that sufficient financing can be
arranged from the refinancing or renewal of
bank borrowings upon or before the maturity
date.

e The Group expects to continue to enhance its
liquidity and operating cash flows for the next
twelve months from sales of properties and
rentals from investment properties.

In addition, the Group will explore opportunities
to identify certain investment properties for
raising new borrowing facilities or seeking for sale
in the market to improve its liquidity position, if
necessary.

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash
flow forecasts prepared by management of the
Group, which cover a period of not less than twelve
months from 31 March 2024. Taking into account
of the plans and measures as described above, the
Directors are of the opinion that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to maintain its operations
and to pay its financial obligations as and when
they fall due for at least twelve months from the end
of the reporting period. The Directors are satisfied
that it is appropriate to prepare these consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.
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Financial Statements and Material £ | §

Accounting Policy Information (#)

(continued)

3.1Basis of preparation of consolidated BAFEMBHRRZENEE
financial statements (continued) (4)

il IFERAEE (5B)

311 Going concern (continued)

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainty
exists as to whether sufficient financing can be
arranged from the refinancing or renewal of bank
borrowings and operating cash flows generated
from the sales of properties depending on the
market condition. Should the Group be unable to
operate as a going concern, adjustments might
have to be made to write down the carrying
values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable
amounts, to reclassify its non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities respectively, or to make provision for
any contractual commitments that have become
onerous, where appropriate.

312 Basis of Preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
investment properties which are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange for goods and
services.

For investment properties which are transacted
at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure
fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the
transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:
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(continued)

3.1Basis of preparation of consolidated BUFEMBHRRZENEE
financial statements (continued) (#
312 Basis of Preparation (continued) i EREE(E)

e Level 1inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in e FIRMWAHEBAER
active markets for identical assets or liabilities A EBHHAREETIS
that the entity can access at the measurement AIURGEHRAEESE
date; BZHRECKKERAE) ;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted e FEMBRWMAHBEBAME
prices included within Level 1, that are EBEEEIEET
observable for the asset or liability, either B2 ABEGELR
directly or indirectly; and NEEZRERN) ;&

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the e FEIMRWMAHMEBABE
asset or liability. NEBBEZEEIREHA

Bk o
3.2Material accounting policy information 32EXEHEER
Basis of consolidation iESEEEE
The consolidated financial statements incorporate b= AR R A IE RN T KA

the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;
e isexposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEEEREBBREAF
Annual Report 2023/2024 £

AEEHZzER(KREWERXE)
ZHBHRE MEEFIEEELS
nE:

EREHREHR,

=
oo
ZIN

WAERRAEZEEN, &
FEMERENKRENRZE
HEHMDOR -
HWEEFEXBERBERLHE=18
EHRZRP > A—EHIULHE
Y > FEETERIGEERS
ERREHR -

FEBRERSHEQEEFE
R EBARGRE AR LK
EMBRABEHEREILRS
AfR- BEMS > ZFEWRBER
HEWBABD ZBARSIHE
RAEEBERFESEE B E
AZERmkEMEENRE R
EEFAEBEHZWEB AR Z &
HERIEERSILE -




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

Hi
=

B
4

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. s

Financial Statements and Material

T 3
b

k]
EX

o

2 4R
R

Accounting Policy Information (#)

(continued)

3.2Material accounting policy information B2EKEHBESEH®
(continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued) FEREEE(E)
Profit or loss is attributed to the owners of the BahBERARIEREAR
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total FEREFE - MBARZZEA
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to Kz ER AR HER AKRIE
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling ERED > BIMEILLREERIFE
interests even if this results in the non-controlling fig 1 HH IR A AL A BR o

interests having a deficit balance.

HMErEBRRERRZ Z
LAEHEERGR %

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions

Eﬁ
JEI

S Bk i
R

between members of the Group are eliminated in full on WA CBEZRBEEREHERN
consolidation. A IRE R IR -
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented FPRBABS ZIFERED B A
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which EEMEZEGEIHE®R > His
represent present ownership interests entitling their REEE#EED BT E AR
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the F 52 7F 28 By ¥ LB ) 9 1 A8 RA B
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation. BRBRZFEE -

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing FTEBRRENBREIEEE
subsidiaries HZEH

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that SEBENNBRAEDHEEN#E S
do not result in the Group losing control over the ZEHUNTEERAERHEH
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. TRERE BIEEDZRZ A
The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant AR o NEE A AERIE D R IFIE
components of equity and the non-controlling interests REZZEAEIFTURAE XU
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative [z BR 1% 5 1% MY B A B A8 B =
interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution 2E8F > aEREBERNERKRIFE
of relevant reserves between the Group and the RiETZmEZBANERLLLGE
non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and WEBERAEETRE -

the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the FERESZABEESEEMM
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value MR AREBzZRAARABEZ F"ﬂ E’J
of the consideration paid or received is recognised R ELER BN E D RS
directly in equity and attributed to owners of the RBRARBEBA -
Company.
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Accounting Policy Information (#)
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information 32EKEHBEER 2
(continued)
Changes in the Group’s interests in existing TEBRRENBLREIEERE
subsidiaries (continued) B#2ZEH(E)
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets M EBLEN B AT ZTH %

and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the
Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income (“OCI”) in relation to that
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
to another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs).

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or group of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
longer than an operating segment.
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(continued)

3.2Material accounting policy information B2EKEHBESEH®
(continued)
Goodwill (continued) BE (B
A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating BEESEBENREEEEN
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested (HIREELE B UHR) S F S
for impairment annually or more frequently when ENRETEREMTEEER
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For REREERMETRERNR o
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, MREREANNWEBMREEN
the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating HEMS  EEPEBENRE
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for EXBUEREELEMHER)
impairment before the end of that reporting period. If R EHRERAETRERNR o
the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, MeA i EEEENEKREE A
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the B g 7R E B UHNRE
carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the other HAEHENREE HEBREE
assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount fI(HREEEEMUAHAIN ANEE
of each asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating ER AR E L f &R E & 1B
units). Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised DEEEMEE - EREEBHE
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised BEYEENEZRAES - &
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. ERIAZABEEEFAENRHER

HARE # 8] -

Investments in an associate and a joint venture BHRELAGRSELEZRE
An associate is an entity over which the Group has MERA A —BMAEEHHEE
significant influence. Significant influence is the power BFEATENZER EARE
to participate in the financial and operating policy NWHEEZEKLERRZHH
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint T 88 & B R R E M Ik 5 & 5 £
control over those policies. E4EH Z F R o
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the AECERE—EHSTHE &
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have I MLZHEER L FEERI# 25T
rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement. Joint NWEHBERHZEEFESE
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of BN - HEZHIZHERREBESHN
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about HEHEBEZHEMRMEBTNES
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the > HEEZEHEZEHMEHE
parties sharing control. REAEZFEFEZZEFEH

—BRAEZREREFRE
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Investments in an associate and a joint venture
(continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of an associate and
a joint venture are incorporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. The financial statements of associates and
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are
prepared using uniform accounting policies as those
of the Group for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share
of the profit or loss and OCI of the associate or joint
venture.

aS

)

s

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is
accounted for using the equity method from the date
on which the investee becomes an associate or a
joint venture. On acquisition of the investment in an
associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost of the
investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee
is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit
or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate or a joint
venture may be impaired. When any objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Acquisition of additional interest in a joint venture
When the Group increases its ownership interest in
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the
equity method, goodwill is recognised at acquisition
date if there is excess of the consideration paid over
the share of carrying amount of net assets attributable
to the additional interests in joint ventures acquired.
Any excess of share of carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in joint ventures
acquired over the consideration paid are recognised in
the profit or loss in the period in which the additional
interest are acquired.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the
parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation
in accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the
particular assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. FaMBHERRZENE
Financial Statements and Material EREXESHHBERH
Accounting Policy Information (#)

(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information 32EXEHHEREH @
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one
of the following criteria is met:

KEEFSHZHA (B
ERER—-REERNERE > [E
BT HP—EFES > IWARKS
REFABNEEZTNEE ¥
— B By ) P B0

e the customer simultaneously receives and s EFANRAEBEREARERIK
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s NRFEAAEERBAOMTER

performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group

ZH

s FEFEMNBHUELEHRA—
HEE MZxBEENRLKE

performs; or BEREARBEEPES ;K
e the Group’s performance does not create an asset s AEFERBEALEBELHAE
with an alternative use to the Group and the BEEEBRARZEE MA
Group has an enforceable right to payment for EETZFRFINITES
performance completed to date. MNKWRES ExRHRBHNEE
ZRIE °

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct good
or service.

BRI WMARERESERER
B B 75 BY 42 ) 4 By 5T o

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation EHNEBRELAEERETERHER
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which HmXRFZEE > MAERR
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of ttE2m%E A U EAE (S E 2 A
consideration is due) from the customer. AU B EERE) °

Contracts with multiple performance obligations BEZHENET(BIFTEX

(including allocation of transaction price) SEREH

For contracts that contain more than one performance ﬁﬁ’\‘@,ﬁ—ﬂ“ UMEZRBHNEE
obligations including bundle sales for hotel (8 45 78 I5 (£ 75 AY 30 40 85 & LU &
accommodation and food and beverage, the Group BN EHN AEEKRBHEY
allocates the transaction price to each performance BINEBEE  RXZEED
obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. BEEEBNEE -

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or EENEETZERE AR
service underlying each performance obligation is BzZEREEBNRENTILEE
determined at contract inception. It represents the E-EHREBAXERERILIN
price at which the Group would sell a promised good or ERFHERFERIRBZE
service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone selling BomMEREBLAEZHERA
price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it B AAXEEEFEHASENRKD
using appropriate techniques such that the transaction B URZARBRSEDE
price ultimately allocated to any performance obligation ERABEHNEE URBRAKE
reflects the amount of consideration to which the Group EHNERAXLEREIRBE
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the ZEPFMAERBENNKESE -

promised goods or services to the customer.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Over time revenue recognition: measurement

of progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on output
method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative to the
remaining services promised under the contract, that
best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects
of the time value of money if the timing of payments
agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the
customer or the Group with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains
a significant financing component. For contracts where
the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised property or service exceeds
one year, the transaction price is adjusted for the effects
of a financing component, if significant, and is included
in contract liabilities before the transfer of the promised
property or services. A significant financing component
may exist regardless of whether the promise of financing
is explicitly stated in the contract or implied by the
payment terms agreed to by the parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than
one year, the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the transaction price for any significant
financing component.
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aS

#

Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information (#)
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Revenue recognition

Sale of properties is recognised at a point in time
when control of the completed properties is delivered
to buyers. The Group receives deposit from buyers
when they sign the sale and purchase agreement.
The deposits received from the contracts prior to
meeting the above criteria for revenue recognition are
recognised as contract liabilities.

The Group provides services to a gaming concessionaire
in Macau Special Administrative Region (“Macau”)
under service arrangements for gaming operation in
mass market hall, VIP room and slot machine hall.
The performance obligation represents provision of
gaming-related marketing and public relation services
to the gaming concessionaire. Revenue from such
services are recognised as a performance obligation
satisfied over time as the Group is entitled to receive
its service income according to the relevant operating
performance from the gaming concessionaire which
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs.

The Group also provides hotel rooms to customers. The
performance obligation represents provision of hotel
accommodation services for customers. Revenue from
hotel rooms is recognised as a performance obligation
satisfied over time as the Group is entitled to receive its
income according to the relevant operating performance
from the customers and the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group performs.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

The transaction price of food and beverage sales is
the net amount collected from the customers for such
goods. The transaction price for such transactions is
recorded as revenue when the goods are transferred to
the customer. There is no other separate performance
obligation identified except for delivery of goods. The
revenue on food and beverage sales is recognised as
revenue when the food and beverage are delivered.

The Group has other contracts that include multiple
goods and services, such as packages that bundle food
and beverage and other services with hotel stays. For
such arrangements, the Group allocates revenue to each
good or service based on its relative stand-alone selling
price. The Group primarily determines the stand-alone
selling price of hotel rooms and food and beverage
based on the amount that the Group charges when each
is sold separately in similar circumstances to similar
customers.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation including
investment properties under development for such
purposes.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at fair values, adjusted to exclude any
prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for
the period in which they arise.
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Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information (#)
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Investment properties (continued)

Construction costs incurred for investment properties
under development are capitalised as part of the
carrying amount of the investment properties under
development.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
including buildings that are held for use in the supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost or
deemed cost upon transfer from investment properties,
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets”
in the consolidated statement of financial position
except for those that are classified and accounted for as
investment properties under the fair value model. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in
the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or
deemed cost of items of property, plant and equipment
less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight line method. The estimated
useful lives, residual values and depreciation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with
the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

If a property becomes an investment property because its
use has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation,
any difference between the carrying amount and the fair
value of that item (including the relevant leasehold land
classified as right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is
recognised in OCl and accumulated in revaluation reserve.
On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the
relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained profits.
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Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information (#)
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. For investment properties under development
and properties under development for sale, the Group
ceases to capitalise borrowing costs as soon as the
properties are ready for the Group’s intended use or
sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation
of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from
business combinations, the Group assesses whether a
contract is or contains a lease based on the definition
under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or
acquisition date, as appropriate. Such contract will not
be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the
contract are subsequently changed.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative
stand-alone price of the lease component and
the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components including contract for acquisition of
ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components,
unless such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group also applies practical expedient not to
separate non-lease components from lease component,
and instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of leasehold land and buildings and
motor vehicles that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of
the initial measurement of the lease liability.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the
lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
Annual Report 2023/2024 3%k

) il 5
¥ ob

B

H

)

Hi
=

o
=

B

k]
EX 4

o

2 4R
R
)

S2EXKEHEEER @

#HE (&

7k 5 3 1F 75 A TN
BRESRESHERID
MESHEANSBIUR—E
NZIEBIHINEENIFHEHK
BRzEHOMS > AEEREA
BEHERBOZHENBIERR
ERIFVEEARBDZEE
VEREERGNRKEBOEE
BEHAEENB D (BEWREY
XZ(EaHEIHRIFEHEETF
M) BEEREZZEX) BRI
FREGEETAMIK -

FEBTHRNATEERE A
ERIFAERDPRBEER DD
F > M i & 2 99 K R R AE R BY
FEHERDERE—HERD
ABR e

FEHATHE

HREHBEMAKBBEBES A2
BEESXUANBEFESEEERE
ENHEL M REBF RSEMH
E-ASEERIESHHERIER
%o FMHAHENHEMBEEZE
NI ER A HMAR R EHES
ABX o

o E
ERAREEZRABEEESR
BZMPFAEZE-

ERAREEEMAREERR
sHITERMERBEE > WLl
EEENERERSAEFLH

B o

ERAREECEGLAIERER
HAMmEANENHEANRE
RRASHIRITE -

FERERGEMBRRREE
AREEEEI~A—EERER -

105



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sFaMERRMsE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated

106

3. &%
#

aS

Financial Statements and Material

a
;-

=

wr
=

B

k]
EX S

=
2412

Z iR
BT

Accounting Policy Information (#)

(continued)

3.2Material accounting policy information 32EKEHBEER 2
(continued)
Leases (continued) e (&
The Group as a lessee (continued) FEFEAEBA (B
Lease liabilities HE&E

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in
the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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Accounting Policy Information (#)

(continued)

3.2Material accounting policy information 32EXEHHEERER @
(continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs
are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties
measured under fair value model. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as income when they arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s
ordinary course of business are presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to allocate
consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease
components. Non-lease components are separated
from lease component on the basis of their relative
stand-alone selling prices.
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Accounting Policy Information (#)
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units to which the corporate asset belongs, and is
compared with the carrying amount of the relevant
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets other than goodwill (see the
accounting policy in respect of goodwill above)
(continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of cash-generating
units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal
(if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit
or a group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Accounting Policy Information
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information
(continued)
Inventories
Catering goods
Catering goods are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

)

s

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are completed properties and
are classified as current assets. Except for the leasehold
land element which is measured at cost model in
accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-use
assets, properties held for sale are carried at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on
a specific identification basis including allocation of the
related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for the
properties less costs necessary to make the sales. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Inventories (continued)

Properties under development for sale

Properties under development for sale in the
ordinary course of business are classified as current
assets. Except for the leasehold land element which
is measured at cost model in accordance with the
accounting policies of right-of-use assets, properties
under development for sale are carried at the lower
of cost (or deemed cost for those transferred from
investment properties) and net realisable value.
Costs relating to the development of the properties
include land cost, construction cost and other direct
development expenditure. Cost is determined on a
specific identification basis including allocation of the
related development expenditure incurred and where
appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for the
properties less estimated cost to completion and costs
necessary to make the sales. Costs necessary to make
the sale include incremental costs directly attributable
to the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group
must incur to make the sale.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to
properties held for sale upon completion.

The Group transfers a property from properties under
development for sale to investment property when there
is a change in use to hold the property to earn rentals
or/and for capital appreciation rather than for sale in
the ordinary course of business, which is evidenced by
the inception of an operating lease to another party.
Any difference between the fair value of the property at
the date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in profit or loss.
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Accounting Policy Information (#)
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments. All regular way purchases or sales
of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.
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Accounting Policy Information (#)

(continued)

3.2Material accounting policy information B2EKEHBESEH®
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) EHITRE)
The effective interest method is a method of calculating ERMNXEZIZE—RETHMBABHRA
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial NARGHEERMEENETME
liability and of allocating interest income and interest BzE#HEA AU KRR B
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest WAKRFNBEEZZHZE - BEF
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future XEZREMEEIETMAER
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and st FHF(MER)REHAMBZ
points paid or received that form an integral part of EHARBEETRARAKRGR(EIE
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other BRERMNZXERELONMEA
premiums or discounts) through the expected life ENHERERREE - XZ M
of the financial asset or financial liability or, where 7S R H 5 (8 5K 37 38) #5 B AL 3R
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount EEREINEREFEZME -

on initial recognition.

Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are RETIHRHEzesMEEHR

subsequently measured at amortised cost: HEIHN A E !

e the financial asset is held within a business model s KFAEZMEEZEREAR
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows; NAEKERENRERE &
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to s BHMHFRRNIEEBHHEL
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and EatNrEsRAkEBESRSE
interest on the principal amount outstanding. HABZIRERE
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(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information 32EKEHBEER 2
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) EHMITRGE)
Financial assets (continued) M EE ()
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial il B 72 %

assets (continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see
below). For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no
longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the
asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets
(including receivables related to a development
project, amount due from a joint venture, trade and
other receivables, deposit in designated bank account
for development properties, pledged bank deposits,
short-term bank deposits and bank balances), and other
items (financial guarantee contracts) which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
(“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessments are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises a lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should
be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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Accounting Policy Information (#)
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information 32EKEHBEER 2
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) EHMITRGE)
Financial assets (continued) THE E ( )

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that
the Group becomes a party to the irrevocable
commitment is considered to be the date of
initial recognition for the purposes of assessing
impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group considers the changes in
the risk that the specified debtor will default on the
contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk and revises
them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Accounting Policy Information (#)

(continued)

3.2Material accounting policy information B2EKEHBESEH®
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) EHITRE)
Financial assets (continued) THE E ( )

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject

to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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Accounting Policy Information (#)

(continued)

3.2Material accounting policy information 32EKEHBEER 2
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) EHMITRGE)
Financial assets (continued) THE E ( )

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when
the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data and forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows
used for determining the ECL is consistent with the
cash flows used in measuring the lease receivable in
accordance with HKFRS 16.
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Impairment of financial assets and other items subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

v) (%EHH **Es'fza%&aﬁ@
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(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms
of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the ECL is the present value of the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss
that it incurs less any amounts that the Group
expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or
any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which
the effective interest rate cannot be determined,
the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects
the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash
flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks
are taken into account by adjusting the discount
rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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Accounting Policy Information (#)
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information 32EKEHBEER 2
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) EHMITRGE)
Financial assets (continued) =M EE ()

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
amount(s) due to an associate/a related company/
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries, unsecured
notes and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (continued)

For the amounts due to non-controlling interests of
subsidiaries and amounts due to a related company,
if the Group revises its estimates of the timing of
repayments, the carrying amounts are adjusted to
reflect the revised estimated cash flows. Where the
modifications of financial liabilities are non-substantial,
the Group recalculates the carrying amounts by
computing the present value of estimated future cash
flows at the balance’s original effective interest rate. The
difference is adjusted as deemed capital contribution
by the non-controlling interests and the owners of the
Company in equity.

Financial guarantee contracts

Afinancial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payments when due in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee
contracts issued by the Group are measured initially at
their fair values and, if not designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, are subsequently measured at the
higher of:

e the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

e the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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Accounting Policy Information (#)
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information 32EKEHBEER 2
(continued)
Financial instruments (continued) EHMITRGE)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued) THEERED (&)
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities TRl B EEHE &35

(continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are
modified, the Group assess whether the revised terms
result in a substantial modification from original terms
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment
is not conclusive, the Group considers that the terms
are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fee paid net of any fees received, and discounted
using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10
per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial
liability. Accordingly, such modification of terms is
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on
the extinguishment. The exchange or modification is
considered as non-substantial modification when such
difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities
that do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount
of the relevant financial liabilities will be calculated
at the present value of the modified contractual cash
flows discounted at the financial liabilities’ original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred
are adjusted to the carrying amount of the modified
financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining
term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the
date of modification.
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Accounting Policy Information (#)
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information B2EKEHBESEH®

(continued)

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank BERFALTEENWRBIEHR

deposits TR~

Bank balances and cash and pledged bank deposits 75\ HREMBRAKRETNIERT

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposits HHREREEURBERIBITHE

presented on the consolidated statement of financial %’K@E:

position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and () RE  HEEFEREKRE
demand deposits, excluding bank balances that are HER FTEEZEERS
subject to regulatory restrictions that result in such MENARERIBNAIR
balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; TEERMNRITHER, &
and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (b) REZXEY HBFEEHGA
(generally with original maturity of three months BERIBFHA=ZE@EANE
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily - EEERAENH
convertible to a known amount of cash and which HRTEEEEHRAMB T K
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in NERBMKRE -
value.

(c) Pledged bank deposits, which comprise of (c) BIEFHIRITENR  HEBEHR
restricted deposits arising from requirement under MEEEEHETRNRE
the New Gaming Concession Contract that are held mEFEimEREAREHKEN
for meeting short-term cash commitments. Cash RHEMER REEBYE
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting EmBHEEAREAE > MIE
short-term cash commitments rather than for ARiESHHMBERN -
investment or other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of Et??éfﬁé}ﬁii'%ﬁ'ﬁ% » WE R

cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of bank RELEEBYERBTER KRR

balances and cash. & o

Taxation wE

Income tax expense represents the sum of the current FRiSMBAZIERN I RIEIEFT 1S

and deferred income tax (credit) expense. MOEER)BEZZ4EM -

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit FEERNKRERBEFEFERR

for the year. Taxable profit differs from loss before MEF st H o BRIEF ERR

taxation because of income or expense that are taxable AIBEAER  REAERREF
or deductible in other years and items that are never TERAAREMEERRRN
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current AMNRZKE > ZIRESTAKIE
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted BARMRATHNHZIER ° &
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting EEABHREEERNEK
period. HHARERNITHEE LEWTT

ZIHEFH -
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Accounting Policy Information (#)
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, interest in an associate and interest
in a joint venture, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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Accounting Policy Information (#)

(continued)

3.2Material accounting policy information B2EKEHBESEH®
(continued)
Taxation (continued) RIE (B
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed BEIEMEBEEEZREAERER
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to FHREBR LR ABrIEES
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient BHMERMEF UK E 2B
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the B8 B = R R URL ©
asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the BELEHEBEEERGHEREHRN
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in EEaGEHEREEZHBERE
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, AREBEENRBRSHARER
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted THEBRLERTZRE(ERR
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting E)MEE)STE
period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets BIEREBEEEREEZFER
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from PRACE B AR S BARK P TE HA UK
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of O EEEEEREBENERR
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying BZARAMELEZRBER -
amount of its assets and liabilities.
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for MERAAARBERAHENR
investment properties that are measured using the fair BEYEMS > 2t EHELZERIE
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties B ZEMENREENDLRSEZE
are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, T2 EBHEWEFRZERS
unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is WM c EREYETT LR
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable ERNBERBEMIIFEZEBEE
and is held within a business model whose objective FREEREVEMIBKRE
is to consume substantially all of the economic IREBENEAEREZEHERA
benefits embodied in the investment property over A AILEBEZ®EE - HERH
time, rather than through sale. If the presumption is BREEE ZEREVWENE
rebutted, deferred tax for such investment properties EMBARBE LSRN ETES
are measured in accordance with the above general SHEREI2SEAMIERIE B E 5
principles set out in HKAS 12 Income Taxes (“HKAS £ Bl 55125%1) 89 — A% ZE A (BP 1R
12”) (i.e. based on the expected manner as to how the BaZEMEZFERAKE S X) st
properties will be recovered). so
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Accounting Policy Information (#)
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either:

(a) the same taxable entity; or

(b) different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
OCl or directly in equity, in which case, the current and
deferred tax are also recognised in OCI or directly in
equity respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the
Group’s operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. HKS) using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case
the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in OCl and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR EMTERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

3. Basis of Preparation of Consolidated 3. &%

128

aS

#

Financial Statements and Material

Accounting Policy Information (#)
(continued)
3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the
fair value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with
a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the
revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects
the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment
to the share option reserve. For share options that vest
immediately at the date of grant, the fair value of the
share options granted is expensed immediately to profit
or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sra M ERRMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

3.

Basis of Preparation of Consolidated
Financial Statements and Material
Accounting Policy Information
(continued)

3.2Material accounting policy information

(continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual leave
and sick leave) after deducting any amount already
paid.

Critical Accounting Judgements
and Key Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Directors are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting
policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR EMTERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

4, Critical Accounting Judgements

130

and Key Sources of Estimation

Unce rtainty (continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting
policies (continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities or
assets arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the Directors have reviewed the
Group’s investment property portfolios and concluded that
the Group’s investment properties located in the People’s
Republic of China (“The PRC”) and Macau in the aggregate
carrying amounts of HKS$10,892,500,000 as at 31 March
2024 (2023: HKS11,371,000,000) are held under a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties
over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, the Directors
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of such investment properties located in The PRC
and Macau are recovered through sale is rebutted. As a
result, the Group has recognised deferred tax liabilities of
HKS$1,599,531,000 (2023: HKS$1,691,018,000) on changes in
fair value of investment properties as the Group is subject to
income tax in the respective jurisdictions, on the assumption
that these investment properties will be recovered through
use.

In respect of investment properties that are located in Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (“Hong Kong”) and the
United Kingdom (“UK”) with aggregate carrying amounts of
HK$23,501,534,000 (2023: HKS$26,573,753,000), the Directors
concluded that these investment properties are not held
under a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in these
investment properties over time. Therefore, in measuring
the Group’s deferred taxation in investment properties,
the Directors have determined the carrying amounts of
the investment properties located in Hong Kong and UK
measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely
through sale. As a result, the Group has not recognised any
deferred taxes on changes in fair value of the investment
properties situated in Hong Kong, as it is expected that
the Group will not subject to any income taxes on disposal
of its investment properties situated in Hong Kong. From
April 2019, the Group’s investment properties in UK are
subject to UK tax on gains arising from disposals because
of the changes in UK tax rule. As a result, the Group has
considered the impact of deferred tax on changes in fair
value of investment properties as the Group is subject to
income tax in UK. As fair value losses have been recognised
on investment properties in UK during the year ended 31
March 2024, no deferred tax asset has been recognised due
to unpredictability of future profit streams.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sra M ERRMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

4, Critical Accounting Judgements

and Key Sources of Estimation
Unce rtainty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Valuation of investment properties

The investment properties of HK$34,394,034,000 at 31
March 2024 (2023: HKS$37,944,753,000) are measured at
fair value. The amount is based on a valuation on these
properties conducted by the independent firms of qualified
professional property valuers (the “Valuers”) engaged by
the Company and approved by the Directors using property
valuation techniques which are dependent on key inputs
and significant unobservable inputs and assumptions that
involve judgement of market conditions. The relevant inputs
and conditions include:

e capitalisation rates, discount rate and comparable
market transactions with adjustments to reflect different
locations or conditions for completed investment; and

e comparable market transactions, developer’s profit and
cost to be incurred to complete the development for
investment properties under development.

The basis of valuation is disclosed in note 14. Changes to
these assumptions and inputs would result in changes in
the fair value of the Group’s investment properties and
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss
reported in the profit or loss.

In estimating the fair value of the Group’s investment
properties, the Group uses market-observable data to the
extent it is available. At the end of each reporting period, a
designated team works closely with the Valuers to establish
and determine the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs for Level 3 fair value measurements.
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LR EMTERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

4, Critical Accounting Judgements

132

and Key Sources of Estimation

Unce rtainty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Estimated net realisable value on properties under
development for sale

The Group’s properties under development for sale are
stated at lower of cost and net realisable value. The
determination of the net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less estimated costs to completion
and estimated costs necessary to make the sale of these
properties. The selling prices are estimated by reference to
the market prices of similar properties in prevailing market
environment. The costs to completion of the properties
under development for sale are estimated by reference
to the development budget, actual development cost of
similar properties with adjustments based on current market
data. If the actual net realisable value on properties under
development for sale is less than expected as a result of
change in market condition and/or significant variation in
the budgeted development cost, material write-down may
result.

The carrying amount of properties under development
for sale as at 31 March 2024 is HKS$5,163,576,000 (2023:
HKS$4,861,331,000). During the year, write-downs of
HKS$446,508,000 (2023: HK$251,703,000) and reversal on
previously recognised write-down of HK$28,633,000 (2023:
Nil) are recognised for properties under development for
sale.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

4, Critical Accounting Judgements

and Key Sources of Estimation

Unce rtainty (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

Impairment assessment on the recoverable amounts of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
in respect of hotel and hotel related operations in
Grand Emperor Hotel (collectively the “Grand Emperor
Hotel Properties”)

The impairment assessment of the Grand Emperor Hotel
Properties is performed by comparing the recoverable
amount of the Grand Emperor Hotel Properties, which is the
higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use
to its carrying amount as at 31 March 2024.

The recoverable amount of the Grand Emperor Hotel
Properties is estimated based on fair value less cost
of disposal using income approach with significant
unobservable inputs and key assumptions adopted by the
management of the Group including forecasted revenue,
costs and discount rate applied in the valuation conducted
by an independent firm of qualified professional valuers
engaged by the Company and approved by the Directors.
Changing the inputs and assumptions could materially affect
the fair value.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no impairment loss
has been recognised on the Grand Emperor Hotel Properties.
(2023: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR EMTERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

5. Revenue 5. A
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: REBRZIWARRUWT:
(a) Contracts with customers (QEBREHY
2024 2023
HK$’000 HKS 000
F#Ex FET
Hotel and hotel related operations: EERBEEEMESR:
Recognised over time: S — B BRF FT R B
Service income from gaming BREHBZRBEA
operations 87,740
Hotel room income BIEEREWA 85,168
Others H1th 13,765
186,673
Recognised at a point in time: R E R
Food and beverage sales EMHE 74,000
260,673
Sales of properties recognised MREERBERZ
at a point in time MEBE 79,240
Revenue from contracts with REEREGHZWA
customers 339,913

On 15 June 2022, Tin Hou Limited (“Tin Hou”),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Emperor
Entertainment Hotel Limited (“Emperor E Hotel”),
entered into an agreement with SUM Resort, S.A. (“SJM”)
for the provision of the hotel rooms, catering and
other ancillary services for the gaining operation run
by SJM in Grand Emperor Hotel from 27 June 2022 to
31 December 2022, and on 30 December 2022, Tin Hou
entered into an agreement with SJM for the provision of
gaming-related marketing and public relation services
to SUM in Grand Emperor Hotel for a term of 3 years
commencing from 1 January 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

5. Revenue (continued) 5 A&
(a) Contracts with customers (continued) (d)ERE&8H B

Transaction price allocated to the remaining PHEEFEFSHNZTGRES
performance obligations for contracts with BEFHXEE
customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining TEENGENEEINRZE
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially (REITHEHDRET) U KA
unsatisfied) and the expected timing of recognising BRRWARBENT:

revenue are as follows:

Sales of properties

MEHE
As at 31 March
$3A31H
2024 2023
HKS$’000 HKS 000
T#&nr FHET
Within one year —FR 22,813
All sales or services rendered from hotel and hotel FREBEEKRBEEBERZEBRM
related operations are for contracts with an original ZHENRBIIARMARA —
period of one year or less. As a practical expedient FFUANEN - FATEBYE
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these REZEAEISHKZAIITHEER
remaining performance obligations is not disclosed. FONOREZFHRTITROEREZ
RBERARTHRE -
(b) Leases (b)) &
2024 2023
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
T#Er FE T
Total revenue arising from leases: FHEESXZHEIA
For operating leases: MEEHEMmMS !
Lease payments that are fixed or EHRBRIEH R
depend on an index or a rate MEZHEMRE 855,857
Variable lease payments that do not FRBRIEHFARZ
depend on an index or a rate B HEMIA 14,912

870,769
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. Segment Information

136

The Group’s operating and reportable segments are lease
of properties, properties development and hotel and hotel
related operations for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of performance.

The segment information reported externally was analysed
on the basis of their products and services provided by
the Group’s operating divisions which is consistent with
the internal information that is regularly reviewed by the
executive directors of the Company, the chief operating
decision makers (“CODM?”), for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of performance. This is also the
basis of organisation in the Group, whereby the management
has chosen to organise the Group around differences in
products and services.

Principal activities of the operating and reportable

segments are as follows:

Lease of properties Completed investment
properties held for rental
purpose

Properties development  Properties development and
redevelopment for sale
purpose

Hotel and hotel
related operations

Hotel and hotel related
operations in Hong Kong
and Macau including mass
market hall, VIP room and slot
machine hall operations and
provision of gaming-related
marketing and public relation
services for Grand Emperor
Hotel in Macau

The CODM review the hotel and hotel related operations
in Macau along with that in Hong Kong and hence they are
grouped and identified as a single operating segment —
hotel and hotel related operations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &t ZE20244#35 31 H 1F F &

6. pEEHE @

6. Segment Information (continued)

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies
described in note 3. Segment results represent the profit
earned by or loss suffered from each segment without
allocation of central administration costs, interest income,
government subsidies, finance costs, gain on disposal of a
subsidiary, share of result of an associate, share of result
of a joint venture and unallocated other gains and losses.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of
resource allocation and performance assessment.

Information regarding the above segments is reported
below:

RERATERDEZ G B REN
3Nt AEBE G BRMER -
PEEERESDEARDEPRT
BHERA -MEWA - WA M
BER -HE—HNBARZ W
DE—HEBMEQADZEE Y D h—
MEEtEZEERRDERZHAM
W KREEBRARRZENREE
ZER - LEDBDERTFTEIELEERRK
EUFERNERFGBERREZFE
8} -

ERLESBZENZ®RAOT:

Business segments %R
For the year ended 31 March 2024 B F20244#3H31H 1L E
Segment revenue and results PBEWARES

Segment revenue PEMA

- from external customers - RENBEFR 879,305 141,773 740,737 1,761,815
Segment results before fair value ARARBEZEHRM

change and write-downs HEZNEER 728,144 (21,818) (11,052) 695,274
Fair value decrement in investment RENEAABEZAR

properties (1,318,322) - - (1,318,322)
Write-downs of properties under BELEZEBINE

development for sale, net 2R — 358 - (417,875) (417,875)
Write-downs of properties held BEHEZNEZHA

for sale - (16,761) - (16,761)
Segment results NELE (590,178) (456,454) (11,052) (1,057,684)
Interest income FIEWA 50,278
Corporate expenses, net t%ER - 38 (146,756)
Finance costs HEER (919,178)

Share of result of an associate DME—HHE AT EE

(344)

Share of result of a joint venture PME-HAELEZER (12,675)
Loss before taxation BRAER (2,086,359)
Taxation credit RERR 51,182
Loss for the year EEFE (2,028,577)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

6. Segment Information (continued) 6. pEEHE @
Business segments (continued) EXBRrE®E
For the year ended 31 March 2024 B F20244#3H31H 1L F
Other information Hith&EH

Amounts included in the measure of SAEQEEERGA
segment results: ZHE:

Depreciation of property, plant and ME - RERRBZHE

equipment 121,344 121,344
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZNE 21,257 21,257
Impairment allowance recognised for ~ HREREKTIBZHIE

trade receivables e 135
Loss on disposal of property, plantand ~ HEN¥ « BBRREZ

equipment B 54

Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included EHRHFEIELERREEBSTE
in the measure of segment results (included in corporate DEXERTERFAZREG AL
expenses, net): XERH—FH)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, T¥EEFAEZYWE - BB REZEZ
at corporate level e
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

6. Segment Information (continued)

6. ¥HEEH =

Business segments (continued) XBRr@E#=
For the year ended 31 March 2023 B FE20234F3831AILFEE
Segment revenue and results PEWARES
Hotel and
Lease of Properties hotel related
properties development operations Total
BIEREE
NERE NELER RS st
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS 000
ThR TAR ThR TER
Segment revenue PERA
- from external customers - RENGER 870,769 79,240 260,673 1,210,682
Segment results before reversal of STEAEREER A0
impairment losses, fair value BEZEHRMAA
change and write-downs INEEE 711,774 (35,956) (270,883) 404,935
Reversal of impairment losses BEME  RBRFHEZ
recognised on property, plant and HEFERE
equipment - - 31,781 31781
Fair value decrement in investment RENEAREBEZAE
properties (1,804,437) - - (1,804 ,437)
Write-downs of properties under REHEZERRNZEZ
development for sale, net iR - 38 - (251,703) - (251,703)
Write-downs of properties held forsale 5 2% 2 #iA - (21,113) - (21,113)
Segment results EES (1,092,663) (308,112) (239,102) (1,640,537)
Interest income FEBA 40,733
Government subsidies B 758 B 15,593
Corporate expenses, net CEER-3E (217,622)
Finance costs HBER (690,389)
Share of result of an associate PME-EHEATZEE (12,447)
Share of result of a joint venture NME-HAECEZEE (6,628)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE-FRBARZHE 212,069
Loss before taxation BRAIEE (2,299,228)
Taxation credit REHS 97,642
Loss for the year FEBR (2,201,586)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

6. Segment Information (continued)

6. PEEN =

Business segments (continued) XBRrE#=
For the year ended 31 March 2023 B F20234F3H31AILFE
Other information Hithsw
Hotel and
Lease of Properties  hotel related
properties  development operations Total
BIERBE
MERE MEERE HHES st
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
THET THET TERT THERT
Amounts included in the measure  StENEEBRFAZ
of segment results: mE:
Depreciation of property, plantand #)% « B RREZIFE
equipment — - 114,460 114,460
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FEREEEZITE - - 21,240 21,240
Impairment allowance recognised HRERZERFIEZH
for trade receivables BE#EE 756 — 590 1,346
Loss (gain) on disposal of HEME BBRRE
property, plant and equipment Z B8 (ki) 33 - (1,291) (1,258)

Amounts regularly provided to the CODM but not included EHRHFEIELERREEBSTE

in the measure of segment results (included in corporate DEXERTRFAZREG AL
expenses, net): XEBR P8
HKS 000
FET
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, ®¥EEIEE2WE  HKBERRHEZ
at corporate level e 27,927

PHBEERAMR
MRAEEREEA RN 2HEE
REEftmERRETFIBE
BREEBN QUTEREZ
D

Segment assets and liabilities

No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by operating
segment is disclosed as they are not regularly provided to
the CODM for review.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

6. Segment Information (continued) 6. HEEH =
Geographical information 3th 35 B
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, The PRC, KEEREEPE- RFIRHE
Macau and UK. MEER -
The Group’s revenue from external customers and rEERBMBERFZIARER
information about its non-current assets, other than HERBHEERCQEEH—EHER
receivables related to a development project and pledged HREZRWMREREBIEHREITENR
bank deposits, by geographical location of the assets are ZENREEZMIEBAE S 9)F
detailed below: PRI S
Revenue from customers  Non-current assets
KEAERZHWA ERBEE
For the year ended
31 March As at 31 March
g E3A310LLEE t3A31H
2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HK$000  HK$’000 HK$’000
FEr THET FER THET

Hong Kong 58 701,720 26,744,900
The PRC m 211,648 9,437,240
Macau R P9 216,592 3,749,470
UK 3 80,722 2,648,826
1,210,682 42,580,436
Information about major customers FEERZEH
During the year, revenue derived from one customer RAEAFERBEHXEBR LKA
contributed more than 10% of the total revenue of the Group 0% X EZz2—BFRZWBAE
amounted to HK$459,150,000 (2023: none of the customers 459,150,000 7T (20234 : 7~ & & #]
of the Group individually contributed more than 10% of the BEPEREMBAEMEWALIN)
total revenue). The revenue is related to the hotel and hotel ZWABEERBEEEEETEARR o

related operations.

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
Annual Report 2023/2024 3%k

141




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sFaMERRMsE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

7. Other Gains And Losses 7. Hith s R 5§18

Write-downs of properties under FIEHEZERYYMEZ
development for sale, net (Note a) om — F %8 (Mt ata) (417,875) (251,703)
Write-downs of properties held for sale FIEHEZMEZ MR (16,761) (21,113)

Net exchange loss [EREEFEE (9,575) (66,387)
Reversal of impairment losses recognised  FERYI ¥ - B RRHEZ
on property, plant and equipment 1B 5 18 B[] 31,781
Forfeiture of unredeemed commission RWKBEERERESHZ
expenses in gaming operation (Note b) HEmx (HaZb) = 22,305
(444,211) (285,117)

Notes: Miat:

(a) During the year, the Directors reviewed the net realisable value (@) REFEE BEF2RENMBRIE
of the properties under development for sale with reference to BHEELHEZEERRYENT
the current market environment and recognised write-downs of SR PFEETES I EMEDMAE
HK$446,508,000 and reversed previously recognised write-down of 446,508,000 7T f # [@] 5t A B 52
HKS$28,633,000 (2023: recognised write-downs of HK$251,703,000). 128,633,000 7T(20234 : #E 2 #f &

251,703,000 75)°

(b) The amount represents the forfeiture of commission payable to (b) ZEREIENELHE MR R WENMNE

gaming patrons after the expiry of the redemption period. EERZEZE-
8. Finance Costs 8. HHEH

142

Interests on: FME:
- bank borrowings —RITEE 1,149,972 686,103

- lease liabilities —THEaE 1,237 1,324
- unsecured notes — BmIKHERE 34,959 64,544
- amount due to a related company — B —HRAERS

H1E 73,025 49,115

1,259,193 801,086
Less: Amount capitalised in the cost of B REERBEERAR

qualifying assets ZBEXRIENRIE (362,203) (142,124)
896,990 658,962
Bank charges RITEH 22,188 31,427

919,178 690,389

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the REFEEZEFREEBERAKT K —
general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying BREEBREPELE  ISFRER
capitalisation rates ranging from 4.61% to 6.95% (2023: 16 E4.61% E6.95% (20234 :2.09%
2.09% to 3.57%) per annum. E357T%) 18 o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # E2024F3531H IF F &

9. Loss Before Taxation 9. IR AIAS A
2024 2023
HK$’000 HKS 000
F#Ex FEx
Loss before taxation has been arrived MRIRAIEEIEEIR:
at after charging:
Staff cost, including directors’ remuneration E T & (RIEEE#M L) 462,482 425,571
Retirement benefit schemes contributions 1B 4K 18 F 5+ 21 i 5 9,185 8,792
471,667 434,363
Auditor’s remuneration 1% B1ET BN = 8,609 8,290
Commission expenses in gaming BEEH Z2AEMAZ(E
operation (included in selling and SPAHERTHEEE
marketing expenses) B) 69,706 10,324
Cost of properties held for sale recognised BRERARI ZIFEHE
as an expense Y/ E- DN 119,040 64,953
Cost of inventories in respect of hotel and BRRARX ZBE KB
hotel related operations recognised as EHEBEAEBEERS
an expense 36,429 23,061
Depreciation of property, ME-KBERREZITE
plant and equipment 145,746 142,387
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZINE 21,257 21,240
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - KERREZ
plant and equipment i 54 -
and after crediting: REFTA:
Other interest income HhF 2K A 18,682
Interest income from a joint venture mM—EaEEERNRZF
BUWA 22,051
Government subsidies (Note) B 48 Bh (B 2#) 15,593
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - KERKREZ
plant and equipment W 7 1,258
Note: During the year end 31 March 2023, the Group recognised Mizt: # E2023F3831H L FE> & &
government subsidies of HK$9,866,000 (2024: Nil) in respect ERAEHFTESRKFSHEBEZEK
of Covid-19-related subsidies, of which HK$6,007,000 related T 8 819,866,000 (20244 : #)
to Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong H 716,007,0007% JT B & B KT 2
Kong government. During the year ended 31 March 2024, AR AL 215t 3 B B o B 2024
the remaining government grants of HK$2,069,000 (2023: FIFA3BHLEFE T BT
HK$5,727,000) are related to rental-related subsidies from PRC 2,069,000 5(20234 15,727,000
government. There are no unfulfilled conditions attached to o) ERERANE S EREAEB AR -
these grants. % 25 /0 B 3G B B A AR A R E A AR o
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

10.Directors’ and Five Highest Paid NESRKEIRREHRMAL
Individual’s Emoluments ZE
(i) Directors’ emoluments (i) EEM=
Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments for the year, REAFE - EERea1THRAR
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and ZHMERBERALTRIEA
CO, are as follows: EMEGIIREWT :

2024 2024F
Fees ik
Other emoluments: e

Salaries and other benefits (Morea) - H & REMBH (H2a)

Retirement benefit schemes BERAHELED
contributions

Total emoluments Eli

123 NBE
Fees ik
Other emoluments: EfiE: - 448 448 250 250 107 174 280 280 29
Salaries and other benefits (Motea) H& R EMEF HHa) - 3738 1,390 511 291 - - - - B/
Retirement benefit schemes BERAHEED

contributions - 251 9 - 60 - - - - 408
Total emoluments g ¢ - 4837 1,935 6,022 331 107 11 280 280 16472
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

10.Directors’ and Five Highest Paid NEEREZESHMAL
Individual’s Emoluments (continved) 2Z =

(i) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (i) EEME =
Notes: o=

(@) Other benefits include non-exclusive use of motor vehicles,
yacht, club debentures and membership.

(b) Re-designated as non-executive director with effect from 1
September 2023.

(c) Resigned asindependent non-executive director on 18 August
2022.

(d) Elected as independent non-executive director on 18 August
2022.

(e) The performance related incentive payment is determined
with reference to the operating results taking into account
certain adjustments, individual performance and comparable
market statistics for the year.

The chief executives are also executive director of
the Company and their emoluments disclosed above
include those for services rendered by them as chief
executives.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The emoluments of non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors shown above were
mainly for their services as Directors.

(ii) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, three (2023: three) were Directors whose
emoluments are set out above. The total emoluments
of the remaining two (2023: two) individuals were as
follows:

(a) HEHNBEERIFEERRE
B EREFEREHE-

(b) BEAIEMITESE > H2023F9A
IREER -

(c) 722022488181 & 1£ %8 1L JF #
TE=S-

(d) #2022%8H181 % # % & i 3F
BITES-

(e) BRRAMZEBRENDSEL
FEREXBRUIETEFENET

AE -BARRRATLEBETSEH
BEE

RETBRABTAETABZH
TEF BENEXEKEZME
BREREFARSITHRAER
HIRBAAESHME -

UEFFTRITEENEETES
REMEELSQABDREERE
BAIRMERFE Z | - X LT
FRTEERBUFATES
NMEETEFARSEEETES
R ZRBBIHRM -

(I EBESHMAL

EAEBRLRESHMA LS
ZHRQIBFE=ZB)AESE K
EZMEHEN EX-BRTZH
QIBFE:ZR)EaHMALZ
) f ok R

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HKS 000

F#Ex FET

Salaries and other benefits e REMEF 5,904
Retirement benefit schemes BREF B H =

contributions 120

6,024
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

WVEERABEEHMAL
A kAC)
(IVEEERE&HMAL@

10.Directors’ and Five Highest Paid
Individual’s Emoluments (continued)
(ii) Five highest paid individuals (continued)

146

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

BREMENFUATEE:

Number of individuals

AE
2024 2023
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7t £3,000,000% 7T 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 75 £3,500,000% 7T 1

No remuneration was paid by the Group to the directors
and the five highest paid employees as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office for both years. None of the Directors
and the five highest paid individuals has waived any
emoluments during both years.

(iii) Retirement benefit schemes

The Group participates in a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Hong Kong Occupational
Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the “ORSO” Scheme)
and the mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) established under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance in December 2000.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of
independent trustees. Employees who were members
of the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the
MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying within
the ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme,
whereas all new employees joining the Group on or after
1 December 2000 are required to join the MPF Scheme.

The retirement benefit cost charged to profit or loss
represents contributions payable to the funds by the
Group at rates specified in the rules of the schemes.
Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions, the
contributions payable by the Group are reduced by the
amount of forfeited contributions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

WEERABEEIHMAL
A kAC)
(i) BAmFI=H B ()

10.Directors’ and Five Highest Paid
Individual’s Emoluments (continued)
(iii) Retirement benefit schemes (continued)

The Group also operates a defined contribution
retirement scheme for all qualifying employees of a
subsidiary of the Group in Macau since 1 September
2014. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in funds under control of
independent trustees. The retirement scheme cost
recognised in profit or loss represents contributions
payable to funds by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the scheme. Where there are employees of the
Group who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in Macau
and The PRC are members of state-managed retirement
benefit schemes operated by the Macau and The PRC
government. The Group is required to contribute a
certain percentage of its payroll to the retirement
benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement
benefit schemes is to make the required contributions
under the schemes.

During the year, the retirement benefit schemes
contributions were HK$9,185,000 (2023: HKS$8,792,000).
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FRIEZ R o xS B B Bt it
REHEBA RIS > ~5H
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FREEFEEZEREERRA
BB ZHE - AEEARRE
BN zEEEOLEMZFR
REFEHEIMHR > UABEREF
RUEEE - FEEHZFRAE
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RAFE BAKEF S MR
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8,792,0007% jT) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # E2024%#F 3531 H IF F &

11.Taxation Credit 11.74 18I %
2024 2023
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
F#Ex F#ET
Taxation credit comprises: MEREEIE:
Current tax NEARIE
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBFRE (8,385) (3,479)
Macau Complementary Tax RS HRER (3,074) (862)
UK Income Tax HEFRER (7,417) (7,751)
The PRC Enterprise Income Tax FEEEFRSR (1,066) (1,411)
The PRC withholding tax FEFENR (5,873) —
(25,815) (13,503)
Reversal of Macau Complementary Tax BEFERMAEHETR
provision in respect of prior years BE 45,478 52,371
Overprovision (underprovision) AEBBEAZ (FRE)
in respect of prior years
Macau Complementary Tax RS HAER —
Hong Kong Profits Tax EEBNE 235
UK Income Tax HEPFIFIA —
235
Deferred taxation credit (note 34) iR JE R TE K S (A £ 34) 58,539
97,642

148

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profits for both years.

The Macau Complementary Tax (“CT”) is calculated at the
applicable rate of 12% of the estimated assessable profits for
both years.

Pursuant to the CT law, the statutory right to issue CT
assessment on the estimated assessable profit in a year of
assessment will expire in five consecutive years after that
year of assessment. At the end of the reporting period,
the Directors reassessed the adequacy of the CT provision
and determined to reverse part of the Group’s relevant CT
provision of HK$45,478,000 for the 2018 year of assessment
(2023: HKS$52,371,000 for the 2017 year of assessment)
accordingly.

UK Income Tax is calculated at the applicable rate of 25% of
the estimated assessable profits for the year (2023: 19%) .

ERNGRDODONREMEFEZ
st FERIRE A 4216.5%5t & ©

RAEPFRSHETR (IR D5 %
MEFEZGHABRRRENZEA
ME12%EtHE o

REHAERZLZ IXEETIREER
Gt ERR BN ZHERIRZ
AEERANRBRZIRNEELSESE
IEgEm MPRBREBHFR EFH
HWARBEZAEEEMFE LT
> MR REH L I 54 &£ @R
018FTMEEZEHBRREE
45,478,000 7T (20234 1 2017 5718
£ E52,371,00058 7T) ©

REMSMBEEZMAFERR
i F Z B R E25% 5t 5 (20234 ¢
19%) ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & E£2024%#3531H IF F &

11.Taxation Credit (continued) 11.JR 1K %k =

Under the Law of The PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of The PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The withholding tax represented taxation recognised
in respect of the dividends to be distributed from profit
earned by subsidiary in the PRC starting from 1 January
2008. The withholding tax is recognised for dividends to be
distributed from profit earned by subsidiary in the PRC in
accordance with the Implementation Regulation of the EIT
Law of the PRC that requires withholding tax with tax rate at
5% for dividend upon the distribution of such profits to the
shareholders.

The taxation credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss

REPEEEMSREZ(EEMRRT
BMEDREERBREZERMESG > P
BENEABRMEEFEZREIGS
25% o

T 0 4% 5 L 1 & B M /B 2 B) 52008
FIRIBERWMZEN PR IRZ R
EEIZME - FHRDREPE
1 PR 13 10 0% B I 1% B i 18 P B Y
BABBBMZ GNP R IRZKREHE
580 B E 1 FE PR AR A B R B R
TE R AR R 7k A R R B R5% 1R
KHREBUWENR -

FARNBERRATRAGSIEG RAHE

before taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss ZHRRAIBESEERTT:
as follows:
2024 2023
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TER F#ET
Loss before taxation PR A E5 18 (2,086,359) (2,299,228)
Taxation credit at Hong Kong Profits Tax of 2 & & F 158 16.5%t &
16.5% ZRIBE R 344,249 379,373
Tax effect of share of result of an associate 91— R Ht & AT ¥ 4&
ZMBRE (57) (2,054)
Tax effect of share of result of a joint venture D fE— R E&E CEES
ZHRBRE (2,091) (1,094)
Tax effect of income not taxable for MIRBMS BEARR
tax purpose WAZRBEE 26,375 79,825
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for — FLFRFE = 7 = 078
tax purpose THZMRBEEE (261,701) (324,973)
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B) A 5t A 0 A RE SR
recognised MRIEE 18 1,126 44 690
Tax effect of deductible temporary FAERTNBEREER
differences not recognised ZRBEE (30,343) (53,421)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised REDNEBIEZ
METE (78,980) (71,601)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries MBABREMBE ZEE
operating in other jurisdictions KRERMEARZEE 9,622 (13,547)
Reversal of CT provision in respect of prior B EFMREHTREE
years 45,478 52,371
Effect of withholding tax on distributed [ B b | s =B
profit ZRE (5,873) —
Overprovision in respect of prior years TEEEBS 489 235
Others H1th 9,488 7,838
Taxation credit for the year FRREER 57,782 97,642
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sFaMERRMsE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

12.Dividends

1.1 8

Dividends recognised as distribution FRAEIBEDSRZEE

during the year:

Final dividend paid in respect of 2023: Bik2023FEXRHERE :
HKS$0.003 per share (2023: HK$0.016 £ 820.0037% 7t (2023
per share in respect of 2022) FIF2022FE 2 R HEARR
B2 8K0.0163# T) 58,841
Interim dividend paid in respect of Bik2024F R S -
2024: HK$0.003 per share (2023: £ 820.0037% 7t (2023
HKS$0.005 per share in respect of FIR2023FE 2R HR R
2023) B A 50%0.005%8 7t) 18,387
17,228

The final dividend of HK$0.003 per share in respect of the EFXgTEZREEH 202483831
year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: final dividend of HK$0.003 B It & E & §80.0037% 57T (2023%F :
per share) amounting to approximately HK$11,033,000 (2023: FEIRRESR0.003% 5T) 2 RE R
HK$11,033,000) has been proposed by the Board and is B> #£4911,033,0008 7t (20234 :
subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming 11,033,000# 7T) > M AR5 IR RS FE &

annual general meeting.

13.Loss Per Share

150

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to
owners of the Company is based on the following data:

Loss

K58

BREEAS LIRS AR -

13. 825518

EABEBEANBRESRELGED
RIBEBUTHIEEE

Loss (loss for the year attributable MtEESRELRGFEZ
to owners of the Company) for the B (KA ASHEB ARG
purpose of basic loss per share FERBE) (2,046,666) (2,141,983)

Number of shares 2% &8
Weighted average number of ordinary st EESREKEIER
shares in issue for the purpose of FRZEBETEIE

basic loss per share o0 19 81

3,677,545,667

3,677,545,667

Diluted loss per share is not presented as there was no
dilutive potential ordinary share for both years.

ER % B P AR T OB T R

BBk BUERETESRKREEEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sra M ERRMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &t ZE20244#35 31 H 1F F &

1445 ME

14.Investment Properties

The Group leases out various offices premises, industrial
premises, residential premises and retail shops/complexes
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly. The
leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 15 years, with
unilateral rights to extend the lease beyond initial period
held by lessees only. Majority of the lease contracts contain
market review clauses in the event the lessee exercises the
option to extend.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a result
of the lease arrangements, as all leases are denominated in
the respective functional currencies of the relevant group
entities. The lease contracts do not contain residual value
guarantee and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at
the end of lease term.

FAIR VALUE AREE

EERBECEHEHEASERA
ME-TEPE-FTEVWERT
EEE E5 HAKRKREE M
E—RVSAHBLIEISFE > RBHAME
A#ﬁ%iﬁﬁ%*ﬂﬂ%fﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁﬁ
EMWRBMRUN - KBOBEEGY
ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ)\juﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂi%%#
TTHEMEBIIRRR -

HFFHN}-EI-

HRFAERENUERERERS
BZWAEEEE REAEBRLE
HEEZHMAZINEEAR - HE
BN EESRERSER HAME
ARBERRBEMENERE -

At beginning of the year REN 36,190,753 1,754,000 37,944,753 40,316,471 1,478,000 41,194,471
Exchange realignment SNERE (218,996) (44,105) (263,101) (810,461) (108,730) (919,191)
Additions RE 4,678 460 5,138 33,096 814 33,910
Disposals HE (138,793) - (138,793) - - —
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37)  HEMBAR (HfA#37) | (P (2,000,000) (1,160,000) - (1,160,000)
Transfer from propertiesheld B fFHEZNEHE

for sale (Note a) (Hizta) 164,359 164,359 - — ~
Transfer from completed BEERRENEER

investment properties to EERMRENE

investment properties under (Hiith)

development (Note b) (490,000) 490,000 -
Net decrease in fair value REGZEAZAAER

recognised in profit or loss wFE (1,252,967 (65,355)  (1,318,322) (1,698,353) (106,084) (1,804,437)
At end of the year REX 32,749,034 1,645,000 34,394,034 36,190,753 1,754,000 37,944,753
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sFaMERRMsE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

14.Investment Properties (continued)

152

Notes:

(a) During the year ended 31 March 2024, certain properties held for
sale originally held for sale purpose, upon the change in use to
held for rental purpose, were reclassified to completed investment
properties at fair value of HK$164,359,000 at the date of transfer.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2023, certain completed
properties originally held for rental purpose, upon commencement
of re-development, were reclassified to investment properties
under development at fair value of HK$490,000,000 at the date of
transfer.

The carrying amount of investment properties comprises
properties situated in:

131G EME =

EE

(a) BE2024F3831BLLEE > EF WA
FELHERRZFMEHEZYERE
FRRAFFHERZ REBBHD
s (B (E164,359,000 8 TEM D EAE
ERREYE -

(b) BE2023F3A31BLLEE > EFHWH
FEHERRZEERMENRERR
Y5 18 ¥ 8 13 B 83 2 7 18 {5490,000,000
BTENIBEAERPKREME -

REYVMEZIREESE G5 LT
al:kY/E

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FER TET

Hong Kong &8 23,924,925
The PRC F 9,020,600
Macau pe 2,350,400
UK m 2,648,828
37,944,753

All of the Group’s property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are measured using the fair value model and are classified
and accounted for as investment properties.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at the
end of each reporting period have been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out on those dates by Colliers
International (Hong Kong) Limited, Savills (Macau) Limited
and Vincorn Consulting and Appraisal Limited (2023: Memfus
Wong Surveyors Limited, Colliers International (Hong
Kong) Limited, Cushman & Wakefield Debenham Tie Leung
Limited, Savills (Macau) Limited and Vincorn Consulting and
Appraisal Limited), in accordance with the HKIS Valuation
Standards 2020 issued by Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
or International Valuation Standards 2022 issued by the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. The Valuers are not
connected with the Group.

FXEERMERBEEHERFHFER
RNEEHEXEERRZYERS
DEAAABEEAFELDHER
ABRBREYE -

FEBRREVMERSREHERZA
AEBEDLDRES NEERYEBER(E
BBERABD - F—XFEEHCR
FERAB RSB KRTHE
RABQIE . ZEREREIITA
BAB -BHEBEYXBERGESB
A PR A B - Cushman & Wakefield
Debenham Tie Leung Limited ~ 5 —
XKFEHEHCR)BR LA KBz
BARTEHEERATNZEB R
BEEAUEMEgREHm2EABAUZE
£ 22 & (2 8)20203 2 K 45 57 A
= 6T 2 & 08 M 2 B PR 1 (B 12 #2022
BT ZHGEMEBEE - HEMEAKE
] 1BE A A A o

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEEEREBBREAF
Annual Report 2023/2024 £




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

111G EME =

14.Investment Properties (continued)

For completed investment properties, the valuations have
been arrived at with reference to market evidence of recent
transaction prices for similar properties or rental income
using the applicable market yields for the respective
locations and types of properties. Due to the continued
increment in market transactions of similar properties in the
current year, the Directors considered that direct comparison
approach method is more appropriate for the valuation
of certain retail shops/complexes and industrial premise
under development in Hong Kong as at 31 March 2024 as
there are relatively more market available data in respect of
comparable market transactions. The valuation technique
is changed from income capitalisation method and residual
method respectively to direct comparison method during the
year.

For investment properties under development, the valuations
have been arrived at assuming that the investment properties
will be completed in accordance with the development
proposals and the relevant approvals for the proposals have
been obtained. The valuations include key factors such as
the market value of the completed investment properties,
which are estimated with reference to comparable market
transactions in the nearest locality as available in the
relevant market with adjustments made by the Valuers to
account for differences in the locations and other factors
including the level adjustments to determine the potential
sales proceeds, and deducting the cost to be incurred
to complete the development and developer’s profit
from the investment properties which are derived from
the interpretation of prevailing investor requirements or
expectations at the valuation dates.

The fair value decrease on property revaluation included
in profit or loss of the year is HKS$1,318,322,000 (2023:
HKS$1,804,437,000).

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and
best use of the properties is their current use. The fair values
of certain investment properties have been adjusted to
exclude prepaid or accrued operating lease income to avoid
double counting.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during both
years.

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
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MEERKEWMEMmMS > HEDR
BEHEUMEZTSERZERE
PAEERMESBEZUERERY
BERATHSWBHEZEETWAERE - H
REFEEELUYMENT IR Z T E
BN EETAEELEREEES
R2024F3B3IHEBETERPE
EEH BERIEMENGKE
REARTELEETEXZEEER
EFNHBARHEBE - NEFE > &
ERMEHBABSCERBEED
PEBERLEERE -

MERPREMEMS  HEDR
RBREMERERBEREEM
miEd > BERE S EMERAHLE -
HEBREERREVEZNTES
ETEEFRZR UL2REBNER
HIEAHEEMMEMRTZA LR
TIERZETHER > MEEMEE
BRUEZERHEMER(BEERER
BIFHAR  UEEBEHEZMN
STRE> BHRTHMAERERE
RREMEZHRESMNBUEHF
DRERAEREENGEBHZE
REFHMEEFH) -

AATSEERBENYEEEAALB
EiR ) 21,318,322,000# 75 (20234 :
1,804,437,0003 7T) ©

REFZENEZAABER > ®
FZaeRREARHEARBAR -
ETREMENAABEEFRAZ
NN RESEERERA
NERERTHE -

RWEFEFER  HEFANEHES
R o
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sFaMERRMsE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

14.Investment Properties (continued) 11 EME =)
The following table gives information about how the fair TRIEMEALEEREMWEZAR
values of these investment properties are determined (in BEENFEEZER(LHEEMER
particular, the valuation techniques and key inputs used), ZHERNTEREIEH AT UK
as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value BREAABEAEZBWAHREZA
measurements are categorised (Level 1 to 3) based on the BREEREAABESNEFRFEAZ
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements ARBEFHRGEBLIEIR)

are observable.

Hong Kong

g2

Retail shops/complexes VR 15,062,735 Level3 Direct comparison method with ~ Market unit rate, mainly taking into Asignificant increase in the market
market unit rate as the key account the time, location, frontage unit rate used would result in
input and size, between the comparables, asignificant increase in the

which ranged from HK$3,800 to fair value of the investment
HKS544,000 (2023: HKS4,600 to properties, and vice versa.
HKS550,000) per square foot

SERS/ B 3% BRI UHREERES TREMUER TELHRTLRYE FRETHEAERARENL:

TEEAYE BB B BEARANE  BRENEZAABEAGEMN
NFEFHR3B0ETENML000ET  R2ZHKFA o
(2023 - 4,600% 7 2550,000% )

Retail shops/complexes CEPRIONS 908,000 Level3 Direct comparison method with ~ Market unit rate, mainly taking into Asignificant increase in the market
market unit rate as the key account the time, location, quality, unit rate used would result in
input floor level and size, between the asignificant increase in the

comparables, which ranged from fairvalue of the investment
HKS4,200 to HKS14,600 per square foot  properties, and vice versa.

SERS/ B £3% ERLEE UHBEERES TREMER TELHRILENER FRETREAERARENL:

TEEAYE ZEE B BEERAN HNE BRENEZAREEAREN

STARAN0ETEL00E T RZH#Ae

(2023: Income capitalisation
method)
The key inputs were:

(03E: WARATE)

TERAYEA!

(1) Capitalisation rate 2023: Capitalisation rate, taking 2023: The higher the capitalisation
into account the capitalisation of rate, the lower the fair value, and
rental income potential, nature of vice versa.
the properties, prevailing market
condition, which ranged from 3.7% to
4.4% per annum

() BAEE WRE EXER BHREERESHA 035 EXtEHE ) AIALER

ZEAL NEZME ROGAK  HE R2FA-
B NFEEITHELL%
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &t ZE20244#35 31 H 1F F &

14.Investment Properties (continued) 1ISEME =

() Market unit rent Monthly rent, based on saleable The higher the monthly rent, the
floor area using direct market higher the fair value, and vice
comparable and taking into account versa,
of time, location, frontage and size of

properties
() mHEMES B RETSESTLRNEZIER RRER AAABELR RZ
BER TEHRYEZER . B4
BEERAN
Offices premises SUELRAIN 5338665 Level3 Direct comparison method with ~ Market unit rate, mainly taking into Asignificant increase in the market
market unit rate as the key account the time, location, quality, unit rate used would result in
input floor level and size, between the asignificant increase in the
comparables, which ranged from fair value of the investment

HKST.960 to HK936,600 (2023: HKS8,300  properties, and vice versa.
to HK49,000) per square foot

NELIES 238 ERtRE UHREMAEREA TREMER IRLHRTLENE HRATREMERAEHNAS
E2: D8 ¢ BeBE B HE BERA)  RRENEZAABEAEEM

NFETFRTIVETE000ET  RZKA«
(20235 : 8,300 70 249,000% 70)

Industrial premises AT 352,905  Level3 Direct comparison method with ~ Market unit rate, mainly taking into Asignificant increase in the market
market unit rate as the key account the time, location, quality, unit rate used would result in
input floor level and size, between the asignificant increase in the

comparables, which ranged from fair value of the investment

HKS3,240 to HKS8,400 (2023: HKS3,800  properties, and vice versa.
to HKS8,800) per square foot

IEn% 3% ERLRE UHREMAEREA TREMER IRLHRTLENE FRATHEMERAEHNAS
IRBARE BeER B HE BERA)  RREMEZAABEXAEEM

NEETRRIUOETESA0ET  RZBHA-
(2023% :3,800% 0 28,8008 1)

Residential premises CERION 778600 Level3 Direct comparison method with ~ Market unit rate, mainly taking into Asignificant increase in the market
market unit rate as the key account the time, location, quality, unit rate used would result in
input view, floor level and size, between asignificant increase in the

the comparables, which ranged from fair value of the investment
HKS4,700 to HKS33,361 (2023: HKS5,700  properties, and vice versa.
to HKS25,000) per square foot

fFEng F3% ERLRE UHREAEREA TREUER IRLARTLENER FRATHENERABRNAS
IRBARE JHEC B BE 2B BERA  RREMEZAABEXEEM

M NFEFHRAT0ETERIL  RZBHAe
A7 (038 15,7007 225,000%
m)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

14.Investment Properties (continued) 11 EME =

Serviced apartments NI 1014000 Level3 Income capitalisation method ~ Monthlyrent, based on saleable floor ~ The higher the monthly rent, the
with market unit rent and area using direct market comparable higher the fair value, and vice
capitalisation rate as the key and taking into account of time, versa.
input location, quality, view, floor level

and size of properties, which ranged
from HK$30 to HKS92 (2023: HKS50 to
HKST9) per square foot
234 WABREE UnRERRES Al RETHERIHZNEZIER BHES WARBEER RZ
TEEAIEEARE EER DEHRYEZHE 2. F%Ro
B2 2B BERAN ENTET
BR30ETEET (023%F: 50% R
E79%7)

it E:S

>
ek

Capitalisation rate, takinginto account  The higher the capitalisation rate,
the capitalisation of rental income the lower the fair value, and vice
potential, nature of properties, versa.
prevailing market condition, which was
ranged from 3% to 3.25% (2023: 2.75%
t0 3.25%) per annum

BAfb: GHREGREUAZER BRGEES URABEEE
£ EZE Rk B0 kB4
FHEINE3% (023 215%E
3.25%)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &t ZE20244#35 31 H 1F F &

14.Investment Properties (continued) 1ISEME =

Industrial premise under CEIONDRS 470,000 Level3 Direct comparison method with ~ Market unit rate, mainly taking into Asignificant increase in the market
development market unit rate as the key account the time, location, quality, unit rate used would result in
input view, floor level and size, between asignificant increase in the

the comparables, which ranged from fair value of the investment
HKS4,100 to HKS12,400 per square foot  properties, and vice versa.

ERUIENE 238 ERtRE UHREMAEREA TREMER TELARULENEE FRATREMERAEHNAS
IEBAHE JHE B RE 2B BERX  RREMEZAABEAEBEM
N NFETHRII0ETELLL  RZBA
B

(2023: Residual method)
The keyinputs were:

(03E BEi7)

IEGAHEA:

(1) Gross development value ~ 2023: Gross development value on 2023: The higher the gross
completion basis, mainly taking into development value, the higher the
account the time, location, design, fair value, and vice versa.
frontage, layout and size between the
comparables and the properties, which
ranged from HKS3,800 to HKS8,800 per
square foot

() BELERE NBE REAEENHEAEE TE 0DE BRLEER WAAEE
EHRILBNEEZENEH IR  HE R2FR-

B LE Rt BHE HERA
o ENEETRR3H00E 28,800
AT

(2)  Developer's profit Developer's profit at 20%, takinginto ~ The higher the developer's profit,
account the construction progress of the lower the fair value, and vice
the property versa.

(2 #E&HEH ERBZEHANY BHRZNEZT RRBIENES NAABEE
BER B RZm%Ae
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

14.Investment Properties (continued) 11 EME =

The PRC
HE
Retail shops/complexes RIS 132300 Level3 Direct comparison method with  Market unit rate, mainly taking into Asignificant increase in the market
market unit rate as the key account the time, location, frontage unit rate used would result in
input and size, between the comparables, asignificant increase in the
which is HKS1,932 (2023: HKS2,000to  fair value of the investment
HK$3,100) per square foot properties, and vice versa.
REEG/BS 34 EREE URREMER  TRELER IBREHRILENER FRETSEUERAGEMLS
FATEEAYE CEB B BEERAN A8T  BRENEZAABEAEEM
BRLINET (3% 200E7E  RZKFAe
3100%7)

Retail/commercial properties ISERINE 1284000 Level3 Residual method
under development The keyinputs are:

YRHEE/BENE F3% BELIEBANEA:

(1) Gross developmentvalue  Gross development value on completion  The higher the gross development
basis, mainly taking into account the value, the higher the fair value,
time, location, design, frontage, layout  and vice versa.
and size between the comparables
and the properties, which ranged from
HKS4,519 to HK6,765 (2023: HKS3,188
to HK99,419) per square foot

() HEeEE RERBENRYLEE TRLHRT RELBELS WAABHAHS
HENEEZENEH2BE L8 R2pA.
it BEE FERAN HNTE
R4, 519 E6, 16557 (0235
3,188 T E9,419% )

() Level adjustments Level adjustment on individual floor of  The higher the upward level
the properties ranged from about50%  adjustment, the higher the fair
£0.95% (2023: 50% to 95%) on specific ~ value, and vice versa,

levels

(2) BEEEZ NEENEEZRERE NTHEE BELEEEHS HAAEEH
B Z450%F95% (203 : 50% % B RZTA o
95%)

(3) Developer’s profit Developer's profit at 30% (2023: 30%), ~ The higher the developer's profit,
taking into account the construction the lower the fair value, and vice
progress of the property versa.

(B #E@EA BEHZEFA0% (2023F:30%) £ ¥EHZENER AALEEH
HRENEZIREE o R2Mm% e
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &t ZE20244#35 31 H 1F F &

1.1 BME =

14.Investment Properties (continued)

Retail shops/complexes

BEBE/BH

1,241,000 Level3 Income capitalisation method Monthly rent, based on saleable

with market unit rent and floor area using direct market
capitalisation rate as the key comparable and taking into account
input and discounted cash flow ~ oftime, location, frontage and size of
analysis with market unit rent properties, which ranged from HKS57
and discount rate as the key to HKST9 (2023: HKS5T to HKST9) per
input square foot

£34 WAEREHE UREEER Al RETAERTLRNEZTER
EXAGEATERAERY EER TSHRMEIREME.
RREREM UnREfR BEE EERA)N ENTETAR
SRUREEATEGALE  STEAREER(QBE STARED

#1)

Capitalisation rate, takinginto account
the capitalisation of rental income
potential, nature of properties,
prevailing market condition, which was
4.25% (2023: 4.25%) per annum

BRfbE GHRERRENAZER
b NEZRE RimERT H4
FE4.25% (20235 : 4.25%)

Discount rate, taking into account the
net capitalisation rate and stabilised
annual rental growth rate, which was
6% (2023: 6%)

R AHRFERbERERERS
BRE ) EA6% (2023% 1 6%)

The higher the monthly rent, the
higher the fair value, and vice
Versa.

Bl WARBEES RZF
Ro

The higher the capitalisation rate,
the lower the fair value, and vice
Versa.

BRfREE HALBERE R
2T e

The higher the discount rate, the
lower the fair value, and vice
versa.

EREHs ARAEEME R
e
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

1S BME =

14.Investment Properties (continued)

Office premises PNNIIN 6,351,000 Level3 Income capitalisation method ~ Monthlyrent, based on saleable floor ~ The higher the monthly rent, the
with market unit rent and area using direct market comparable higher the fair value, and vice
capitalisation rate as the key and taking into account of time, versa.
input and discounted cash flow location, frontage, size of properties,
analysis with market unit rent prevailing market condition, which
and discount rate as the key ranged from HK$45 to HKS74 (2023:
input HKS45 to HKST4) per square foot

BRENE 234 WAEREE UmREER AR RETGERALENEZIER BRER HAABEMR RZH
EXGEATERASERY EER DSHRMELREME. R
RREREM UAREME BEE 8E AN REAR AN
ERERERATESAUE  TETHRUETEUET(NBE:

PETEUET)

Capitalisation rate, takinginto account  The higher the capitalisation rate,
the capitalisation of rental income the lower the fair value, and vice
potential, nature of properties, versa.
prevailing market condition, which was
4.25% (2023: 4.25%) per annum

BAfb: GHREGRSNAZEL EbEER WAABEHE R
£ MEME RAamEkn B 254
FE4.25% (20235 : 4.25%)

Discount rate, taking into accountthe ~ The higher the discount rate, the
net capitalisation rate and stabilised lower the fair value, and vice
annual rental growth rate, whichwas ~ versa.

6% (2023: 6%)

BRZ GHRFEMEERERERS HRELR ARABEUE K2
BRE EA6% (2023% 1 6%) R o

Residential premises 11,600 12300 Level3 Direct comparison method with ~ Market unit rate, mainly taking into Asignificant increase in the market
market unit rate as the key account the time, floor, building unit rate used would result in
input condition and size, between the asignificant increase in the

comparable, which was HKS8,008 fair value of the investment
(2023: HKS8,500) per square foot properties, and vice versa,
HENE 234 ERRTE URREABRIEA THREARR IREHRILRNEE MEATHENERABEMAS

EEL )N ¢4 JERBEBRRARAN A
ETHRS,008 7 (2023 : 8,500%

7T

HRENEZARBEAEEN
R2Zh%e
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &t ZE20244#35 31 H 1F F &

14.Investment Properties (continued) 1ISEME =

Macau

2R

Retail shops/complexes IERRCIDN 1,820,000 Level3 Direct comparison method with  Market unit rate, mainly taking into Asignificant increase in the market
market unit rate as the key account the time, location, frontage unit rate used would result in
input and size, between the comparables, asignificant increase in the

which ranged from HKS8,700 to fair value of the investment
HKS148,000 (2023: HKS8,800 to properties, and vice versa.
HK$170,600) per square foot

DEBH/ B £3% ERERE UMAEMERGEA TREMER IELHRIALENE FEEATREABRAREMNAS

ITHAHE BMzBE B BHERANE  BRENEZLABEAEEN
NEGFHRBI0ATELG 0008  R2ZHHAe
(2023% : 8,800 7 £170,600% 7t)

Commercial properties GRRIDES 492200 Level3 Income capitalisation method ~ Monthly rent, based on saleable The higher the monthly rent, the
with market unit rent and floor area using direct market higher the fair value, and vice
capitalisation rate as the key comparables and taking intoaccount ~~ versa.
input of time, location, frontage and size of

properties, which ranged from HKS$22
to HK998 (2023: HK$26 to HKS92) per
square foot

EEES 34 WAERLE  UHREERES A RENGERALENEZTER BRERS NALBEMR RZH
EEEATERASE AER LAARNEZEE HE. A

BhE BERAN ENFETHR
NETEISET (03E  26ETEN
#n)

Capitalisation rate, takinginto account  The higher the capitalisation rate,
the capitalisation of rental income the lower the fair value, and vice
potential, nature of properties, versa
prevailing market condition, which was
ranged from 3% to 4% (2023: 3% to 4%)
perannum

BAfbE GHRERRESUAZER EREFER WAABEHE R
b MEZE RAamakn B0 254
THE0E% (0235 : 3%F4%)

Residential premises 31,300 38200 Level3 Direct comparison method with  Market unit rate, mainly taking into Asignificant increase in the market
market unit rate as the key account the time, location, quality, unit rate used would result in
input view, floor level and size, betweenthe  asignificant increase in the

comparables, which was HK$6,800 fair value of the investment
(2023: HKST,000) per square foot properties, and vice versa.
ftEn% 234 ERU T UARENERIEA THREARR IELHRILRNES MERATHRENERABEMKS
EL PN ¢ (BB EEE 2B BER  BREWEZLABEAEEM
KV BETERES00ET (0BE:  RZFAe
7000%7)
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sFaMERRMsE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

14.Investment Properties (continued) 11 EME =

UK
1|
Retail shops/complexes/offices/  FVRNEEES 2648828 Level3 Income capitalisation method Monthly rent, based on internal floor area  Assignificant increase in the market
residential premises with market unit rent and using direct market comparablesand ~ unit rent used would result in
capitalisation rate as the key taking into account of time, location, asignificant increase in the
input frontage and size of properties, which ~ fair value of the investment
ranged from HKS13 to HKS197 (2023: properties, and vice versa,
HK$35 to HKS436) per square foot
DEBH/ B/ HAE/ 234 WABREE > UREERES AR RESHERTURNEZABE FRETSEMESAEEMAS
frEng (ESZEEEDPN AER UEHRYEZNE iE. RRENEZLABEXEEM

BEHE BERAM ENFETAR  RZB%A-
BETELTET (0BE 353 E
436771

Capitalisation rate, taking into account  The higher the capitalisation rate,
the capitalisation of rental income the lower the fair value, and vice
potential nature of properties, versa,
prevailing market condition, which
ranged from 3.75% to 4.5% (2023: 3%
to 4.4%) per annum

BAlbE GHREGHESUAZER ERbEER UAABEME R
£ NEZME RATHRR B 2F%Ro
NEGEITNELS% (023F 1 3%E
4.4%)
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SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

111G EME =

14.Investment Properties (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s investment properties with
fair value of HKS$29,200,308,000 (2023: HKS$32,259,861,000)
have been pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the
Group (details are set out in note 42).

Joint operation relating to investment
properties under development in The PRC
Some subsidiaries of the Company, Expert Pearl Investments
Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Expert Pearl Group”) entered into a joint operation
agreement (the “JO Agreement”) with Shanghai Zhangxi
Investment Development Co., Ltd. (the “JO Partner”) to
jointly develop investment properties under development
located in Shanghai (the “Shanghai Property”). Expert
Pearl Group and the JO Partner intend to develop the
Shanghai Property into a commercial complex (“The PRC
Project”). Under the JO Agreement, the saleable floor area
would be split between the parties in equal shares after the
completion of the development of the Project. Pursuant to
the terms of the JO Agreement, The PRC Project is accounted
for as a joint operation.

There was litigation between Expert Pearl Group and the JO
Partner since 2006. In 2012, the Group received the court
judgement that the JO Agreement shall continue to have
effect. Details of these are disclosed in 2011/2012 annual
report.

As at 31 March 2024, the major asset in The PRC Project
is the investment properties under development with fair
value of HK$1,195,000,000 (2023: HKS$1,284,000,000). The
site preparation work had been completed at the end of
the reporting period, the valuation has been arrived at by
adopting residual method.

As at 31 March 2024, the receivables related to a development
project of HK$163,801,000 (2023: HK$169,628,000) represent
the construction cost incurred by the Group and receivable
from the JO Partner.
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FR2024%3831H ZEBMAABEA
29,200,308,0003% 7T (20234F : 32,259,861,000
BT)NKREVEESTIRF AKX
EEERBETHRENERGEBHR
Bt 5E42) ©

FRARBERRPIREME
ZEEEH

&2 F Z K B 2 7 Expert Pearl
Investments Limited Kz H it B A 5
(#:78 A TExpert Pearl @) & L i51
BREZEERABDTEEBH)E]
TeEWmER(SEHmE) ULRAE
BURLESHZERERPREWE((L
EY) %)) o Expert Pearl EE K & &
BHERRBRLEVERRABERS
XKiE(HHIEH)  RIEBEEEWHE
AIHNELFRBRRERTEEEZERE
BRERMEEITEREERE
REEEWEZBKRIR PFEERB A
IRAGEXER o

BH20064 #E > Expert Pearl E@ & &
ERHZHEFERRD o R20124F -
AEEBBIERHR cEHEE
BEN - BRFEBEHKEN2011/2012
FHo

1t2024%53831H R EE B B £
EEEAERPREVE - HEAR
& & %41,195,000,0007%& T (20234 :
1,284,000,0007% 7t)  #h 28 %= & T {F
ERNKREHARTR TEXRARE
RETHE-

2024438310 HEREEHEM
B9 FE U 7% T8 % 163,801,000 7T (2023
£:169,628,0008 5T) I A EE B
EENEERAREREEEFZ
FRIE o
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sFaMERRMsE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

15.M% - iR Rmb

15.Property, Plant and Equipment

COST %

At 1 April 2022 12022545118 515,516 3,033,597 529,613 660,472 4,739,198
Exchange realignment SNERE (12,643) - (2,541) (815) (15,999)
Additions RE - — 18,810 19,859 38,669
Disposals HE - - (458) (10,196) (10,654)
At 31 March 2023 12023438318 502,873 3,033,597 545,424 669,320 4,751,214
Exchange realignment SNERE (3,464) - (1,203) (363) (5,030)
Additions FE = = 4,140 13,067 17,207
Disposals HE - - - (8,573) (8,573)
At 31 March 2024 120245 3R31H 499,409 3,033,597 548,361 673,451 4,754,818
DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT WERAE

At 1 April 2022 1#2022&4818 111,249 723,703 471,520 626,614 1,933,086
Exchange realignment SNERE (4,244) - (1,052) (577) (5,873)
Provided for the year rEEZEE 16,635 73,904 28,826 23,022 142,387
Reversal of impairment loss HEBEEE - - (2,790) (28,991) (31,781)
Eliminated on disposal HE R 8 - - (458) (9,666) (10,124)
At 31 March 2023 2023438318 123,640 797,607 496,046 610,402 2,027,695
Exchange realignment SNERE (2,237) - (660) (284) (3,181)
Provided for the year AEEZEE 16,125 73,904 23,520 32,197 145,746
Eliminated on disposal B 4R 2 - = = (8,429) (8,429)
At 31 March 2024 1#2024%3A831H 137,528 871,511 518,906 633,886 2,161,831
CARRYING VALUE REE

At 31 March 2024 120245 3R31H 361,881 2,162,086 29,455 39,565 2,592,987
At 31 March 2023 1202338318 379,233 2,235,990 49,378 58,918 2,123,519
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sra M ERRMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

15.Property, Plant and Equipment 5. ME -HEBREHE®
(continued)
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of MEDME KBBERKBERAEGE
property, plant and equipment, less their residual value over A ERAFHANERERZTISEL
their estimated useful lives, using the straight line method, at RS UM E R A RETRE
the following rates per annum:
Leasehold land and Over the estimated useful HEIHRIEF MGotIERFHRAN+TER
buildings lives of 40 years or the HEEABLAZ KE W EH
unexpired terms of the UBEEAE)
relevant leases, whichever
is shorter
Hotel properties Over the estimated useful BIEME e ERFRNTER
lives of 40 years or the HRRNZRERED
unexpired terms of the UBREEAE)
relevant leases, whichever
is shorter
Leasehold improvements 10-20% HEMERE 10-20%
Others 10-33"49% Hith 10-33%%
As lease payments for land and buildings elements cannot HR I REFHIZ2HENER
be allocated reliably, the entire lease includes in the carrying AR Mok BHENEIRHE
amount of the leasehold land and buildings. EX M KARBFZREE -

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
Annual Report 2023/2024 3%k

165




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR EMTERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

15.Property, Plant and Equipment

166

(continued)

On 30 December 2022, Tin Hou entered into a new service
agreement with SJM for the provision of gaming related
marketing and public relation services to SIM in Grand
Emperor Hotel for a term of 3 years commencing 1 January
2023. Pursuant to the new service agreement, the Directors
concluded there was indication for a reversal of impairment
and conducted impairment assessment on property,
plant and equipment in respect of hotel and hotel related
operations in Grand Emperor Hotel which was fully impaired
during the year ended 31 March 2022. The recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment in respect of
hotel and hotel related operations in Grand Emperor Hotel
was estimated based on value in use method with significant
unobservable inputs and key assumptions adopted by the
management of the Group including forecasted revenue
and costs, and discount rate. Based on the result of the
assessment as at 31 March 2023, the Directors determined
that the recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment in respect of hotel and hotel related operations
in Grand Emperor Hotel is higher than its carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for these assets in prior year. During the
year ended 31 March 2023, a reversal of impairment loss of
HKS$31,781,000 has been recognised on property, plant and
equipment in respect of hotel and hotel related operations
in Grand Emperor Hotel. During the year ended 31 March
2024, in view of operating profits incurred by hotel and hotel
related operations in Grand Emperor Hotel, the Directors
concluded there was no indication for impairment on
property, plant and equipment in respect of hotel and hotel
related operations in Grand Emperor Hotel.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, in view of operating
losses incurred by hotel operations in Grand Emperor
Hotel, the Directors performed impairment assessment
of the property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of Grand Emperor Hotel Properties by comparing its
recoverable amounts to its carrying amounts in aggregate
of HKS$621,242,000 as at 31 March 2023. No impairment loss
was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2023 as the
recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets of Grand Emperor Hotel Properties
were higher than its carrying amounts. As at 31 March 2023,
the Grand Emperor Hotel Properties comprise property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets in respect of
hotel operations with carrying amounts of HK$502,474,000
and HKS$118,768,000, respectively.

15.M% - BB R=BEw

1220224128308 » X = H IR 1R 57
3 — 17 R BR 5 % & 0 B B2023%F1
BIHE=ZFHHAERERLEIE
MR REREBEEAATEERERA
MR REFORTZHRZ EF
AR RERLONR  IHEER
SBEEZBIERBERBERZY
E - KBERRBEETHESNG H
B E2022F3831H L FEE X SR
B BEREBEZHERBIEE
MEBZME-RERRBZIR
MEBENEAEBREERBRAZY
REXFATHEZDAHBERBARRK
% (6045 T A U A T B 7S A e 37 3R K)
LU B fEE 75 & 5t o IR#% 102023
FEIABIHMNFALER  EFEER
EREBEZBAERBEEBES
ZUME-HERRBEZAT RO EE
BREENBEFEREUNXFTEE
ERXHREGEZREREE B&F
20233831 EE EMEER
SBAEZBIERBERBER ZY
E MBI RFEEIDBAEGEZD
31,781,000 jT o # E2024%3831
HEFE  ENRERLBENE
ERBEEBEFEEEEEN
EERAUENRBETREERSE
ERBIERBERBEBZNYE -
WERREHTRFE-

B E2023F3A31H L FE > B HE
EREBEENBASEHEEZLE
GE O EFEBRLERAEEREBE
¥) 2 9] U [B] & 58 52 2 220233831
H 89 &R & & & $£621,242,000% 7t >
HEME HESrKBEREAESR
EETRENE - 8 E20235F3A31
HLEFE > TEBRIHAEBSE:
AEEBREBEMEZYWE - HS
R&fEhEREEEZAIWE L
SR HEHKREE - K2023F38318 »
RERALBEYERRBEEEZEBD
ME- -KERIBEURCEAEEE
iR @ 1B 7 Bl %502,474,000% T &
118,768,0007% JT °
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SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

15.Property, Plant and Equipment 15.M% - R RE(Ho

(continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, in view of operating
profits incurred by hotel operations in Grand Emperor Hotel
as a result of the recovery in the Macau tourism industry,
the Directors concluded there was indication for a reversal
of impairment and conducted impairment assessment
on the Grand Emperor Hotel Properties by comparing its
recoverable amounts to its carrying amounts in aggregate
of HKS$580,304,000 as at 31 March 2024. No reversal of the
impairment loss was recognised during the year ended
31 March 2024. As at 31 March 2024, the Grand Emperor
Hotel Properties comprise property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets in respect of hotel operations with
carrying amounts of HKS$466,687,000 and HKS$113,617,000,
respectively.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, in view of operating
losses incurred by Inn Hotel, the Directors performed
impairment assessment of the property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets of Inn Hotel by comparing
its recoverable amounts to its carrying amounts in aggregate
of HK$481,855,000 as at 31 March 2023. No impairment loss
was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2023 as the
recoverable amounts of the property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets of Inn Hotel were higher than its
carrying amounts. During the year ended 31 March 2024,
in view of the operating profits incurred in Inn Hotel, the
Directors concluded there was no indication for impairment
on property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of
Inn Hotel.

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023,
in view of operating losses incurred by The Emperor Hotel,
the Directors performed impairment assessment of the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of The
Emperor Hotel by comparing its recoverable amounts to its
carrying amounts in aggregate of HK$1,396,616,000 as at 31
March 2024 (2023: HKS$1,440,088,000). No impairment loss
was recognised during the year ended 31 March 2024 and
31 March 2023 as the recoverable amounts of the property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of The Emperor
Hotel are higher than its carrying amounts.
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B E2024F3A31H L FE » BN E
SR GETHE BB IS B RS R PR
BEERELECEEN  EFI R
EREZLNNTR  LHEBALEKRE
B] U [o] & 3R 2 H 02024 F3A31H W
iR @ & & 580,304,000 JT > ¥ &=
EREBEYEETRET MG - &
E2024F3H31H Lk F E It # #5808
B &5 18 # [@ o 702024538310 > 3
EREBEMECEREEDNA
466,687,0007% 7t 5 113,617,000 7T /&
EEBNYE HERKBUARER
BEE-

B E2023F3A31H L FE > TR
HEHEELEEEBE EFEBIL
B AR OB [E 50 2023F3831H M AT K
[ & % 84 H iR | {8 & $£481,855,000
BT HEME HERKBEURK
ERAREEETREN G BRE
HHEENYE HERKBEUARE
AREEBENAKROEESCHEKRE
B> & E2023F38318LFEL
WD ERE - 8 E20245F3A31
HEFE  ERNBHAEELENE
A EERAREBEENYE
WRERBUAKREREEEL E R
BIR -

# F2024%#3H831H K2023%#3831
BEEE ENBEERSHEESE
KEFEE EEERLEREERS
BE 202438310 B9 AT Y [B] & 28
B OH BRI E 4 +1,396,616,0003 T
(20234F : 1,440,088,0003& 7T) > ¥ H
ME - KBEREURERAESE
ETREFGE BREERSAE
MY EERBEURGEHEES
ENTdKEBSESNEKRTE &
& F2024%#3H831H K2023%#3831
BItEETERIRERIE -
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sFaMERRMsE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

15.M%¥  -BEBRREo

LREET M REFREEYEZ
UEMT:

15.Property, Plant and Equipment

(continued)
The locations of leasehold land and buildings and hotel
properties shown above are as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings BEEBEZHE LI RIETF
in Hong Kong
Buildings in The PRC

Buildings in Macau

29,243 30,511
PEZIETF 275,067 288,804
BPIZBF 57,571 59,918

361,881 379,233

Hotel properties in Hong Kong EBZBIEYE 1,372,140 1,413,143
Hotel properties in Macau B Z B IEY % 789,946 822,847
2,162,086 2,235,990

16.Right-of-Use Assets 16.ERESE

COoST 5% 3
At 1 April 2022 72022F481H 558,046 26,003 584,049
Additions RE — 857 857
Lease expiry/terminated HERM 41k — (8,881) (8,881)
Lease modification HEEX — (2,344) (2,344)
At 31 March 2023 and #2023F3831H &

31 March 2024 2024%F3831H 558,046 15,635 573,681
DEPRECIATION e
At 1 April 2022 122022F481H 82,008 13,079 95,087
Provided for the year KEEZEE 18,715 2,525 21,240
Eliminated upon lease 05 Em 42 1L B K 8

expiry/terminated (8,881) (8,881)

168

At 31 March 2023 202343H831H 100,723 107,446
Provided for the year KEEZEE 18,717 21,257
At 31 March 2024 2024%E3831H 119,440 128,703
CARRYING VALUE BREE

At 31 March 2024 12024538318 438,606 444,978
At 31 March 2023 202343H831H 457,323 8,912 466,235
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SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

16.Right-of-Use Assets (continued) 16 EESE =

2024 2023

HK$’000 HKS’ 000

FEx FHET

Expense relating to short-term leases ERESHEEZHX 992
Total cash outflow for leases HEZREMH4EEE 6,870

The Group leases certain leasehold lands and warehouse
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term from 2 to 25 years (2023: 2 to 25 years). Certain leases of
leasehold lands in Macau are negotiated for an initial term of
25 years with extension options exercisable by the Group.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a
contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns certain hotel and commercial
properties classified as property, plant and equipment
and investment properties respectively. The Group is the
registered owner of these property interests, including the
underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire these property interests. The
leasehold land components of these owned properties are
not presented separately as the payments made cannot be
allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
office. As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the portfolio
of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of leases
disclosed above.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group assessed the leasehold
lands included in right-of-use assets of Grand Emperor
Hotel together with their respective hotel properties for
impairment by considering their recoverable amounts, in
view of operating losses incurred by the hotel operations
in Grand Emperor Hotel. The details of the determination
of the recoverable amounts are disclosed in note 15. No
impairment loss was recognised on the leasehold lands of
Grand Emperor Hotel for the year ended 31 March 2023. As
at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of right-of-use assets
amounting to HKS$118,768,000 is included in the Grand
Emperor Hotel Properties.
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rEBRHEETHELIHREERE
AEEH MESNFRITILIZE
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HERRLDREERBERETHS
Re3KEE AN ERBEMESF R
BEEHAKRGSATHMBEHABNR
ER AEFRASHNEERE
EEREH EMBEM -

W5 Z"EBDREEETIES
ME-RERRBZEERBEY
EURBRENFE - SEBLZEFY
X (BEAEBEE L) 23 M
BAN mWBEZSTVERER B
AN —FBME - HRKAER
SEOERFRIME RXEBENE
NHEELIHSB oL EERET -

FEERMAEERTLEHHAEE -
1£2024F3H31H %2023%F3H318
A EES R EXEREZEHEEME
GHEE -

2023538310 BN R EREA
EZBEEEBELEZEEGR £
EBUTKEBERFLEEREE
EstAEREEEZHAELHER
BEEHERZBENMEZRE BEE
HREEEZFRERMFEISRE -
B E2023F3A31HILEFE > L ER
RERMEBEZRAE T MERRE
B8 - 102023F3A31 EAESE
7 AR M {5118,768,0007# T 5t A H 2
IRGTEHIEY X -
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LR EMTERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

16.Right-of-Use Assets (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group assessed the leasehold
lands included in right-of-use assets of Grand Emperor Hotel
together with its respective hotel properties for reversal of
impairment by considering their recoverable amounts, in
view of operating profits incurred by the hotel operations
in Grand Emperor Hotel as a result of the recovery in the
Macau tourism industry. The details of the determination of
the recoverable amount are disclosed in note 15. No reversal
of the impairment loss was recognised for the year ended
31 March 2024. As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount
of right-of-use assets amounting to HK$113,617,000 was
included in the Grand Emperor Hotel Properties.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group assessed the leasehold
lands included in right-of-use assets of The Emperor Hotel
(2023: Inn Hotel and The Emperor Hotel) together with their
respective hotel properties for impairment by considering
their recoverable amounts, in view of operating losses
incurred by these hotels. The details of the determination
of the recoverable amounts are disclosed in note 15. No
impairment loss was recognised on the leasehold lands
of Inn Hotel and The Emperor Hotel for the year ended 31
March 2024 and 31 March 2023.

17.Interest in an Associate

170

Interest in an associate represents the Group’s 50% equity
interest in Xinhui Hongsheng Property Development
Company Limited (“Xinhui Hongsheng”). In view of the
composition of board of directors of Xinhui Hongsheng, the
Directors consider that the Group has significant influence
over Xinhui Hongsheng. Xinhui Hongsheng is established
in The PRC and is engaged in property development in The
PRC.

16.EAEREw

122024383110 » 7R FI ik ifs %
B REREEFEZEHEXEHE
FREEMN > AEB UKL EE
FEEEREBEFAERAREE
ZHEIHERSBHEBZEEY
Xz REREOD BEETREEEZ
FHIERM LS E - 8 £20245F38
BIHIEFE > It E TN EES 8 &
[E] o }22024%F3831H ERAREE
iR E {E113,617,0007% 7T 5t A 3= £ 12
SLEEYE o

12202453831 ENHEER KRB
JE(2023%F : B A E KRR EERE
F)EEKEER > AEB U IE
THRILZSBEEFACRAEEE
ZHEIHERSBHEBZEEY
EZRE - BEIJHREZEZFE
PO B 5E154 B8 o # E20244F3A31H
F%2023%3H831H 1L F E > I £ 7 B8
WHEREEERRBENAE L
HE SRR BT 18 o

ITR—HBEEQ8 2z

R—EBREQRARNZERIEAERR
MEEBRMELXRARLAACHE
HER)FANS0%ED - ERNHER
REZTGZHEHR  EETALEEH
HESEREBEATEN -HE
BERPERIL RPEEEME
BRER -

2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HKS 000
FER FET

Cost of investment in an associate, R—REIELFTHRELATZ
unlisted BRE R 75,978
Share of translation reserve DILEREE (2,150)
Share of post-acquisition profits AU R E A 36,402
110,230
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sra M ERRMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

1. —RHEATI 2 ES @

17.Interest in an Associate (continued)

The associate is accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s
associate is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts shown in associate’s
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

ZBMERBD UG AT AXFLR
BHBHRE -

FAEBBEQATDZMBENBEH
RTFXe TRHMBFEMBTEZIERE
ERAMBEREENRENBEQT
MBRERAT R ZEEE -

2024 2023

HKS$’ 000 HKS 000

FER FET

Current assets MENEE 394,962
Non-current assets ERBEE 25,251
Current liabilities mEAaE (208,363)
Revenue A 2,914
Loss for the year FERFIE (24,209)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in an
associate and share of result recognised in the consolidated
financial statements:

S ARG B R R R BE SR A B — ) B
EABEREZIREBERDEEEHR
LB ER B EHROT:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HKS 000
FER F#ET
Net assets of an associate R—EBERRZEEE 211,850

Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBER—HBE QT
interest in an associate BT ZFGLEDER 50%
105,925

Effect of fair value adjustment at KWBEFARBEAEZ

acquisition (Note) B () 4,305
110,230

The exchange loss of HKS3,787,000 (2023: exchange loss
of HK$9,709,000) arising from translation of financial
information of an associate for the year ended 31 March 2024
is recognised in OCl and accumulated in translation reserve.

Note: During the year, the fair value adjustment on properties under
development at acquisition released to profit and loss and
included in share of result of an associate upon sale of the

properties amounted to HK$80,000 (2023: HKS$343,000).

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF

B E2024F3B31H L EFEE > 0 E —
BHMERAMBENMELEERE
$83,787,0007% JT (20234F : EE R &5 18
9,709,000 7T) 75 it H fth 2 H U = FE
BRNERFEERE -

Mz RAEEE > WHENREERE RIH
EMERSADGE—BBHEQARDZ
REZERPYEZRAAREEBE
#580,0007% 75(2023£F 1 343,000 7T)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

18.Interest in a Joint Venture

172

Interest in a joint venture represents interest in Castle
Horizon Holdings Limited (“Castle Horizon”) in which the
Group holds 50% equity interest. All decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of all the
joint venture partners sharing control. Castle Horizon holds
100% interest in Superb Land Limited and Summer Estate
Enterprises Limited together with their subsidiaries, being
the property development companies of a development
project located at No.15 Shouson Hill Road West, Hong Kong.

BR—HeEtRZzZHm
R—REEEtEZHTEAERR
A Castle Horizon Holdings Limited
(TCastle Horizonl) Z50% fg # - 48
EEZFBARRAKMBEHRAEZSR
ERIEZSEBHE—REE - Castle
Horizon$¥ & Superb Land Limited &
Summer Estate Enterprises Limited
(EEKREZHEBRT)Z100%# % »
HEAUREBSELERAISKZ
EREBZYMEERRAQT o

2024 2023
HKS$’000 HKS 000
F#Ex FHET

Cost of investment in a joint R—HEEEtEZRERAE
venture, unlisted JEET 65,002
Share of post-acquisition losses D EREE (48,283)
16,719
Amount due from a joint venture RK—E&a&EEEZRIEA 1,310,861
1,327,580

As at 31 March 2024, the amount due from a joint venture
carries interest at 2.2% (2023: 2.2%) per annum. It has no
fixed terms of repayment and the Group has no intention
to exercise its right to demand repayment of the advance
within twelve months from the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the amount forms part of net investment and it
is shown as non-current.

The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method in
these consolidated financial statements.

122024538310 B — B & &
¥ ZRIET I F F £2.2% (2023
FiI22%) 5 R c MR EE E B
Mo MAEBRESRHESHRIE
TZEARITHEEEMNUAEZERERER
ZRER - EI ZETRBEHAERE
W—&D > W RIERS -

ZEEREED AT AT AZER
MEBEmE o

o) &
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

18.Interest in a Joint Venture (continued) 18.—HEaEtE2ZESE®
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s TEEBRERAZHBZERNBESR
joint venture is set out below. The summarised financial RTFX Tt HHERBEZHERE
information below represents amounts shown in joint BEMBRSENGFGNNESELE
venture’s financial statements prepared in accordance with MBRERAIITRZEEE -
HKFRSs.
2024 2023
HKS$’000 HKS 000
TER F#ET
Current assets MENEE 4,798,041
Current liabilities REaE (3,238,055)
Non-current liabilities EREEE (1,677,380)
Revenue A 435,000
Loss for the year FEFBIB (13,255)
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial RGEEUBRRPEINR—HESE
information to the carrying amount of the interest in a joint ErXERGEZREEARDHERE
venture and share of result recognised in the consolidated tHMHBER R ERROT:
financial statements:
2024 2023
HKS$’000 HKS 000
TER F#ET
Net liabilities of a joint venture —HeEtEZABEER (117,394)
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBR—HEELER
interest in a joint venture EREEmZAAEEDE 50%
(58,697)
Amount due from a joint venture RR—BEEEEZNRE 1,310,861
Effect of fair value adjustment on WEEIMEE 2 AREE
acquisition of additional interest BEZZE 75,416
1,327,580
As at 31 March 2024, the Group has given a corporate 2024638318 A EBEMERE
guarantee of HK$1,165,000,000 (2023: HK$1,165,000,000) to a R 2 B (Superb Land Limited Z K & 2
bank in respect of banking facilities granted to Talent Charm ENERZEBITRER—HEEITEM
Corporation Limited, a subsidiary of Superb Land Limited, 1 % 3£ {%1,165,000,0007% 7t (20234 :
of which HK$719,892,000 (2023: HKS$1,012,738,000) has been 1,165,000,0007% 7t) » H F1719,892,000
utilised. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair value of the 7 75 (20234 : 1,012,738,0005%8 7T) B &
financial guarantee is not significant. PR -EFZTR UBERZIAAE
BFREK-
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

19.Goodwill 19.55 8
HK$’000
F&T
COST X 2=
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and H22022F481H ~ 2023%F3831H %
31 March 2024 20245 3H31H
IMPAIRMENT B
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and 20224818 ~ 2023F3A31H X
31 March 2024 20245%3AH31H
CARRYING VALUE iR M (B
At 31 March 2024 220245 3H31H
At 31 March 2023 H22023%£3H31H 1,940

Regarding the remaining goodwill of HKS$1,940,000 (2023:
HKS$1,940,000) for the purpose of impairment test, it has
been allocated to the cash-generating unit in relation to
the lease of properties, and no impairment is considered
necessary.

20.0ther Assets

Club debentures and memberships,
at cost

FLER T 1,940,0007% 7T (20234 : 1,940,000
BIU)ZEHEMS > AETHENR -
ZHEEOREVFEHEHEZREE
FEAU BEMEBEREZEE -

EFFESFRERE > BERE

20. H fth 5 &
2024 2023
HKS$’ 000 HKS 000
FEx FET
3,997

The club debentures and memberships have indefinite life.

EFFfESREREAEBEREN -

21.Properties Held for Sale .G1FHEZME
The carrying amounts of properties held for sale comprise FEHEZMEZREESFEMR
properties situated in: I SR kY

2024 2023

HKS$’000 HKS 000

F#Ex F#ET

Hong Kong BB 581,956

The PRC ] 453

582,409
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

RLFELEZHERPYE

22.Properties Under Development for

Sale

The amounts represent projects of properties under
development for sale in Hong Kong.

Included in the amounts are properties under development for
sale of approximately HK$3,081,186,000 (2023: HK$4,311,331,000)
which are expected to be recovered after twelve months from the
end of the reporting period.

During the year, the net interest capitalised in properties
under development for sale amounted to HKS$362,203,000
(2023: HKS$142,124,000).

23.Trade and Other Receivables

An analysis of trade and other receivables is as follows:

FRETHRENREERFHEZER
RE -

ZENABREZEFLHEZERED
¥ % %493,081,186,000/# 7T (20234 :
4,311,331,0007% yt) T8 5t F 1 ¥ & HA
R+ @B ®eT Uk -

REEE FEHEZRETYE
2B AL F B F (& %4362,203,00058
75 (20234 : 142,124,000 7T) ©

3.8 5 R HthEURIE

B RhEMBRREBEZHMT:

2024 2023

HK$ 000 HKS 000

FER FET

Trade receivables (Note a) B 5 W EIE (M ata) 56,069
Other receivables (Note b) Hth FE W FRIE (M 2% D) 178,424
Deposits and prepayments (Note c) BRERFBEARE M) 237,035
471,528

As at 31 March 2024, trade receivables comprise receivables
from contracts with customers and lease receivables of
HK$49,326,000 (2023: HKS$33,314,000) and HK$9,849,000
(2023: HKS22,755,000) respectively.

As at 1 April 2022, trade receivables from contracts with
customers and lease receivables amounted to HK$24,431,000
and HKS41,242,000 respectively.

An aging analysis of the Group’s trade receivables (net of
impairment allowance) based on either the date of credit
granted or the invoice date at the end of the reporting period
is set out below:

R2024FE3831H BRI IER
BEREFTREHNZEBARIEREW
EHIED § 449,326,000 75 (2023
£ 133,314,00078 7T) 529,849,000 7T
(20234 : 22,755,000 7T) ©

R2022F481H REEFR &AW
B2 RKREREEREKRED 5
#524,431,00078 7T % 41,242,000 7T °

RBEEHR *EHEZEBNRE
(N EREEERERHEEAHN
HEHMMFHZRE DT :

2024 2023

HK$’ 000 HKS 000

FER FET

0-30 days 0Z30H 41,483
31-90 days 31E90H 1,314
91-180 days 91%180H 294
Over 180 days 180B XU 12,978
56,069
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

23.Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

Notes:

(@) No credit period was granted to tenants for rental of premises.
Before accepting any new tenant, the Group will internally assess
the credit quality of the potential tenant. No credit period was
granted to hotel customers generally except for those high credit
rating customers to whom an average credit period of 30 days were
granted.

For gaming operation, the Group normally allows credit periods of
up to 60 days to its credit approved customers, except for certain
credit worthy customers with long term relationship and stable
repayment pattern, where the credit periods are extended to a
longer period.

As at 31 March 2024, included in the trade receivable balances in
respect of other operations are debtors with carrying amounts of
HK$9,849,000 (2023: HKS$22,755,000) which are past due at the end
of the reporting period.

(b) Asat 31 March 2024, included in other receivables are amounts due
from related companies of HK$39,746,000 (2023: HKS$45,520,000).
These related companies are indirectly controlled by private
discretionary trusts which are founded by Dr. Yeung, a deemed
substantial shareholder of the Company. The amount is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

(c) As at 31 March 2024, included in deposits and prepayments are
refundable stamp duties in respect of redevelopment projects of
HKS$145,654,000 (2023: HKS145,654,000).

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in
note 40(b).

24.Deposit in Designated Bank Account

176

for Development Properties

The amount of HK$9,628,000 (2023: HKS$9,885,000) (equivalent
to approximately RMB8,728,000 (2023: RMB8,653,000)), was
deposited to a bank account designated under 1t = & 5
EREEIERB as deposit for resettlement in relation to the
development of the investment properties in The PRC. Such
bank deposit is restricted for settlement in relation to the
resettlement work and carried interest at 1.0% (2023: 1.0%)
per annum. The deposit is expected to be released within
twelve months from the end of the reporting period and
classified as current assets.

BB RHEMEUTRIE=
Wiz

(a) AEEUTERABEEYEZABARS
EER -REMERHTAEAAZA
FEBRAMTIEEETRBEAZEE
R - FEFBETAEMBEERR
RHEEH EEERFZERKI
A&t Z FEEHR30H -

MEBEEZMS AEE-—KRHETH
EEEEHRNERRERSZ60HZ1E
B -METEARPHEGKRBEE
REXNEERFER REZEH
HrELERE—BRRPMA -

12024538318 AthEH B 5 E
Ui R TE 45 B B ¥ AR E 519,849,000 7T
(20234 : 22,755,000 7T) = FE W BR =X >
HNRSBEREAM -

(b) H2024FE3H831H EMMEKRRIE R
¥E FE UK B i A B) Z F0 839,746,000 7T
(20234 : 45,520,000 TT)e Z S RAERQ
AYHEBETWRARRBTZEFER
BRI ZWABBEIREES A
RARIBAERF - RERBREREE-

(c) #2024%F3R31H ¥ & K 78 ¥ &
EGEEREBZAORENITER
145,654,0003% 7T(20234F : 145,654,000
BIt)e

B E2024F383IHLEENEZ K
H fth & U 70 TR (B 5T 5 1R E S MY
££40(b) ©

UMBERMEFHRIEE

SRITERBAZER

cEEFEBILIREEEEREERRE
5 & R 17 BR B 77 A9,628,00078 T
(20234 : 9,885,000 JT)(H9 ¥ E
A R #8,728,0007T (2023F : A R &
8,653,0007%))  FAEHMAEHE PEIIR
EYMEIRE ZBTERERR
BEEHMENMSEIZEERR
A $% E F 1.0% (20234 : 1.0%) &t
Be B ZERBNERS I RES
T EBEARRBRLFEARBEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

25.Pledged Bank Deposits/Short-Term

Bank Deposits/Bank Balances and Cash

As at 31 March 2024, pledged bank deposits comprise (i) a
deposit of HK$30,811,000 classified as non-current asset
(2023: HKS65,887,000 classified as current asset) and (ii)
a deposit of HKS311,000 (2023: HKS$S300,000) (classified as
current asset), details of which are set out in notes 42(a)
and 42(b) respectively. The pledged bank deposits carry
fixed interest rates which ranged from 3.55% to 4.20% (2023:
2.80% to 3.80%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2024, short-term bank deposits with an
original maturity over 3 months carry interest at fixed
interest rates of 4.70% (2023: 1.20% to 4.30%) per annum.

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group
and bank deposits with an original maturity of 3 months or
less and carry interests at the prevailing market rate at 0.01%
(2023: 0.01%) per annum or at fixed interest rates which
ranged from 1.50% to 4.58% (2023: 2.00% to 3.55%) per
annum.

Included in pledged bank deposits, short-term bank deposits
and bank balances and cash are the following amounts
denominated in currency other than functional currency of
the relevant group entities:

Macau Pataca (“MOP”) BT (GRS T))
usSb ETT
RMB AR

Pound Sterling (‘GBP”) g (T %))

nEmWﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ

HA
RITEM SRTERR
RE
2024438310 > BIRFIRITER
4% (i) 7 5230,811,0008 T D B A JE
TR EhE & (20234 : 65,887,00058 7T 5
A REEE) K (i) 7 ™311,000%
75 (20234 : 300,000 7T)(9 8 & =
BEE) HEB D &M E42(a)
K42b)c BB IRITERRN F
3.55% E£4.20% B9 E & &£ F % (2023
:2.80%F3.80%) it B o

122024438310 > R ¥ #5 H #8 83
BRENERRTERZEEENX
4.70% (20234 :1.20% ZE4.30%) &t
B e

RTERERTOEFAERFEZ
RERREBAAIMEHAHUAT -
RIIT ™5 F F £0.01% (2023%F :
0.01%) = & & F # &R % F1.50% =
4.58% (20234 :2.00% £3.55%) 5t &
ZIRITEM °

BEFRITENR EHRITENRA
RITERRRTEETIUERE
EERZNEEBUINEBEEZ
T

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$ 000
F#r FHET
18,981

23,699

235,672

858
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26.Trade and Other Payables 260 BR RHEMECSERIE
An aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables based on RBESHF AEBEZRMRIE
invoice date at the end of the reporting period is set out REBEZZHHEMREHZERES AW
below: e
2024 2023
HKS$’000 HKS 000
TE&nr THERT
0-90 days 0&E90H 24,871
91-180 days 91F180H 330
Over 180 days 180 £ 15
25,216
Amount due to a shareholder of an A —REBE AT RRE
associate (Note) FRIE (M 5E) 1,356
Construction payables and accruals ENMTIERERESER 299,302
Rental and other deposits received BEREERAEMBZE 273,792
Other payables and accruals HithWE A RERESER 202,316
801,982

Note: The amount due to a shareholder of an associate is unsecured,

interest-free and repayable on demand.

Mt BN —HBELBARRNERER
B REREEREE-

27.Contract Liabilities YR -§ h-Ri
2024 2023
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FT#Ex FE T
Pre-sales proceeds received on HEMEMKBMZEES

sales of properties Frig 18 2,735
As at 1 April 2022, contract liabilities amounted to 1R2022F481H » &4981&7#11,029,000

HKS$11,029,000. BT o
During the year, the amount of HKS$2,735,000 (2023: REFEE > tAFVNENEEERN

178

HK$10,491,000) which was included in contract liabilities
balance at the beginning of the year was recognised as
revenue.

The Group on average receives 10% of the contract value
as deposits from customers when they sign the sale and
purchase agreement. However, depending on market
conditions, the Group may offer customers a discount
compared to the listed sales price, provided that the
customers agree to pay the balance of the consideration
early while construction is still ongoing. The deposits and
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities
being recognised throughout the property construction
period until the customer obtains control of the completed

property.

& %82,735,0007% 7t (20234 : 10,491,000
BT BHERDBUEA -

rEBREERERIEEHRR
—RBIREFLINENEEIERIR
ToAM  METHER  ERE
EERITETHBRERMXOTNREZ
i RNEEBLET > AEEF
FERERRHETZE ARSKREAEN
MBS EEZENEEREBAYE
THRIFEES EETRPWMFER
B4 3 2 YR o
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27.Contract Liabilities (continued) 217, ﬁ' ﬁ ﬁ 1§ (4%

In addition, the Group considers the advance payment
schemes contain significant financing component and
accordingly the amount of consideration is adjusted for the
effects of the time value of money taking into consideration
the credit characteristics of the relevant group entities. As
this accrual increases the amount of the contract liabilities
during the period of construction, it increases the amount of
revenue recognised when control of the completed property
is transferred to the customers.

The Directors considered that the balance of contract
liabilities in relation to sales of properties at the end of the
reporting period will be recognised as revenue to profit or
loss as follows:

Current mE

o AEBEBRSBANARFEITAE
EARMEMERE D REIME K
BMEETEABRAESE  Edst
REMEEREENGEERM BN
ZEFAEREMREZERBABNGH
BETHE HIEMREEMYEE
HESRTERRERD ZWMAEZE -

EERn NEBESHARAERABEEY
EZENEREHRBNED RS
AUAWMT:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT THET
2,735

The changes in contract liabilities are due to i) changes
in the progress of sales of properties when the Group
satisfies the performance obligations under the contracts,
or ii) decrease in advance payments from customers for
unsatisfied performance obligation under the contracts.

28.Amount Due to an Associate

The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

29.Amount Due to a Related Company

As at 31 March 2024, the amount is unsecured and carry
interest at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”)
+1.7% per annum (2023: HIBOR +1% per annum).

During the year, further advances from the related company
amounted to HK$842,682,000 (2023: HKS$737,875,000) and
the Group partially repaid the principal of HK$744,585,000
(2023: HKS1,035,074,000) to the related company. The
principal amount outstanding as at 31 March 2024 was
HKS$1,502,225,000 (2023: HKS$1,404,128,000). It was agreed
with the related company that the Group will repay the
amount based on the sufficiency of its operating cash flows.
Therefore, the Group revises its estimates on the timing
and amount of repayment to the related company and
adjusts the carrying amounts in accordance with the revised
estimated cash flows with the related company on regular
basis. At the end of both reporting periods, the total carrying
amounts were classified as current liabilities.

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
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GNEREHTHEN)SEEREBTE
NWETENEEIRYEHEEES
BoRINEFMAENETRETE
WEEMBAMNEIREBER DI -

28.FE (3 — Rk = 2B R IE

ERREAEER RERBEEX

18 o

29, FE {3 — [ B i 22 &) ’R 16

2024538318 BRAMIEL B E
BEH MAREBRTAERS(SE
BIRTEXRFES)MLI% Z FF X
Q023F : EFEBRITRAERSMI% Z
FMR)FEFE -

RAFEE KEMEATZE—TBR
#842,682,0007 7T (20234 : 737,875,000
Br)  AEEEEEB» L
744,585,0007% 7T (20234 : 1,035,074,000
#BT) FRAE AT 12024E38318 %
KREEBEZALEEA1,502,225,0008 T
(20234F : 1,404,128,0005% 7T) o 4% B BF 8
NEAZEE *EERFRREBELERERE
FTEEEEENRE ALt ~EBE T
RIZEREAB Z&ETEHIRE 2
ETEERMERMEQABTNIEZRE K
SEEMNMGTARREE PMERS
iR EEREEEARHEa R
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30.Amounts Due to Non-Controlling

180

Interests of Subsidiaries

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the amounts
represent unsecured and interest-free shareholders’ loans
due to non-controlling interests of Luck United Holdings
Limited (“Luck United”) and Able Elegant Development
Limited (“Able Elegant”). In accordance with the contractual
terms of the shareholders’ agreements, the amounts are to
be repaid from surplus fund, which represent cash available
in Luck United and its subsidiaries and Able Elegant after
payment of all operating expenses and payables including
but not limited to bank loans and third party loans which are
due for repayment together with the accrued interest.

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the respective
management of Luck United and Able Elegant determined
that Luck United and Able Elegant had adequate available
surplus fund for the repayment of all principal amounts
outstanding to its non-controlling shareholders. Accordingly,
the amounts are shown as current liabilities as at 31 March
2024 and 31 March 2023 and repayable on demand.

30.E(H B AR 2 IFiER

R IE

7£2024%F3H831H &2023F3H31H »
E B & % 8 B I Luck United
Holdings Limited (TLuck United.) K
EBRERAMRABTER)FEZRE
HZRBIEAREEZREER R
BERRBBEZENGR ZE2 8
HUBGKRESTEE MABRGRESIE
Luck United R Ef B R B U KR ERE
REMRMAEKRERZ REMRIEE
BEERRRIBEEZRITERK
BZFEREREAMB)DNEBZE
BRARE -

72024F3831H K2023%3831H
Luck United R ZEEZBEEER A
Luck United R EEE R EUTRZE
BRESTHEEERCGHEERRKRSR
ZERBREELSESE AL ZW
I8 12024FE3H31H K20234F3A31
B RARBEBREREEKREE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 # E2024F3531H IF F &

ILRIEMRIE

31.Unsecured Notes

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HKS$ 000
M 5% TER TET
USD110,640,000 unsecured 110,640,000 o2 Bl E &
notes carry fixed coupon rate ZR45%EE BAEEH
of 4.5% per annum, payable F B M FL20234F 5 HB
semi-annually with maturity in ZEERERZIREE
2023 at carrying amounts (a) 867,963
HKS$80,000,000 unsecured notes 80,000,000 3% & & &
carry fixed coupon rate of ZE488%5tE 0 AR
4.88% per annum, payable F 4B W FR2029F F #5
annually with maturity in 2029 ZERIBEFEBRZREE
at carrying amounts (b) 79,887
HK$40,000,000 unsecured notes 40,000,000 7T 1% E E &
carry fixed coupon rate of FR44%5tE > A H
4.4% per annum, payable F4 B M 120245 FI #
semi-annually with maturity in ZEBEAEBEZREE
2024 at carrying amounts (c) 39,889
HK$260,000,000 unsecured 260,000,0008 TR E € &
notes carry fixed coupon rate ER45%E A H
of 4.5% per annum, payable F B M 5220245 FI H5
semi-annually with maturity in ZEBAREBEZREAE
2024 at carrying amounts (d) 259,960 259,575
379,843 1,247,314
Less: Amounts due within R —EANEBERIE
one year shown under (RRBHBEET
current liabilities 5 7R) (299,950) (867,963)
Amounts due after one year R—FBIHFRIE (R IER
shown under non-current HaFEETIS)
liabilities 79,893 379,351

The proceeds from the issuance of unsecured notes are
intended to use for general working capital purposes of the

Group.

Notes:

(@) In September 2020, the Company issued unsecured notes of
USD250,000,000. During the year ended 31 March 2022, the
Company redeemed the unsecured notes of USD139,360,000.
The unsecured notes (Stock code: 40367) are listed on the Stock
Exchange and carry fixed coupon rate of 4.5% per annum, payable
semi-annually in arrears. The unsecured notes carry effective
interest rate of 4.65% per annum. The principal amount of the
unsecured notes was fully repaid in September 2023.

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFREBRBRAR

BRTEEREBIMENERBRE
FEEZ-—REEHAE

Mtat:

(a)

122020498 » 45 A 8] % 13250,000,000
EEIENRE 81 F2022943831H
IEFE > A28 % [E 139,360,000 T
NEEEEE - BIEAZEHEERMAR:
40367 B ZFR L REEFEER
45%E R LABFEME - BIKW
RHRZEBRFEFERA4.65% BIKIFR
BHASEER2023FI8BHEE -
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S1LEIRERE o

MisE: (48)

31.Unsecured Notes (continued)

Notes: (continued)

In October 19, the Company issued unsecured notes o N ’ 2z |) 5% 1780, s
(b) 0 ber 2019, the C i d d f (b) #22019% 108 > & A 7 % 1780,000,000

HK$80,000,000. The unsecured notes carry fixed coupon rate of
4.88% per annum, payable annually in arrears. The unsecured
notes carry effective interest rate of 4.91% per annum. The
principal amount of the unsecured notes is repayable in 2029.

In May 2019, the Company issued unsecured notes of
HKS$40,000,000. The unsecured notes carry fixed coupon rate of
4.4% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears. The unsecured
notes carry effective interest rate of 4.68% per annum. The
principal amount of the unsecured notes is repayable in 2024.

In May 2019, the Company issued unsecured notes of
HK$260,000,000. The unsecured notes carry fixed coupon rate of
4.5% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears. The unsecured
notes carry effective interest rate of 4.68% per annum. The
principal amount of the unsecured notes is repayable in 2024.

32.BANK BORROWINGS

ALEEREE BENRZERETE
RR48NE  LASEMNE &

ERZHEZBEREANER491% - EIR

WEBZAESEANR2029FEE -

(c) H201945R » & & 7 % 1740,000,000
ALEERRRE BENRZEEETE
FRERIANFAR TABFFENLE-
BRARBECERENX5H4.68% - &
BIRRBRZASEANR2024EHE -

(d) #201945A > & 2 7 # 17260,000,000
ALEERRRE BEFZEEETE
FERISNEA R - ULABFFENLE-
BRARBECERENX5H4.68% - &
BIRRBRZASEANR2024EHE -

32.RITEH

2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
FTER TFE T
Bank loans RITER 19,752,998
The bank borrowings are repayable RITEEZEMBEE
as follows*: mE:
Within one year —F RN 6,426,360 7,802,670
Within a period of more than one year but —& M EERBIBHE
not exceeding two years 6,263,896 3,685,261
Within a period of more than two years but W& EERBIBAE
not exceeding five years 4,594,485 7,052,033
More than five years EEUE 1,006,990 1,212,194
LA 19,752,158
Carrying amounts of bank borrowings that B & & EXE B KN IR
contain a repayment on demand clause TEREZEREE XA
shown under current liabilities FAREETIR — 840
18,291,731 19,752,998
Less: Amounts due within one year shown & @ 7 — & R 2 Hi 718
under current liabilities b E=EE M I N(6,4265360) (7,803,510)
Amounts shown under non-current RIERBHEBB/ETITZ
liabilities 5 15 11,865,371 EEBIRZEREL

Carrying amounts based on scheduled repayment dates set out in * RREEENR SRR Z T EIEREE -

the loan agreements.
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32.Bank Borrowings (continued) N.MITEE @
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s certain bank B E2024F3A31H L FE » K&
borrowings are subject to various financial covenants tests on EFTRITEEARBKRSHERI ZA]
certain financial ratios and asset requirements on or before ?jE%:Fﬁ#?*I:I: REEERERS
the end of the reporting period. The Group has complied with 7R o A EE N EBER
these covenants throughout the reporting period. SHEBTHRFEE -
The bank borrowings carry floating rate interests, mainly ZERTEERIHNNERTE >
ranging from HIBOR + 0.84% to HIBOR + 2.00% per annum RFTENFEBRITAERS M
and at Sterling Overnight Index Average (“SONIA”) + 1.53% 0.84% = F A R17E 2 # 2 102.00%
per annum (2023: HIBOR + 0.84% to HIBOR + 2.00% per ZERE, WERBERKTITARF
annum and at SONIA + 1.53% per annum). HAER(HFEREIFRFEHIFZE)M
1.53% 2 EFIEQ2023F : N FHEIR
??H¥;FF$DDO 840/0 E/ﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁ[ﬁl%
#r B 002.00% 2 £ F K F 35 % b7 &R I
TR E N1 1.53% 2 R F) 5 8 o
As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings of 202438318 " &EEH Z R 1T
HKS$13,641,731,000 (2023: HKS14,562,998,000) are secured by £ §513,641,731,000% 7T (20234 :
certain assets of the Group (see note 42(a)). 14,562,998,000 8 T) U &E B &
FEEFBB (R E42(a)) ©
The weighted average effective interest rate of bank RITEENMEFEIBERENXS
borrowings is at 5.85% (2023: 4.38%) per annum. 5.85% (20234 : 4.38%) ©
Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts §E1 & E@%TIJ_U LX$EE§$ Ry
denominated in currency other than functional currency of hAE BB MU EBEE 28!
the relevant group entities:
2024 2023
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
T#Er FE T
GBP B 3% 1,202,614
33.Lease Liabilities BIMEAER
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$ 000
T#r FE T
Lease liabilities payable: EHEAE:
Within one year —FR 2,893
Within a period of more than one year —FEUEEFRBAME
but not more than two years 2,787
Within a period of more than two years MEUALBRBBRAEF
but not more than five years 10,022
More than five years EEUE 20,232
35,934
Less: Amount due for settlement within BIBIARBEEL BN
one year shown under current —FRNEELEEZ
liabilities ok ] (2,893)
Amount shown under non-current RIERBEEETIIRZ
liabilities R IE 33,041
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied FEARHMESENMETIIEEE
to lease liabilities range from 3.5% to 4.0% (2023: from 3.5% BHE M E N F3.5%F4.0% (2023%F :
to 4.0%) per annum. 3.5%%E4.0%) °

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
Annual Report 2023/2024 3%k

183




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR EMTERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

33.Lease Liabilities (continued)

Restrictions or covenants on leases

Lease liabilities of HK$33,486,000 (2023: HKS$35,934,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$26,112,000
(2023: HKS$29,504,000) as at 31 March 2024. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Except for the leasehold lands and related assets
recognised in Macau, other related leased assets may not be
used as security for borrowing purposes.

As at 31 March 2024, the amounts of lease liabilities
are secured by rental deposits with carrying values of
HK$676,000 (2023: HK$676,000).

34.Deferred Taxation

184

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets
recognised and movements thereon during the current and
prior years.

BHEEEF®

HEENMREIKZLY
R2024FE3831H EHREEEE
33,486,000 7T (20234 : 35,934,000
7 7T) B A8 B £ A8 E26,112,00058
75 (20234 : 29,504,000 T)o A &
BEBRHEAASEZHEEEZE
RIS > M0 E R R o B
REAMEZINEELT M REEEE
S HW BB ESER SRS
BHIEE o

202456383108 M E B A £ 8
K OBR @ {E A676,00058 5T (20234F :
676,000 7T) W EZ & FIE1R o

34.1E IEFR IR

AFEERBEFERIZETEIRL

Accelerated peyelopment  Revaluation

tax costs of Tax
depreciation  capitalised  properties losses Total
mE  EREF

RBHRE B5t  MEER  REER L H
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn
At 1 April 2022 R2022F4818 (299.530) (4.191) (1,870,160) 186,972 (1,986,909)
Exchange realignments HERE - - 120,925 - 120,925
(Charge) credit to profit or loss fnote 11) (MB)tABR L) (29,004) - 58,17 29326 58,539
Credit to equity ARG 125 - - - 125
Disposal of subsidiaries (rote 37) HERBAR (M7 8,580 - - 2,200) 6,378

At 31 March 2023 1#2023%3A318

Exchange realignments SHEAE

(Charge) credit to profit or loss (note 1)
Credit to equity
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 37)

(MR FARE W1
AL
HERBAR (HZ37)

At 31 March 2024

1*202453R318

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax assets
and liabilities have been offset.

MEEMBRRERZEIMS &
FIEIERBEERGREFIEH -

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEEEREBBREAF
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4. iEFEFRIE (2)

34.Deferred Taxation (continued)

At 31 March 2024, the Group had tax losses of HKS$3,770,022,000
(2023: HKS$3,187,472,000) available for offset against future
profits. Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect
of HKS$1,463,889,000 (2023: HKS1,339,740,000) of such losses.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the remaining HKS$2,306,133,000 (2023: HKS$1,847,732,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The
unrecognised tax losses of the Group might be carried
forward indefinitely, except for an amount of HK$36,364,000
(2023: HKS36,364,000) which will expire in three years from
the year of assessment.

Under The PRC EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by The
PRC subsidiaries. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary differences attributable to retained profits of
The PRC subsidiaries amounting to HKS$4,456,000 (2023:
HKS$138,591,000) as the Group is able to control the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
deductible temporary differences of HK$185,427,000 (2023:
HKS$162,799,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is
not probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

R2024F38318 s EEBAKRTHA
2 18 5 83,770,022,0007% 7T (20234 ©
3,187,472,0003% 7t) 7 1 F 3 85 Kk &K
i o 5% % 548 R 4£1,463,889,000 %
75 (20234 : 1,339,740,0007% 7t) B B
WIRERIEE E o BRI RKEF KR
Z A FER M 0 B8R T Z22,306,133,000
& 75(20234 :1,847,732,0007% 7T) it
BEIAELENREEE - F&H
ZABIMEGEEIEBERP\ESE
HEIREEEIFRNIBPZRNIEA
36,364,0007% 7T (20234 : 36,364,0007%
7o) BRSb o

REFECEMRSRZEZ P EM
BABFBEERENMERZKRESA
BATEINKR AR AEBEEMITH
BROERMEZE2HBE BERY
RMEEREUELAEN Y R EERD
FEBLARPEHRBATDZRE
AR 2R & 24,456,00078
75 (20234 : 138,591,000 T) R &z &
MERRANEHIEERIBRE -

RI|EWR > 2E BT REF
% = E %185,427,0007% T (20234 :
162,799,000 7t) - #iE A £ F AT 10
HERUEEZERIELEREBEE
HARAKRETERBRR & F AT A
RIERATHRERMEESR -

35.Share Capital 357
Number of Share
shares capital
CiRb R =i 2.3
HK$’ 000
TER
THE COMPANY BTAF
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each &R EE0.01B T2
ZiEhg
Authorised: ETE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 120224818 ~
and 31 March 2024 2023F3A31B &
2024%F3831H 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETKREHE:
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 12202254818 ~
and 31 March 2024 2023F3831H &
20249F3831H 36,775
Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
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36.Share Option Schemes

Share option scheme of the Company

The previous share option scheme of the Company adopted
on 15 August 2013 expired on 14 August 2023. The Company
adopted a new share option scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) on 19 September 2023.

186

The major terms of the Share Option Scheme are
summarised as follows:

(a) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

To enable the Group to attract, retain and motivate
talented participants to strive for future developments
and expansion of the Group.

(b) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

(c)

Eligible participants include:

(i) employee participants including employees
(whether full time or part time), executive director
and non-executive director of the Company and its
subsidiaries;

(ii) related entity participants (i.e. directors and
employees of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries of the holding companies or associated
companies of the Company); and

(iii) service providers, including advisor, consultant,
contractor, agent or representative of any member
of the Group, a person or entity that engages in
construction, renovation contractor, property
agency, design and/or project development work,
to any member of the Group, including any other
service providers as required in the ordinary course
of business of the Group.

Total number of shares available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme

No option has been granted since the adoption date of
the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this report, 367,754,566 shares and
183,877,283 shares were available for issue, representing
10% and 5% of the total number of issued shares of the
Company respectively.

36.MMRAEHE
TATE ZEBRe R
KRB FR2013F8H15H W4 2 T Al
BB # 5t 3 B 5122023FE8H14H &
o AN A B FR2023F98 190 AN H
R 8 (THER St &) o

BRESEZETZEMMBL T

(a) FBlc 812 BB
REREBERS ~ 5% E KRB
BEABRZ2HEEURREIEH
ZRKERRER -

(b) FBR1EHEIERE
GERSAECRE!

(i)

(if)

BEZ2RE > BELARTAR
HMB AR EE(ERmEH
FHRBES - AITEFER
FATES;

HAERES2REEIEAQF
ERAS - ERATDHRER
MBARNBEATDNES
kER) ;&

(i) (RFBIRME > BELSERE

B ABER- EH
AAEE - HEIAXR
AEEBEERAAEATRSE
BE -ZEERGE WEAL
B Rtk RNEERBET
BOATRER(BELE
EEEEFBRERMEBNE
MEMRBRME)

(c) tRIGME e st 8T 7 32 172 B
1485
BiRERESSRMBIAE  BiE
ROEABRE -

WA )R E B H > 367,754,566 8%
A% 19 5% 183,877,2830% A% 15 T fit
BT DR AR BTEEITRG
48 2010% Bz5% o
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36.Share Option Schemes (continued)
Share option scheme of the Company

(continued)
(d) Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

(e)

(f)

(g)

under the Share Option Scheme
(i) Not exceed 1% of the total number of issued
shares of the Company (excluding any options
lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share
Option Scheme) in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant unless otherwise
approved by the shareholders.
(i) Options granted to substantial shareholders
or independent non-executive directors of the
Company or their respective associates in the
12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant representing in aggregate more
than 0.1% of the total number of issued shares of
the Company on the date of such grant must be
approved by the shareholders of the Company.

Period within which the option may be exercised by
the grantee under the Share Option Scheme

At any time from the date of grant of the option to such
a date determined by the board of directors but in any
event not exceeding 10 years from the date of grant.

Vesting period of options granted under the Share
Option Scheme

Not less than 12 months. A shorter vesting period of
less than 12 months may be granted to employee
participants at the discretion of the Board or the
Remuneration Committee (as the case may be) under
specific circumstances in the Share Option Scheme

(i)  Amount payable on application or acceptance of
the option: HK$1.00;

(ii) The period within which payments or calls must
or may be made: Within 28 days from the date of
grant; and

(iii) Period within which loans for such purposes of the
payments or calls must be repaid: Not applicable.

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
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(d) BRREHBATHEESBEE

(e)

(f)

(g)

BEaERER LR

(i) BRIERRZITHIE > [N
BERLBHEEZB L
EI121E B 8/ > FEB B
ARBETROMBHEE
EREBRESSHERRNY
BYIE I BB AR 1) B91% o

RaEERbeHEEZA)
LRERHEEARREE
REFIBILIFRITEFTHR
EEENBMBARENER
BEHEEARFNEL B
B#EITRMEH0.1% XU L
BY > RERRERRHALE o

(ii)

BREHBATRBAGTTE
BREZHMR
REREBREBHEEZEESES
BEEZAMBMBZEMRRE &
REMBERT  FAREBEREA
HA#EZT104F

RGeS B 12 L IER 1 2
BB

RORIEA - REBRES S
BEBRT  EFFHFHMES
gHRBEIME)INERRERES
BHEFHLORDREANBRER
& #A

(i) AARIBNERERENZ
£%:.1.008 T,
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36.Share Option Schemes (continued)
Share option scheme of the Company

(continued)
(h) Basis for determining the exercise price

188

(i)

The exercise price is determined by the Board and will
not be less than the highest of (a) the closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of grant; (b) the average closing price
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of
a share.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of 10 years commencing on its effective date,
being 17 October 2023.

Share option scheme of Emperor E Hotel

The previous share option scheme of Emperor E Hotel
adopted on 15 August 2013 expired on 14 August 2023.
Emperor E Hotel adopted a new share option scheme
(“Emperor E Hotel Share Option Scheme”) on 19 September
2023.

The major terms of the Emperor E Hotel Share Option
Scheme are summarised as follows:

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Emperor E Hotel Share Option
Scheme

To enable the group of Emperor E Hotel to attract, retain
and motivate talented participants to strive for future
developments and expansion of the group of Emperor E
Hotel.

Participants of the Emperor E Hotel Share Option
Scheme
Eligible participants include:

(i) employee participants including employees
(whether full time or part time), executive director
and non-executive director of Emperor E Hotel and
its subsidiaries;

(ii) related entity participants (i.e. directors and
employees of the holding companies, fellow
subsidiaries of the holding companies or associated
companies of Emperor E Hotel); and

36. BB st Bl @)

TAov st R e

(h) EE TEEZEE

THEEREFEEEE LR FE
ﬁ?LX'F%%]%:(a)HQﬁE’:‘?EtHEI
HEMXMEBAKREBRMAEKRYK
1B ; (b)IR7 I EER L BHAAT
TEZEXEBEBXFSAKRE
RFF|RB U THE ; K (c) D
HE °

(i) BBRES2ZE FHIR
BRESBHEEXNB HED
2023F10817H) EH10E R &
MBER o

RERSHERRED
B2 4% 96 [E 1020138 5158 R M)
2 % B B AR 1 5t B B 7020234 8 5 14
B/ i o 5% 2 18 4 /5 122023495
198 RN H MRS B (2R 5
S 25 B R 7 5t 1) o

REREBEEREFEZEER
MR

(a) EEBHBIEBREHNDZH

AEREREBEERS ~&F
HEEAHZSHEEURK
RERBLBEZRRERRIE
o ©

(b) EEBLFEEREHTZE
aE
GERSHEERE:

=il

&

() EESHRE BERERY
BIEREKE QGRS (E
mEBIRE) - RTES
RIFMITESE,

(i) EFAERS2RAEBENHER
LBEEZERAF - ERAT
NREZRNEABHHE QT
NEEKES) ;&
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36.Share Option Schemes (continued)
Share option scheme of Emperor E Hotel
(continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Participants of the Emperor E Hotel Share Option

Scheme (continued)

(iii) service providers, including advisor, consultant,
business or joint venture partner, contractor, a
person or entity that engages in construction,
renovation contractor, property agency, design and/
or project development work, to any member of
the group of Emperor E Hotel, including any other
service providers as required in the ordinary course
of business of the group of Emperor E Hotel.

Total number of shares available for issue under
the Emperor E Hotel Share Option Scheme

No option has been granted since the adoption date of
the Emperor E Hotel Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this report, 118,849,098 shares and
59,424,549 shares were available for issue, representing
10% and 5% of the total number of issued shares of
Emperor E Hotel respectively.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

under the Emperor E Hotel Share Option Scheme

(i) Not exceed 1% of the total number of issued shares
of Emperor E Hotel (excluding any options lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Emperor E Hotel
Share Option Scheme) in any 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant unless
otherwise approved by the shareholders of Emperor
E Hotel.

Options granted to substantial shareholders or
independent non-executive directors of Emperor E
Hotel or their respective associates in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant
representing in aggregate more than 0.1% of the
total number of issued shares of Emperor E Hotel
on the date of such grant must be approved by the
shareholders of Emperor E Hotel.

Period within which the option may be exercised
by the grantee under the Emperor E Hotel Share
Option Scheme

At any time from the date of grant of the option to such
a date determined by the board of directors of Emperor
E Hotel but in any event not exceeding 10 years from the
date of grant.
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36.Share Option Schemes (continued)
Share option scheme of Emperor E Hotel
(continued)

190

(f)

(g)

(h)

(i)

Vesting period of options granted under the
Emperor E Hotel Share Option Scheme

Not less than 12 months. A shorter vesting period of
less than 12 months may be granted to employee
participants at the discretion of the board of directors
of Emperor E Hotel or the Remuneration Committee of
Emperor E Hotel (as the case may be) under specific
circumstances in the Emperor E Hotel Share Option
Scheme

i

) Amount payable on application or acceptance of
the option: HK$1.00;

(ii) The period within which payments or calls must
or may be made: Within 28 days from the date of
grant; and

(iii) Period within which loans for such purposes of the
payments or calls must be repaid: Not applicable.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the board of
directors of Emperor E Hotel and will not be less than
the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on
the date of grant; (b) the average closing price of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share.

The remaining life of the Emperor E Hotel Share
Option Scheme

The Emperor E Hotel Share Option Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on its
effective date, being 17 October 2023.
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SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

37.Disposal of Subsidiaries

ILLEMB AT

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group had
disposed of the following subsidiaries:

On 3 July 2023, Emperor Property Investment Limited
(“EPIL”) entered into a sale and purchase agreement to
dispose of the entire equity interest in Joybridge Services
Limited and its subsidiary (“Joybridge Group”), indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, which holds a
shopping mall located at No. 560 King’s Road, Hong Kong,
and all loan due by Joybridge Group to EPIL to a company
indirectly controlled by a private discretionary trust which
is founded by Dr. Yeung at a total adjusted consideration
of approximately HKS$1,944,215,000. The disposal was
completed on 22 September 2023.

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of Joybridge Group was as follows:

Cash consideration received
Bank balances and cash disposed of

B E2024F3R3I0 L FE > A& H
BEHEUTHEBAR:

R2023F7H3H R EWMWER &
ERAB(HREMERE)FTIL—
MEEmHZ UKLABLERKED
1,944,215,00078 7o /@ — f& M #5 18 =
RIZMABNBELABEZSZ
~ 8 H & H R Joybridge Services
Limited K E if & 2 5 (TJoybridge &
H) BEXABDEZEEEMNEAR >
FEAREBHEEBES60550— @R
WD) Z 2 ER R 1 U K Joybridge &
EERAEMERENMBEER -
HEBER2023F9822H T/ ©

Joybridge EE 2 HRERREEZEEY
MABEZ DM T :

HK$’000
FER

BWRENE
FREEIRITERARRE

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respectof BERHEMRBATZERER

the disposal of subsidiaries

ReFBEYRAFE

The net assets (liabilities) of Joybridge Group at the date of
disposal were as follows:

Joybridge E BN HE B ZEE (&
B FEMNT:

HK$ 000
F#ET
Investment properties KEYE
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HMEWHRIE - RER
8 R I
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRKRRES
Other payables and accrued charges HhEMRERESER
Deferred taxation (note 34) IR R 18 (7 £ 34)
Gain or loss on disposal was calculated as follows: HEKRZHEBEAHTMT:
HKS$’000
TERr
Consideration received 2 WAE
Net assets disposed of FREEBEEZFE
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

37.Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group had
disposed of the following subsidiaries:

On 30 December 2021, Emperor Property Development
Limited (“EPDL”) entered into a sale and purchase
agreement to dispose of the entire equity interest in Earn
Benefit Limited (“Earn Benefit”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, which holds a site located at
Nos. 67-77 Nam On Street, Shau Kei Wan, Hong Kong, and
all loan due by Earn Benefit to EPDL to an independent third
party at a total adjusted consideration of approximately
HKS$690,915,000. The disposal was completed on 29 April
2022 with a gain of HK$212,069,000.

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of Earn Benefit was as follows:

Cash consideration received and inflow of cash and
cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of a
subsidiary

ILLEMB A8 @

#E2023F3831B L EE - AEM
BHEUTHEBAR:

fR2021F12830H REY XX E
EBE’&E(F§§E¢%¥§§EJ)J4—
MEEBEWmZ UKBEERLEY
690,915,000 B Tt M — B B/ILE=FH
H €& H i Earn Benefit Limited (TEarn
Benefit)(B A A B HMEZE W B
ANE FEMAREEBEEHEERELY
67-TTSR BY 3 88) > 2 &6 A& # K Earn
Benefit G X HEMERENFIEE
o HEBEM2022F4H29H B R
W= 2212,069,0007% 7T

I3

BB EEarn BenefitZ2IRE KRS
EEBEYRAFEZIWOT:

HK$ 000
FHET
ERHENRBARZEWRRENE
UKRBERBREFEYRA
690,915

The net assets (liabilities) of Earn Benefit at the date of
disposal were as follows:

Earn Benefit R HE B EE (B E)
FEEWNE

HK$’000

FET

Properties under development for sale FIEHEZERP Y E 475,931
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HMEUWRIE ~ e RFAEMR 2,937
Other payables and accrued charges HhERIBERESERB (22)
478,846

Gain or loss on disposal was calculated as follows: HEWHEKGEEAENT:

HK$’000

FET

Consideration received Bl E 690,915
Net assets disposed of FFHEEEZFE (478,846)
212,069
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37.Disposal of Subsidiaries (continued) STHEMB AR =

On 6 January 2023, EPIL entered into a sale and purchase R2023F1B6H R E YW ERKR B
agreement to dispose of the entire equity interest in Famous ST —MMEBHZE UKLHABE
Gain Investments Limited and its subsidiary (“Famous 18 491,141,221,0003% 7t @ — R B

Gain Group”), indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, which holds a property located at No.4 Kin
Fat Lane, Tuen Mun, New Territories, Hong Kong, and all
loan due by Famous Gain Group to EPIL to a company
indirectly controlled by a private discretionary trust which
is founded by Dr. Yeung at a total adjusted consideration
of approximately HKS$1,141,221,000. The disposal was
completed on 16 March 2023.

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in
respect of the disposal of Famous Gain Group was as follows:

BBz ARISETREE
P § Zz A8 HE H B Famous Gain
Investments Limited 5 & [t B A B
(TFamous Gain & B1) (& & A = [ 1%
2ENBRFA  FEURSTENR
TMHEREITHNYE) 22 BRE
LK Famous GainEB & X EEW
KENMEBEEMR - HEB1R202343
B1l6H 5 °

BB H EFamous GainEBE RS &
BeEEBYRABEZDRWOT:

HKS 000

FET

Cash consideration received BWIREKE 1,141,221

Bank balances and cash disposed of FTHEERTEGRIRE (465)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respectof BEREEMBARNZIRE

the disposal of subsidiaries RIREEBYMRAFE 1,140,756

The net assets (liabilities) of Famous Gain Group at the date
of disposal were as follows:

Famous GainEBNHEBHZEE
(BR)ZFENT:

HK$ 000

FE T

Investment properties KREWE 1,160,000
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments HEUWRRIE ~ & RFBMIA 3,096
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRKRIRE 465
Other payables and accrued charges HithEHRIB R E &R (15,962)
Deferred taxation (note 34) IR R 18 (7 £ 34) (6,378)
1,141,221

Gain or loss on disposal was calculated as follows: HEKRZHEBEAHTMT:

HKS 000

F#ET

Consideration received B U RE 1,141,221
Net assets disposed of FREEEEZRE (1,141,221)
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38.Acquisition of Additional Interests in

Subsidiaries

During the year ended 31 March 2023, Emperor E Hotel
repurchased 8,815,000 (2024: Nil) shares of its own shares
at cash consideration of HKS$4,411,000 (2024: Nil) and then
cancelled the shares, resulting in a deemed increase in
0.52% (2024: Nil) equity interests in Emperor E Hotel by the
Group. The difference of HK$16,549,000 (2024: Nil) between
the consideration paid of HKS$4,411,000 (2024: Nil) and the
decrease in the non-controlling interests of HK$20,960,000
(2024: Nil) was recognised directly in other reserves.

39.Capital Risk Management

194

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes amount due to an associate, amount due to a
related company, amounts due to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries, unsecured notes, bank borrowings and lease
liabilities in notes 28, 29, 30, 31, 32 and 33 respectively, net
of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associates with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

3&%3#!‘1#@’&%2%9”&

B FE202343831H Lt FEE, H 2
48 % 1E LUIR & 1K (84,411,000 7T
(2024% : #=®) BB [0 & B 58,815,0008%
B 17 (2024 F 1 ) HB WK M
BRAEENESREHEZRE
5 E 1 100.52% (20244 : &) o B ¢
X {84,411,0007 7T (20244 : ) 8 I
2 R% #E 25 R 020,960,000 7T (2024
F:F) z & 16,549,000 7T (2024
FE)EEENRHEMEBEERRER -

V.EHEKEEIE

FEBEEHRELS UERESEH
RZERENEBREFELCEREE
e AKEREBIEEFTRERS
HREEEMFMNENLDR - A& H
ZERERBEEXFHEFTAE -

FEEZEARBOREEH FEE
& BB MY 5E28 ~ 29 ~ 30 ~ 31~ 32
F33FM R B 2 FE 4 —FE Bt & A Bl R
B -BN—HBAEASRE - BN
MEBARZFEREDRIE - B
HERE -ROTEEREEER ]
ERREFEVWEFEREQATHER
ANELEDZ(BREETRERRE
#) e

EETHRAERRBE - FR&ER
NZz—HR BEEFEBEELIRER
BEHEAZERAER REBEFE
HOAEBRBEBIARE 1T
IR e Bz 17 8 [B] WA e 3% 17 # (R 20 BB
MRERHTHHEHEEBELRBE -
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40.Financial Instruments 40. &R T H
(a) Categories of financial instruments (d):mMIARZER
2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HKS 000
F&xT FET
Financial assets EMEE
Amortised cost b = I
Receivables related to a development ERM—EZ#EREBZ
project FE U 7R 18 163,801 169,628
Amount due from a joint venture El—EEeEtERIE 1,329,815 1,310,861
Deposit in designated bank account for MERMEGFTHRIEE
development properties RITERPZHEM 9,628 9,885
Trade and other receivables B kHMEWKRIE 324,057 254,463
Pledged bank deposits BIRFIRITER 31,122 66,187
Short-term bank deposits FEEHRITER 14,900 56,789
Bank balances and cash RITHBRIRE 1,479,449 2,311,133
3,352,772 4,178,946
Financial liabilities EHERE
Amortised cost 85 L AR
Trade and other payables B2 RHEHMBEMRIE 873,086 754,960
Amount due to an associate E—MEEATRIE 132,370 137,079
Amount due to a related company EA—REEATRIE 1,502,225 1,404,128
Amounts due to non-controlling FE 1 Bt 8 2 B = FE ¥ B
interests of subsidiaries W@ I8 39,523 39,523
Unsecured notes EIKREE 379,843 1,247,314
Bank borrowings RITEE 18,291,731 19,752,998
21,218,778 EEPERE

(b)) BEERETS REE

FEBZFESHRIAWESR
hBE&EMY - TR ITARZE
BEARMERIKRE - BRZSE
TRMIAZER  SEHHERE
(5 J| B R 1 R L BR) ~ 15 AR
B R MENE R o WA %
FRAMBZEBRHNTX  EEE
HZSRRETEERER  ®
RURBERERZAAETE
B2 o

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments are listed in
above table and lease liabilities. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (foreign currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.
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0.£EFMIT A
(b)) EREETE REE

40.Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

196

and policies (continued) (4)
Market risk i 45 B
Foreign currency risk S B

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement
in foreign currency exchange rate which will affect the
Group’s financial results and its cash flows. Several
subsidiaries of the Group have foreign currency sales
and purchases, but the management considers the
amount of foreign currency sales and purchase is
insignificant. The management considers the Group
is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk in
relation to transactions denominated in MOP and USD.
Exposures on balances which are denominated in
MOP and USD in group entities with HKS as functional
currency are not considered significant as MOP and USD
are pegged to HKS.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
at the ended of the reporting period are as follows:

SNEREERTEEREEM
EBEREFETREZIIBER
SBE}ZEAR ARBETHER
BANEEE  BEEEER RN
KEBZEHEBAEXR EEE
BARARUNRMTRETE
BZRX5H rEELEERE
RIMEREE - HIRRFITTRETT
BB FA BAUET
AUMEEBZEBRERANR
FITkETEBEZERZER
WEAREK

FEBRRBESHRIEEEZ
EREEREBERZREE
LI

Assets Liabilities
BE -1
2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$’ 000 HKS 000 HK$’000 HKS 000
FTER TET TER TET
RMB AR 235,672 -
GBP W 858 1,202,614

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk in relation
to the outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items at the end of the reporting period,
which included pledged bank deposit, short-term bank
deposits, bank balances and cash and bank borrowings.
The sensitivity to foreign currency risks arising from the
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items has been determined based on the reasonably
possible change in foreign currency exchange rates
of RMB and GBP against the HKS. The following table
details the Group’s sensitivity to a reasonably possible
change of 5% (2023: 5%) for exchange rate of RMB and
GBP against HKS, while all other variables are held
constant. A positive number below indicates a decrease
in loss before taxation where RMB strengthened and
GBP weakened against HKS. Where the RMB weakened
and GBP strengthened against HKS, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the loss before taxation
and the balances below would be negative.

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEEEREBBREAF
Annual Report 2023/2024 £

FEBRMNKRSPRRZTHRZ
SEEEERERE(BEEER
IRITER - BHIRTER - R1T
BHRRREERBITEE ARSI
WEE BRITHUZINBEES
WIHEBMEEZIIERERKRZH
REDRBEARBHEEEZE
TZIIBERZAGETELEF
MEE - TRAFDLEEFEAR
WHRBERBTZHNEERS
12 7] Bt & $15% (20234 1 5%) M
FFERHMEERIKAERZH
RE - TREHXBAHARESR
BRTAERRERTBTERE A
BRIAEERLD - HARBRE
TRERREZTETAE  AIY
BRAGHEERNREFRERZ
TE O MTITREHERABH -




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

0.£EFRITH®
(b)MHEREERETEREE

40.Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)
Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

(#&)
b 45 i BE (#)
St 5 R (A8

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FER F#ET

RMB against HKS ARBRET 11,784
GBP against HK$ HiERBT (60,088)
(48,304)

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end
of the reporting period are disclosed in respective notes.
As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the Group does
not have a foreign exchange hedging policy. However,
the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign exchange exposure should the need arises.
The management continuously monitored the foreign
exchange exposure and would consider hedging other
significant foreign currency risk should the need arose.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate deposit in designated bank account
for development properties, pledged bank deposits,
short-term bank deposits, bank deposits included in
bank balances, fixed coupon rate unsecured notes and
lease liabilities. The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation primarily to its variable-rate
bank balances, amount due to a related company and
bank borrowings.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HIBOR arising from
the Group’s advances from a related company and bank
borrowings and SONIA arising from bank borrowings.

The Group’s sensitivity to cash flow interest rate risk has
been determined based on the exposure to interest rates
for the above mentioned financial assets and liabilities
at the end of the reporting period and management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rate and assuming that it took place at the
beginning of each year and held constant throughout
the respective year.
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40.Financial Instruments (continued)

198

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Except for bank balances and deposits using 5 basis
points (2023: 5 basis points), if interest rates had been
100 basis points (2023: 100 basis points) higher and all
other variables were held constant, the potential effect
on loss for the year is as follows:

0.£EFMIT A
(b)) EREETE REE

(%)

b 45 Bg (%)

F = @ 5 (4

bR IR 17 45 &R K 7 ™k LASME & &b
(20234 : 5fE £ &) A E 25 >
M R E F10018 & (20235 :
10018 & &) R PR B H th & & 7

TENMT:

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FER FET

Decrease (increase) in loss for the year £ &5 48 & /L (12 10)
— Bank balances — IRIT4E B8R 994
— Amount due to a related company  — FE{S—RIRAE AT HIE (11,724)
— Bank borrowings —iRITREE (153,050)
(163,780)

If interest rates had been lower in an opposite
magnitude and all other variables held constant, the
potential effect on the results would be equal and
opposite.

Credit risk management and impairment
assessment

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge obligations by the counterparties at the end
of reporting period are arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade balances individually. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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0.£EFRITH®
(b)MHEREERETEREE

40.Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued) (4)
Credit risk management and impairment ERAREEEREFE
assessment (continued) (#&)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, lifetime ECL
of HK$135,000 (2023: HKS$1,346,000) for certain trade
receivables was recognised as the management
considered the amounts from certain customers was
credit-impaired. During the years ended 31 March 2024
and 31 March 2023, none of certain trade receivables
was reversed upon settlement from these customers of
which recognised as credit-impaired previously.

The management has also assessed all available
forward looking information, including but not
limited to the economic outlook and subsequent
settlement of these customers. As at 31 March 2024,
impairment allowance with an aggregate balance
of HK$14,930,000 (2023: HKS$14,930,000) represents
individually credit-impaired trade receivables from
contracts with customers and lease receivables with
an aggregate gross carrying amount of HK$27,240,000
(2023: HKS$27,240,000) as the management considered
the outstanding balances from these customers were
uncollectible.

Lifetime ECL for the remaining trade receivables with
an aggregate gross carrying amount of HK$46,865,000
(2023: HKS$43,759,000) was insignificant and thus
negligible to be provided by the Group due to the
low probability of default of those debtors based on
historical credit loss experience. The management has
also assessed all available forward looking information,
including but not limited to the economic outlook
and subsequent settlement of these customers, and
concluded that the credit risk inherent in the Group’s
outstanding trade receivables and lease receivables is
insignificant.
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BB EFRETRHAEEE
ko BIEEREREEISEh&ZE
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hAENEEREZ S5 EWRR
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AETUgE o

ERNELEGEGREER ZF
BEHEAEBNOMERE 2% H
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40.Financial Instruments (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Credit risk management and impairment

assessment (continued)

0.£EFMIT A

(b)MBEAKRERRERBE
(4%)

15 /5 /b BT R ot (B AT 14
(%)

200

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL TRITBREBEBIEFTZEZMNES
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the FERURERINEZIATREREE
simplified approach. ES?EZ """ A5 o
Lifetime ECL
(credit-impaired)
EHIFMEABGE
(EERE)
HKS$ 000
FEx
At 1 April 2022 12022 481H 14,340
New trade receivables originated FRELEZHEESRKRMRE
during the year 1,346
Write-off i 85 (756)
At 31 March 2023 £202343831H
New trade receivables originated FRELEZHIEESBKRMRIE
during the year
Write-off i 55
At 31 March 2024 §£2024%3A31H

Note: As at 31 March 2024, lifetime ECL for trade receivables
from individual customers on gross carrying amount of
HKS74,105,000 (2023: HKS70,999,000) was HKS$14,930,000
(2023: HKS14,930,000) as the management considered
certain individual customers were credit-impaired.

During the year, lifetime ECL of HK$135,000 (2023: HK$1,346,000)
was recognised due to amounts originated which had been
defaulted and transferred to credit-impaired.

During the year, an amount of HK$135,000 (2023:
HKS756,000) of trade receivables from certain
credit-impaired customers were written off as the
management considered there was no realistic prospect of
recovery. During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2024,
none of lifetime ECL was reversed upon settlement from
certain customers.

For the deposit in designated bank account for
development properties, pledged bank deposits,
short-term bank deposits and bank balances,
impairment allowance was insignificant and thus
negligible to be made since the management considers
the probability of default is negligible as such deposits
are placed in reputable banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit rating agencies and
have low credit risk.
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SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

40.Financial Instruments (continued) 40. M IT A
(b) Financial risk management objectives (D) HBRABEETS RS
and policies (continued) (4)
Credit risk management and impairment ERAREEEREFE
assessment (continued) (#&)

For the other receivables, with an aggregate gross carrying
amount of HK$245,540,000 (2023: HKS$178,424,000),
amount due from a joint venture with an aggregate
gross carrying amount of HKS$1,329,815,000 (2023:
HKS$1,310,861,000) and receivables related to a
development project with an aggregate gross carrying
amount of HK$163,801,000 (2023: HKS$169,628,000),
in non-trade nature, impairment allowance was
insignificant and thus not provided since the
management considers the probability of default is
minimal after assessing the counterparties’ financial
background and creditability.

For financial guarantee contracts, the maximum
amount that the Group has guaranteed under the
respective contracts was HKS$1,165,000,000 (2023:
HKS$1,165,000,000) as at 31 March 2024. Details of the
financial guarantee contracts are set out in note 18.
At the end of the reporting period, the management
assessed the financial position of that joint venture
and the fair value of the collateral pledged by the joint
venture to the bank, and concluded that there has
been no significant credit risk arising from the financial
guarantee contracts. Accordingly, the impairment
allowance was insignificant and thus not provided for
financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of banking facilities and ensures
compliance with the financial covenants of the Group’s
bank borrowings.

The consideration of going concern assessment
prepared by the Directors are set out in note 3.1.1,
as the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by HKS$1,863,969,000 at 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$2,778,920,000).
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

40.Financial Instruments (continued)

202

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities and lease liabilities. The table has been drawn
up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities and lease liabilities and the earliest date on
which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically,
bank borrowings, with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the earliest time band regardless of
the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their
rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment
dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is based on interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.

Liquidity table

At 31 March 2024
Trade and other payables

1#202453R31H
BRRAMEGRE
EN-MBERAME
EN-MEERFRE
EAWEARZFEREDRE

Amount due to an associate
Amount due to a related company

Amounts due to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries

Variable-rate bank borrowings FERTHE
Unsecured notes BERZE
Lease liabilities HEaR
Financial guarantee (Note/ MBERWZ)
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0. T A=

873,086
132,370
1,502,225

39,523
7,496,148
324,076
3477
1,165,000

11,535,905

12,126,309

12,158,416

(b)MBEABERTSEREE

(#&)

B EE R (E)
TREINAEBZIFTE SR
BEAREEERZHTEHOE
HEZHB LWRDIREESER
AREAEEZRFEMZER
BEAREEERZRUERRSE
MEMBENR LHE  MHERE
KREMRGERBORITEEDIA
REREBERN > MAmRTE
BEITEEEMA RN - HfdF
TEERERZERBHBR
BEWMEERBPMERE -

ZREENERETHERME -
AMERBIEARMBETER
BREMRZAMEREFE -

REEL &

873,086
132,370
1,502,225

873,086
132,370
1,502,225

= = 39,523 39,523
1,065,384 20,688,341 18,291,731
15,616 87,808 427,500 379,843
16,491 24,059 44,027 33,486
1,165,000 =

1,177,751 24,872,012 21,252,264
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

0.£EFRITH®
(b)MHEREERETEREE

40.Financial Instruments (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued) (4)
Liquidity risk (continued) bid A A ACY
Liguidity table (continued) BB (E)
Weighted Less than
average 1yearor 1year Total Total
effective repayable to Over undiscounted carrying
interestrate  on demand 5years 5years cash flows amounts
miexy  ORIES RER
gEiz HEXREE 1EE5E SENLE RERELE BIREE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TEw THERT THET THET TER
At 31 March 2023 1#202353831H
Trade and other payables BRREMENTE - 754,960 - - 754,960 754,960
Amount due to an associate Ef-HHEADHRE - 137,079 - — 137,079 137,079
Amount due to a related company Ef—HEEEAFARE 3.15% 1,404,128 - - 1,404,128 1,404,128
Amounts due to non-controlling ERAMBARZFEREGZTE
interests of subsidiaries - 39,523 - - 39,523 39,523
Variable-rate bank borrowings RERTEE 4.38% 8,668,221 11,928,351 1,265,296 21,861,868 19,752,998
Unsecured notes REREE 4.67% 905,389 322,328 87,808 1,315,525 1,247314
Lease liabilities HEaRE 3.62% 3,705 18,746 27,681 50,132 35,934
Financial guarantee (Note) MBRER N2 - 1,165,000 - - 1,165,000 -
13,078,005 12,269,425 1,380,785 26,128,215 23,371,936

Note: M LM BREFRZESEAMEER
TEHFRUERE AEEA
REREREZFMEHERS
BREZEeE - RENRK
SHRZHEFN FEEI AR
EURBEARBLEA AR
TR ARM > LA RRF
REHFREERRIREZ
AEMMALZ MRELREZ
AAEMABRR R ZHFREF
EERMBZEBVRNREBELEEE
B Z A -

The amount included above for financial guarantee is
the maximum amount the Group could be forced to
settle under the arrangement for the full guaranteed
amount if that amount is claimed by the counterparty to
the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of the
reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely
than not that such an amount will not be payable under the
arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to change
depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood
that the financial receivables held by the counterparty
which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

40.Financial Instruments (continued)

204

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity table (continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “less than 1 year or repayable on
demand” time band in the above maturity analysis.
As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate carrying amounts
of these bank loans amounted to HK$840,000 (2024:
Nil). Taking into account the Group’s financial position,
the Directors do not believe that it is probable that
the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to
demand immediate repayment. The Directors believe
that such bank borrowings will be repaid within one
year (2024: Nil) after the reporting date in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements. As a result, the aggregate principal and
interest cash outflows of these bank loans amount to
HKS$868,000 (2024: Nil) under the time band of “less than
1year”.

Interest rate benchmark reform

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks
is being undertaken globally, including the replacement
of some interbank offered rates with alternative nearly
risk-free rates. For the variable rate bank borrowings
that are linked to HIBOR as set out in note 32, the
Group had confirmed with the relevant counterparty
that HIBOR will continue to be used up to maturity.
The management anticipates that the interest rate
benchmark reform will have no material impact on the
Group’s risk exposure.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sra M ERRMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &t ZE20244#35 31 H 1F F &

41.Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising BB EBNEEZEREIR

from Financing Activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from (used in) financing activities.

TREAHLFTEEREZHELEZE
REs BERERFRZET -
MEZHELEZEGENREAER
RFRKREREFRNREAEBRRS
BeREBXRPO2EAREBAN) R
BEEHELEZRERE -

At 1 April 2022 1202254818 21,563 19,527,740 1,442,436 1,701,321
Financingnetcashflows ~ BEREREZFH (785,433) 306,591 (200,000) (297,199)
Others Hit - - - -
Dividend declared BERKE - - - -
Currency realignments BiEHR - (81,333) 2,509 -
New lease entered MITIME - - - -
Interest expenses LGRS 797,393 - 2,369 -
At 31 March 2023 1202338318 33,523 19,752,998 1,247,314 1,404,128
Financingnetcashflows ~ MEREREFH (1,246,969) (1,482,271)  (868,553) 98,097
Dividend declared BERKE = = = =
Currency realignments BERE - 21,004 69

Interest expenses fEHR 1,256,943 - 1,013 -
At31 March 2024 12024438318 $3,497 18201731 379,843 1,502,225
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3953 147964 41,975 — 20292528
- - (5878 (1728 (1,059,147)
- - (2,344) - (2,344)
- - - 77228 7728
- (10,885) - - (89,709)
- - 857 - 857
- - 134 — 801,086

137079 35,934 — 22,650,499
= (3,685)  (22,066) (3,525,447)
= - 1066 22,066

(4,709) - - 16364
= 1,237 - 1,259,193

132,310 33,486 — 20,422,675
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LR EMTERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

42.Pledge of Assets
(@) As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, certain assets
of the Group were pledged to banks to secure banking
facilities granted to the Group. The carrying values of
these assets at the end of the reporting period were as

42. BE IR
(a) M2024%FE3H31H K%2023%F3H
Bl XEBETEELRRF
BITUEAEREEERIEITE
BB ZEBERBRSHX

follows: ZEREMEWMT:
2024 2023
HKS$’000 HKS 000
F#Ex FHT
Investment properties KEYE 32,259,861
Properties under development for sale FIEHEZERS
S 3,912,853
Buildings, including relevant leasehold BF (BERMAER
land in Hong Kong fHE i) 319,251
Hotel properties, including relevant B IE Y % (B 15 R
leasehold land in Hong Kong EHBHEE ) 235,065
Right-of-use assets EREEE 239,799
Bank deposits RITER 65,887
Others (Note) HAth (f7 22) 24,095
37,056,811

Note: Others represent floating charges over certain other assets
of the Group including principally property, plant and
equipment (other than hotel properties), inventories, trade
and other receivables and pledged bank deposits.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group also pledged a bank
deposit of HK$311,000 (2023: HKS$300,000) to a bank to
secure for the use of ferry ticket equipment provided by

a third party to the Group.

M. HtiEmtsEHETHMEE
(FEHBEMEUIINY E-
ErRRB FE - BHRHE
kW RIERBERRTER
ZAEE T -

(b) 72024438310 > 74 & B 7R K
18 $R 17 77 311,000 7T (2023
£ :300,000% 5t) ¥ — M iR 17 »
FA—RBE=ZAIREEXERF
FAMEEEH KR -

43.Capital Commitments 43. BRI
2024 2023
HK$ 000 HK$ 000
F#Ex FE T
Contracted for but not provided in the BETHNERNES MR
consolidated financial statements, net KPP T ZIEEL
of deposits paid, in respect of: BHENREMETE) -
— investment properties —REME 51,269
— property, plant and equipment —ERBERRE 840
— properties under development —FEHEZEER
for sale LY/ 700,791
752,900
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

44.0perating Lease Commitments 44 B EHE IR
The Group as lessor TEEEAHBEAA
Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as FEWEAEZARWIREERENT:
follows:
2024 2023
HK$ 000 HKS$’000
T#r FE T
Within one year —FRA 773,642
In the second year BTHE 525,971
In the third year F=F 300,491
In the fourth year %I &F 123,628
In the fifth year BHF 56,365
Over five years AEME 50,901
1,830,998
Certain premises in the Group’s investment properties TEBRZREMEANEETYWER
have committed tenants for the tenancy ranging from EHEPAME > HEAF1IELSE (2023
1 to 15 years (2023: 1 to 15 years) and the rentals are FIIEISHF)ARE > MEEHTELE
pre-determined at fixed amounts except for certain leases ERAEEEHE HRFEEEZRA
of which contingent rentals are charged based on the DEEWER S AR EHNEFTEHERI -
percentage of sales. The lease commitments presented FHBEEREURBEREZER
above is based on the existing committed monthly minimum EREHETEHEAEE-
lease payments.
Undiscounted lease payments receivable from related MEERKMESZARMREAER
parties on leases are as follows: HUTF:
2024 2023
HKS$’000 HKS 000
TER FET
Within one year —FR 83,364
In the second year B_HE 25,359
In the third year B=F 12,098
In the fourth year B IHE 3,461
In the fifth year FHEF 326
Over five years AEME —
124,608
45.Major Non-Cash Transactions 45.EBIEHERS
During the year, additions of property, plant and equipment REFE ME BBERI[EZIRE
of HK$1,815,000 (2023: HKS1,041,000) were settled by #1,815,000% 7t (20234 : 1,041,000
utilising deposits paid in prior year. B DEBERTEENIESE
=1
During the year, interest income from a joint venture of B2 72 € £ > 18,954,000 7T (20234 :
HKS$18,954,000 (2023: HKS$22,051,000) is settled through the 22,051,000 jT) A — & & & E W
current account with the joint venture. WMZMEBEWATEBEEEEZR

BRRPAMT o
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LR EMTERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

46.Related Party Transactions 46.FAEHF X 7
(a) Other than disclosed in notes 8, 9, 17, 18, 23, 26, 28, (@) PRPMI=E8~9~17~18+23 26+
29, 30, 37 and 44, the Group also had the following 282930 3TR44FF B B &
significant transactions with related parties: Sho REETBEMESFETT
SIEARXRS:
2024 2023
HKS$’000 HKS 000
F#Ex F#ET
Financial advisory expenses to MBAEAR T FERE
related companies 1,240
Interest expenses to a related mEAEARMAFE
company 49,115
Purchases of furniture from a related [ — & Bf 18 2 B 1% B8 R il
company 1,536
Purchases of merchandising goods mMAEARREBESEM
from related companies 659
Rental income from related MAEATWERZES
companies 110,628
Secretarial fee to a related company E—REHEARZTHER
wE 1,758
Share of administrative expenses by  BAER B 2L {TEB X
related companies 95,363
Note: Related companies are companies (1) controlled by Kz AERTA(L)BHBIELIEAE
relevant private discretionary trusts of which Dr. Yeung TUARZEAAZHBARNEETE
is the founder and settlor and Mr. Yeung Ching Loong, }’“%JZ’&E B RBERLE A
Alexander is one of the eligible beneficiaries; or (2) EERBTEAZ—HQ)HE—
controlled by a Director. BEFRERZAF -
(b) The key management personnel of the Company are (b) ARFAZEREEBABERESE
Directors. Details of the remunerations are set out in BRFM ZF BN ML o
note 10.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &t ZE20244#35 31 H 1F F &

47.Financial Information of the Company 47. 28 Z8#EEE
KA B R2024%FE3H831H F202343
A3EZMBERMT:

The financial information of the Company as at 31 March

2024 and 31 March 2023 is as follows:

Non-current asset
Investments in subsidiaries

FRBEE

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Other receivables
Taxation receivable
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Other payables
Unsecured notes — due within one year

RHBARZIRE 1,709,203 1,713,712

fE U Bt BB A B 7R 1B 7,499,125 8,388,348

H h fE W R 8 473 622

& U 1 18 4 28

RITHEGRERES 337 474
7,499,939 8,389,472

mEEE
HithFE {3 7 1E 6,828

BEARE - —FRIH 299,950

306,778

878,002

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liability
Unsecured notes — due after one year

MENBEERE 7,193,161 7,511,470
MEERTBAR 8,902,364 9,225,182
ERBERE

BIRRRE - —FRIEB 79,893 379,351

Net assets

BEERE 8,822,471 8,845,831

Capital and reserves BAXKki#E
Share capital & 2 36,775 36,775
Reserves (Note) & (Hr at) 8,785,696 8,809,056
Total equity Hm A 8,822,471 8,845,831
Note: iz

At 1 April 2022 1202244818 4,563,248 109,474 3,131,325 7,804,047
Profit and total comprehensive income 4 E & f &k 2 42 I &

for the year — — 1,082,237 1,082,237
2022 final dividend paid BIk2022FRKBE L - - (58,841) (58,841)
2023 interim dividend paid BiR2023E R ARG B (18,387) (18,387)
At 31 March 2023 1202343H431H 109,474 4,136,334 8,809,056

Loss and total comprehensive expense EEFEER 2 EAR X

for the year

(1,294) (1,294)

2023 final dividend paid BIk2023FE KRR E (11,033) (11,033)
2024 interim dividend paid BIK2024FEHEKR B (11,033) (11,033)
At 31 March 2024 12024538310 4,563,248 109,474 4,112,974 8,785,696
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

48.Particulars of Subsidiaries B.MBATHR
(a) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company (a) & A B 12024%F3831H %2023
as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, are as follows: FIA3IHZETEMBARFES
mr

210

Directly held

EEGE

Emperor Corporate Management Limited BVI usb1 100.00 10000 Investment holding

HERXEERERAR RBRYES %7 REZER

Emperor Hotel Group Limited BVI usbL 100.00 100.00  Investment holding

HEEEEABRART RBREYLEE 1%7 REER

EPDL BVI usp1 100.00 100.00  Investment holding

HEMEER KERYHEE 1%7 REER

EPIL BVI (N 100.00 100.00  Investment holding

HENERE RBREYLEE 1%7 REER

Indirectly held

HERs

Able Elegant* Hong Kong 134,285 56.24 56.24  Provision of catering services

B & REERRE

Actmore Estate Limited Hong Kong 1,000,000 100.00 100.00  Property investment

REBEARAT EF MERE

All Harvest Corporation Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00  Property development

BEERAR 5% MERE

All Max Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00  Property investment

HRARAF EE MERE

Asia Palace Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00  Property development and

BHBRAF &% investment

NELERREE

Assets Pro Holdings Limited* BVI/Macau usn1 N/A 5730 Hotel entertainment
BERZHEE /AN IES FER BERE

Billion Ideal Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00  Property development

BRERAT 5% MERR

Century Chain Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00  Property development
5% MERR

Century Creations Limited Hong Kong 10,000 100.00 100.00  Property investment

tLARERAT 5 MERE

Champ Billion Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00  Property investment

BRERAT 5 MERE

EIL Property Management Limited Hong Kong 100 100.00 100.00  Investment holding

HENEEERERAT 5% REER
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 &t ZE20244#35 31 H 1F F &

Indirectly held (continued)

48.Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company
as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, are as follows:
(continued)

8.MBATHRE®

(a) 7 A B 12024438310 &2023

F3IABIBZETEMBRARFIE

mE: (8B

CE31E )
Emperor Ampersand Limited Partnership UK GBP100 100.00 10000 Property Investment
% 1003 & NERE
Emperor (Beijing) Real Estate Development The PRC RMB1,511,380,000 100.00 10000 Property investment
Company Limited? FE AR¥1,511,380,0007 E
HESREHERERRAR?
Emperor Entertainment Hotel Holdings Limited Hong Kong 100 100.00 100.00  Investment holding
HEREBERRERAT & RAEER
Emperor E Hotel Bermuda/ Hong Kong 118,849 71.63 7163 Investment holding
HEREBE BERE/EE REER
Emperor Hotel Management Services (HK) Hong Kong 1 71.63 7163 Provision of management services for
Limited? 5 hotel and serviced apartments
HEABEEERY (FR)FERAA REEERBELAEEERE
Emperor Hotel Management Services (Macau) ~ Macau MOP25,000 71.63 7163 Provision of management services for
Limited? el 25,00082M 7T hotels
HEBEERRE (R ERAT REEEEERRS
Emperor Financial Management Limited Hong Kong 100 100.00 100.00  Provision of treasury services to
HEMBEBRERAF &5 group companies
BEEARREMERY
Emperor Hotel Management Limited* Hong Kong 2 57.30 5730 Provision of serviced apartments
REEEERARAT RUEBRBEALE
Emperor Investment Limited Hong Kong 1,000 100.00 100.00  Provision of treasury services to
HENEBRAF i group companies
BEEARREMERY
Emperor Investment (Management) Limited ~ Hong Kong 100 100.00 100.00  Provision of management services
X REEERY
Emperor Project Management (Hong Kong) Hong Kong 100 100.00 100.00  Provision of project management
Limited X services
HETREY(FE)BRAR RUFEERRS
Emperor Property Agency Limited Hong Kong 100 100.00 100.00  Provision of property agency services
HEMERERRAT RENEREBRS
Emperor (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.? The PRC RMB1,807,598,058 100.00 100.00  Property development
HE(LB)BRAR e AR11,807,508,0587% NEER

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sFaMERRMsE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

48.Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued)

(a) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company
as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, are as follows:
(continued)

212

Indirectly held (continued)
REREE)

Emperor Treasury Management Limited

HEERERBRAR

Emperor Way Limited
ERERRH

Emperor (Xiamen) Real Estate Investments
Limited?
HE(EM HEXRBRAG:

Fai lek Limited
BHEERAT

Famous Awards Limited
Forever Earn Limited
XBAERAT

Gold Shine Investment Limited
BREERRAA

Grand Emperor Entertainment & Hotel (Macau)

Limited*
HEWBEE(RM)ERAT

Happy Rain Limited
ERERAH

Headwise Investment Limited
BHEREERAF

Hill Concept Limited
BEBRAT

Inn Hotel Macau Limited?
R EERRAT

| Soi Limited
REERAR

[ Veng Limited
BXBRAE

Hong Kong
X
Hong Kong
B

The PRC
)

Macau
ar

BVI/UK
EREYHE/ KA

Hong Kong
#
Hong Kong

Macau
il

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
R

Hong Kong

Macau

3]
Macau
A

Macau

2F

USD5,000,000
5,000,000% 7T

MOP25,000
25,000:2F9 78

usbL
IEH

2

MOP500,000
500,000 3 70

MOP100,000
100,000:2 F9 7t

MOP25,000
25,0009 7¢

MOP25,000
25,000:2F9 78

48. B AT »
(a) 4~ A B 72024538310 %2023
E3A3AZ T EME QD HE

mE: (48)

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

57.30

100.00

100.00

100.00

71.63

100.00

100.00

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEZ2EEREEEREAF
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100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

571.30

100.00

100.00

100.00

71.63

100.00

100.00

Provision of treasury services to
group companies

BEEQRARMEHBRE

Provision of treasury services to
group companies
HEEADRBHBERY

Property development and
investment

NEZRRRE

Property investment

ES

Property investment

ES

Property investment

ES

Property investment

ES

Provision of hotel and catering
services

REBERRRRE

Property investment

IES |

Property investment

IES |

Property development

NEER

Provision of hotel and catering
services

REBERBRBRE

Property investment

ES -

Property investment

UES -




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 &t ZE20244#35 31 H 1F F &

48.Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued) 18.MIB TR =)

(a) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company (a) & A B 120245F3831H %2023
as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, are as follows: FIA3IHZETEMBARFES
(continued) mE: (8B

Indirectly held (continued)

CE31E )

Luck United* BYI USD10,000 57.30 57130 Investment holding
EBRUES 10,000% 7% RELR

Mori Investments Limited* Hong Kong 2 57.30 5130 Property investment

MORI MORI Serviced Apartments Limited Hong Kong 1 57.30 5730 Provision of serviced apartments
X RERBAAE

Motive Drive Limited* Hong Kong 100 57.30 5130 Property investment

Bz RERAR! X NERE

Palace Express Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 10000 Property investment

ZBERAF X NERE

Parkmost Limited Hong Kong 100 57.30 5730 Property investment

BHRARAR! X NERE

Pioneer Earn Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00  Property development
X NEER

Planwing Limited Hong Kong 2 100.00 100.00  Property investment

BRERAH X NERE

Precision Faith Limited? Macau MOP100,000 71.63 7163 Inactive (2023: Gaming operation

RHERAF? ne 100,000:2 P9 7% and provision of gaming related

marketing and promotion services)
BEH(2023 B EBRREMHIELA
BEEREBRY)

Quick Gain Investments Limited? BVI USDL 71.63 7163 Investment holding
EBRUES IES REZR

Rich Gallant Investment Limited Hong Kong 2 100.00 100.00  Property development

EREREBERAT X NELE

Richorse Limited Hong Kong 2 100.00 100.00  Property investment
X NERE

Right Achieve Limited* BVI usbL 57.30 5730 Investment holding
EBRYES IESH RERR

Emperor International Holdings Limited R Z2EIRERABRAF] 213
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sFaMERRMsE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & ZE20244# 3531 H 1F F &

48.Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued) 18.MIB AT =

(a) Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company (a) & A B 12024%F3831H %2023
as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, are as follows: FIA3IHZETEMBARFES
(continued) mE: (B

Indirectly held (continued)

MEHa 4
Shineon Investments Limited BVI/UK usbL 100.00 10000 Property investment
EBRYES/HE IES NERE
Sure Strong Corporation Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00  Property development
EEERAF X NELE
The Davis Investment Limited Hong Kong 10,000 57.30 5130 Property investment
X NERE
The Emperor Hotel Limited* Hong Kong 1 57.30 5730 Provision of hotel and catering
RERSBERRAR EE services
REEERERRE
The Unit Serviced Apartments Limited* Hong Kong 2 57.30 57130 Provision of serviced apartment
B RERHBIAE
Thyme Company Limited Hong Kong 5,000 100.00 10000 Property investment
FEERAH 3 ES
Tin Hou? Macau MOP25,000 71.63 7163 Provision of agency services for
P B 25,000:2F9 7T gaming operation
REBEEBZANRE
Treasure Dragon Investments Limited? BVI/Macau USDL N/A 7163 Investment holding
URRABRAR AERLHE /AN e TER REER
Up Wealthy Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00  Property development
R NEER
Upton Limited Hong Kong 2 100.00 100.00  Property development
EEBERAR R NEER
Very Sound Investments Limited Hong Kong 10,000,000 100.00 100.00  Property investment
R UES -
Vital Spring Holdings Limited? BVI usb1 71.63 —  Investment holding
EERRHE %7 REER
Wealthy Gate Investment Limited Hong Kong 1 100.00 100.00  Property investment
BREARABRAH R nERE

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEZ2EEREEEREAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sra M ERRMcE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £202443/531H Ik FE

48.Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued)

(a)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company
as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, are as follows:

(continued)
Notes:

! All amounts are in Hong Kong dollars except stated otherwise.

2 Wholly foreign owned enterprise. The company’s English
name is for identification purpose only.

: Those companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Emperor
E Hotel which shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

¢ These companies are non wholly-owned subsidiaries of
Emperor E Hotel and are regarded as non wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company because the Group has control
over the financial and operating policies of these companies.

All subsidiaries, except for those companies
incorporated outside Hong Kong, carry on their
businesses in Hong Kong unless stated otherwise.

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, none of the
subsidiaries of the Company issued any debt securities.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

8.MBATHRE®

(a) &2 B 2024%3H31H %2023

FIABIHZFEMB ABFS
mE: (8B
VER

L BRBAEEBWBN AARENELN
BT A A -

2 RHERE - RAFEXZHEM
Al o

P ZERTAREREABEZERE
MEAR > HRMOKERRES -

Y ORERADNHEEREEBEEZIER
BENBAR THRAEBRER
ZERBMBRIEERRZESR
#oREIt ZFRBARBAA/ER
BIZEEEMBAF -

BRAESZBUINEMEILZ AT
5o FREWB AR EEREE
G (ZHFEBERIN -

1£2024%3H831H R%202343H
31 AREIMB A B E AT
EREHES -

REFZER > ERIEFESRE
ERELEBREGRAEBEEZS
NEMBAT - EFTRIIHE
thHMBARZHFEESRESR
RTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sFaMERRMsE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

48.Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued)
(b) Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests:

(b)

The table below shows details of non wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material

18.MBATHTRE @

BEEAFEREZZIFEE
MEBRBZFE:

TERHEINFEEAREBEEKRIFE
REZZIFZEMBLRE ZF

non-controlling interests: 1%
Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interests and voting
and principal rights held by non- Profit (loss) allocated to Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiaries place of business controlling interests non-controlling interests controlling interests (Note/
WEAR%E HRRIRTEEEME FERESFAGRARRREEZLN FEFFERES 2EH(ER) RHEERER )
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TéEn T T#7 TiEn
Emperor E Hotel* Bermuda/Macau 28.37% (59,603) 1,921,126
RERGER" BRE/ 2N
Note: Included in accumulated non-controlling interests, an Mrat: BREREEERAIWMEARIE

amount of HK$819,457,000 (2023: HKS$817,511,000) is
mainly contributed from the non-controlling interests of
the Emperor E Hotel and its subsidiaries.

Representing Emperor E Hotel and its subsidiaries

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEEEREBBREAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SR E TS ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 # E2024F3531H IF F &

48.Particulars of Subsidiaries (continued) 48.MiB AT B®

(b) Details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries that have b) BEERFERETZIEZE
material non-controlling interests: (continued) MEBABZEE: (&)
Emperor E Hotel and its subsidiaries HERSEBERAEMEAR
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#Ex FET
Current assets MENEE 705,371 566,763
Non-current assets EREBEE 4,157,013 4,270,952
Current liabilities mEas 200,752 253,213
Non-current liabilities ERBasE 89,478 75,179
Equity attributable to the Company AT AL & 2,632,939 2,588,197
Non-controlling interests of the HEREBEEZ
Emperor E Hotel JETE RS 1,119,758 1,103,615
Non-controlling interests of the HEREBEERBAT Z
Emperor E Hotel’s subsidiaries JEITERG RS 819,457 817,511
Revenue KA 789,262 291,119
Costs, expenses, other gains and A~ B~ Hitt = &
losses B 18 (726,431) (419,116)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive  EE&EF (F518) R 2 @42
income (expense) for the year Y= (B ) 62,831 (127,997)
Profit (loss) and total comprehensive  FE{EEF (B1E) k2 E
income (expense) attributable to: Wa (R 2) 48 %8 -
Owners of the Company TABHEBA 44,742 (68,394)
Non-controlling interests of the HEREEEZ
Emperor E Hotel JEERER 16,143 (29,798)
Non-controlling interests of the HEREBIEME AT
Emperor E Hotel’s subsidiaries ZIEERESR 1,946 (29,805)
62,831 (127,997)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from ST IS R A
operating activities (mu':l:'.) 7 EE 147,877 (47,684)
Net cash inflow (outflow) from KREITHREZRN
investing activities (md)#%58 72,888 (237,366)
Net cash outflow from financing METFZREMHER
activities (1,305) (5,717)
Net cash inflow (outflow) BERACRY) FHE 219,460 (290,767)

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFREBRBRAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

LR EMTERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & £20244#3/531H Ik F &

49.Event after Reporting Period

218

Pursuant to the Company’s announcement dated 16
May 2024, Star Group Enterprises Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
sale and purchase agreement to dispose two units in an
industrial building located at No. 56 Ka Yip Street, Chai
Wan, Hong Kong, to an independent third party at a total
consideration of HK$100,000,000.

9. EMMEFEIF
18 985 2 2 5 B # 20244858 16 8 19
At EARDZHELEANB AT
BHCEBRARIIEE S
B— 2B E SR BB
¥ 55 3 #5698 B9 T 2 [ A9 7 161 B8
fiI » 484X & #100,000,0007% 7T °

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEEEREBBREAF
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Five-year Financial Summary

AT BE

Results ¥ 5

Revenue WA 1,761,815 1,210,682 2,329,324 1,317,082 2,365,382
Loss before taxation MR AR PRl (2,299,228) (831,145)  (1,074,972)  (3,670,483)
Taxation credit RIEE R 57,782 97,642 91,503 204,686 127,121
Loss for the year EEEE PHIPEEAAR  (2,201,586) (739,642) (870,286)  (3,543,362)
(Loss) profit for the year RIGEE (B1B)

attributable to: wH

Owners of the Company KABHEEA PRI (2,141,983) (469,329) (767448)  (3,644,359)

Non-controlling interests TR R 18,089 (59,603) (270,313) (102,838) 100,997

PRWPERTAAR  (2,201,586) (739,642) (870,286)  (3,543,362)

Assets And Liabilities SERAE

Total assets BERE SEERfeERE 51,128,055 54,705,505 60,249,122 60,296,815
Total liabilities BEAHE PEFIRERAN  (25,319,733)  (25,938,002)  (30,846,341)  (30,574,611)

CEGLTaPl 25,808,322 28,767,503 29,402,781 29,722,204

Equity attributable to: FEAGRE %
Owners of the Company KRBEBA RO 23,887,196 26,765,814 27,069,470 27,200,235
Non-controlling interests FERER 1,939,215 1,921,126 2,001,689 2,333,311 2,521,969
PELelTe il 25,808,322 28,767,503 29,402,781 29,722,204
Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF 219
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Summary of Properties

LUES

Particulars of the Group’s major investment properties and ZAEBKR2024FE3R3IHZFTEREYE
properties under development as at 31 March 2024, are as KEERGTYEZHBNOT:

follows:
Investment Properties REME
Group’s  Land lease
Location Purpose Floorarea  Car parking interest duration
3th B Bi& EEmi Ei#E FrEEMGET THESHR
sq.ft. %
BHR
1. Units 1 to 4 on 12th Floor, Office 1,078(G) — 100 Medium
Wing Yip Commercial Building, WAZE (B%) A
65-71 Yen Chow Street,
Sham Shui Po, Kowloon
TLBR R 7K 35 8N #765-T158%
BEBHERBINEIELIE
2. Carpark Nos. 1-11, 20, 23, 23A, Carparks - 16 100 Long
24 and 24A on Ground Floor, B — £
Kwong Sang Hong Building,
Blocks C and D, 188 Wanchai Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong
ERBEFEFELSS
BETAKECKDE
#FI1-11+20
23~ 23A~ 24T 24ASE B fL
3. Unit 601-604, 606, 705, 801, 802, 806, Office 67,000(G) — 100 Medium
901, 902, 1001, 1102-1104, 1204, L Y/NES (B%) i

1206, 1207, 1505, 1506, 1605, 1607,
1701-1707, 1801-1803, 1806, 1807,

1901, 1905-1907, 2001-2007, 2101-2102
Emperor Group Centre,

288 Hennessy Road, Wanchai,

Hong Kong
EREFHESELREAZEETD
601Z604 ~ 606 » 705 ~ 801 ~ 802 »
806~ 901+ 902 ~ 1001 ~ 1102F1104 ~
1204 ~ 1206 ~ 1207 ~ 1505 ~ 1506 »
1605 ~ 1607 ~ 1701 E 1707 ~
1801F1803 ~ 1806 ~ 1807 ~ 1901 +
1905F1907 ~ 2001E2007 %
2101E2102%

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEEEREBBREAF
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Summary of Properties

LUES

Investment Properties (continued) REME»
Group’s  Land lease
Location Purpose Floorarea  Car parking interest duration
3t B Bi& BEER EHE FSEMRGED THASTHM
sq.ft. %
E5R
4, Shops on Basement One and Two, Commercial/ 151,600(G) 36 100 Medium
G/F - 4/F, Some Commercial Carparks (BH) i H#A
Units on 22/F - 29/F, Emperor Group EE Y20
Centre 288 Hennessy Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong

EREFHEFE2885
REEEROE—BRF_BHE
WTFEMEZRURDEVRZET

EEEER

5. Ground Floor and 1st Floor, Commercial 1,850(G) — 100 Long
523 Lockhart Road, GES (B#) R
Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong
& B 1 38 % 5% 5 18 5235,
T K1

6. Shops 1-3 &5 on Ground Floor, Shops/ 26,952(G) — 100 Long
the whole of 1st, 2nd and 3rd Floors, Commercial () R
the External Walls of Ground Floor Gk VEES

to 3rd Floor, the Flat Roof on

5th Floor and Parapet Walls
enclosing the Flat Roof on

5th Floor and Lift No. 1 and No. 5,
8 Russell Street, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong

ERMBER RGN
HTIEIRRSRE

g\ 2BRIBEE - HTEMEZIME -
SETR - BESRTRZERR
IRRSTHER

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
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Summary of Properties

LUES

Investment Properties (continved) KREME

Group’s  Land lease

Location Purpose Floorarea  Car parking interest duration
3th B B BEmR Ei¥A FEEMGEDZ LHESHR

sq.ft. %
E5R

7. Shops 7-11 & Entrance Hall Commercial 21,720(G) - 100 Long
on Ground Floor, [GES (BE) RH#

the whole of 1st Floor, 2nd Floor,
3rd Floor, 4th Floor and 5th Floor
Wei King Building,

275 Chatham Road North,

Hung Hom,

Kowloon

TLBE AT B R B 1 36 2755%
Rt TIELI S RAE
HE 28 3B 4BRSIERE

8. Portion B on Ground Floor, Commercial 1,600(G) — 100 Short
63-69 Avenida do Infante D. Henrique [EES (B%) f2
and Shop C2 on Ground Floor,

No. 5 Rua Dr. Pedro Jose Lobo,
Macau

BB EFKERG3-695
BEEM T K % R 18 L 5%

# R C25% &
9. Shops 1-6 on Ground Floor, Commercial 5,549(G) — 100 Medium
Ist and 2nd Floor, GES (BE) H

1st and 2nd Advertising Walls,
525 Shanghai Street,
Mongkok, Kowloon

NBEH A £ B #5255
WTIE6E 18 E218
F-REZIIEESUE

10. Unit C on 6th Floor, CNT Tower, Office 940(G) — 100 Long
Wanchai, Hong Kong WAE (B%) 23
EBEFILBERO6IECE

11. Basement, Ground Floor, 1st to 4th Commercial 15,788(G) - 100 Long
Floor of Block A, Centro Comercial Hoi GES (BE) R#

Meng, No. 201-209 Avenida De Almeida
Ribeiro 1-3 Patio Das Esquinas, Macau
R P97 5 B8 201-2095% K
ABBLIREBEEROAREME
T RIEAE

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEEEREBBREAF
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Summary of Properties

LUES

Investment Properties (continued) REME»
Group’s  Land lease
Location Purpose Floorarea  Car parking interest duration
3 25 Bi& EEEHR Ei#E sEEMmEED THAEHH
sq.ft. %
EBAR
12. Flat A& C on 12th Floor and Residential 1,780(G) - 100 Long
Flat B on 17th Floor, FE (BE) EH
Ying Fai Court, 1 Ying Fai Terrace,
Hong Kong
EREEZIH
EREEI2EARCE RITIEBE
13. Shop A, D2 & E2 on Ground Floor, Shops 3,061(G) — 100 Medium
Harilela Mansion, GE: (BE) i HA

81 Nathan Road,

Tsimshatsui, Kowloon
NBER D IH B2 E8LR
EFKEMTA D2RE2SE &

14. 54-56 Russell Street, Commercial/ 4,224(G) — 100 Long
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong Residential (BZ) R
B8RSR ZH54-565% BE/ T

15. Ground Floor, 20 Russell Street, Shops 1,125(G) - 100 Long
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong R (B%) .3
ERMBERZHRMT

16. 22-24 Russell Street, Shops 7,868(G) — 100 Long
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong k] (B%) R
BERMEEREREH22-245%

17. 2nd Floor and 3rd Floor, Carparks - 353 100 Long
Fitfort, 560 King’s Road, R 31

North Point, Hong Kong
BRI AEEES60REE

“EBR=E
18, Shop C&Don Ground Floor Shops 3,710(G) - 100 Medium
and Units A and B on Ist Floor, ] (B%) i

Mercantile House, Kowloon

NEEBEMAEMTCRDI:ERK

IHEAKBE

19. Ground Floor, 76 Percival Street, Shops 600(G) — 100 Long
Hong Kong [k (BZ) R’
ERRMEHTOTMT

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEFEEREBAREAF
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Summary of Properties

LUES

Investment Properties (continved) KREME

Group’s  Land lease

Location Purpose Floorarea  Car parking interest duration
3th B B BEmR Ei¥A FEEMGEDZ LHESHR

sq.ft. %
E5R

20. Shop A & B on Ground Floor, Shops 6,700(G) - 100 Long
Office A & B on 1st Floor to 3rd Floor, L (BE) RH

Tak Fat Building,

50 - 52 Russell Street,

Hong Kong

BB B EH50-525%

BRAEM TAKRBRHE  1BE

JEMAEAKRBE

21. Ground Floor, 67 Wellington Street, Shops 855(G) — 100 Long
Hong Kong k] (B%) =31
ERFBEECTRMT

22. Flat B on Ground Floor, Shops 800(G) — 100 Medium
Hon Kwong Mansion, [k (BZ) i
25-29 Hankow Road & 4 Ichang Street,
Kowloon

NEEEOE25-29% R
HEHIREXRAEHTBE

23, Shop Con Ground Floor, Shops 750(G) - 100 Medium
Daily House, 5] (B%) i
35, 36 & 37 Haiphong Road, Kowloon
NEEEFEE35 ~ 36375

BHITHTCRE
24. Shops 30 & 33A on Ground Floor Shops 1,717(G) - 100 Medium
and Mezz Floor, ] (B%) i

Tsimshatsui Mansion,

83-97 Nathan Road, 36-50 Lock Road,
Kowloon

T AR S IES3-975% K 44 iE36-505%
ZERAEMT REIBI0KX3ZAMH

25. 60 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Shops/ 110,532(G) 30 100 Long
Hong Kong Office/ (B%) R
EREFELTITECN Carparks

[V
WAE/
=k}

Emperor International Holdings Limited EEEEREBBREAF
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Summary of Properties

LUES

Investment Properties (continued) REME»
Group’s  Land lease
Location Purpose Floorarea  Car parking interest duration
3 25 Bi& EEEHR Ei#E sEEMmEED THAEHH
sq.ft. %
EBAR
26. The Pulse, 28 Beach Road, Commercial/ 167,200(G) 97 100 Long
Repulse Bay, Hong Kong Shops/ (B%) 31
ERRKEBEERT Carparks
The Pulse GEYS
ke
==
21. Emperor Commercial Centre, Commercial/ 39,000(G) — 100 Long
39-41 Des Voeux Road Central, Office () £
Central, Hong Kong EV4
EBTIREEHE 39415 MAE
HEEERD
28. 181-183 Oxford Street, Commercial/ 20,000(G) - 100 Freehold
London, UK Office (BH) YN
HE R B2 7181-183% EEVS
/NS
29. Emperor Nam Van Centre, Commercial 29,600(G) - 100 Short
71-85 Avenida do Infante [GES (BE) yop

D. Herique, 514-540

Avenida da Praia Grande,

Macau
RPREFAERILSRK

M ARERSI4-540 HEFEH D

30. Emperor Group Centre, Commercial/  1,062,000(G) - 100 Medium
Ding 12 Jianguomen Avenue, Office (B%) el
Chaoyang District, GEYS (incl.

Beijing, The PRC /NS basement)
FEIERAGERBEPISMRETI2H (BEME)
HEERFDL

31 Commercial/Car Park Block, Commercial/ 93,300(G) 979 100 Medium
Multi-storey Car Parks A, B and C, Carparks (BZ) el
Open Car Parks and Associated Areas EE Y20

5-19 and 6-12 Sui Wo Road, Sha Tin,
New Territories

R BERK5-19K6-125%
HE/FEEAIE ZEEFHEFABR
CE BEXFEZREMMS
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Summary of Properties

LUES

Investment Properties (continved) KREME
Group’s  Land lease
Location Purpose Floorarea  Car parking interest duration
3 25 Bi& EEER EM$E sEEMmRGERZ LHESHE
sq.ft. %
FiER
32. Ampersand Building, Commercial/ 112,500(G) - 100 Freehold
111-125 Oxford Street, London, Office (B#) KA
UK EEVA
HE R A R 111-125% MAE
Ampersand kX &
33. Shop Nos.1-9 and 11 on Ground Floor, Commercial 12,700(G) — 100 Long
Shop No.1 and 2 on Lower Ground EES (B%) R’
Floor,
Fairview Height, No.1 Seymour Road,
Hong Kong

ERAREEIREIEEH TIZENRR
1SR R TR BLR25% &

34. Emperor Hollywood Centre, Commercial/ 41,000(G) — 100 Long
No.151 Hollywood Road, Office (BZ) R’
Hong Kong CEVS
EBRERTEIIREEFTFEEDD /NS
35, 25-27 Oxford Street, Commercial/ 19,300(G) - 100 Freehold
London, UK Office (BH) XA
HERBFREH22TH EEVA
/NS
36. No.81 Lockhart Road, Commercial 126,600(G) - 100 Long
Wanchai, Hong Kong S (%) &
SHEEFRTENSR
Remark: (G) - gross floor area . G)—EEEEER
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Summary of Properties

LUES

Investment Properties Under BRAPEME
Development
Estimated Estimated Land
Gross Floor  Stage of Completion Car Group’s lease
Location Purpose  Site Area Area Completion Date Parking  Interest  duration
fhstiEE flst 5E 1t
hE BiE WHEEF BEIR R=MEE ERBN EM¥E ARAtEz  HARKERE
sq.ft. sq.ft. %
FHR FER
1. Emperor Star City, a site Commercial 246,173 1,300,000 Foundation 2026 - Note Medium
located at Yuyuan Jiedao complex (incl.  completed i i
548 Jiefang 11/1 Qiu Huangpu [EES basement)  MEIRE
District, Shanghai, The PRC GERR (BiEHE) BRA
EEMERMR
TELEREEREHE
SA8% 35111 2 2B
Note: Under the joint venture agreement, the Group would provide the Afz#. REBEEHZ  FEERKREE LM &8
land, whereas joint venture partner would bear the full construction BHERBRKEZNEENA MAUEEE
cost and the saleable floor area would be split between the parties in HEFHEFEMFED

equal shares.
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Summary of Properties

LUES

Properties Under Development - FIEHEZERDPE
for Sale
Estimated Estimated Land
Gross Floor Stageof  Completion Car Group’s lease
Property Purpose  Site Area Area  Completion Date Parking Interest duration
, HE ; s20 i
ng RE  WEER  REER RRER (HEMAM  EMHE 0 REEE  AEHR
sq.ft. sq.ft. %
E5R E5R
L Various Lots, DD210, Sai Kung, Residential 58,100 26,000 Pending for N/A - 100 Medium
New Territories e Land exchange TEH mi
HABELEAMEURSEHE EFTHR
2. Central 8, 8-10A Mosque Street, Residential 4293 34,000 Comp\eted 2021 - 100 Lon
Mid-levels, Hong Kong fE BRI E,ﬁﬁ
BEFUERBES-LASF LS
3. Seaside Castle, No. 9 Ching Lai Road,  Residential 22,000 29,000 Comp\eted 2021 18 100 Medium
Tai Lam, Tuen blun, New Terrtories % BRI ki
HATAAEEERITHE
4, No. 15 Shouson, Residential 116,896 87200 Comp\eted 2021 3 50 Medium
No. 15 Shouson Hill Road West, e BRI m
Hong Kon
ErEEERLESELLE
5 Nos.20-26 0ld Bailey Street & Residential 3,299 29,700 Topped out 2024 - 100 Lonﬁ
No. 11 Chancery Lane, frE BB R

Mid-levels, Hon Kong
ESLUR2HHNEWER

BEBIY
. No 1Wang Tak Street, Residential 5816 58,100 Superstructure 2025 14 100 Medium
ppgé\/alley Honé Kong fiE works Gl
nEHS LEEZ
1. SouthSky, Nos. 72-80 0ld Main Street,  Residential/ 5,985 50,300 Superstructure 2025 - 100 Long
Aberdeen, Aberdeen, Hong g Kong Commercial works RH
EREBEEAFEAGII0EER | s/ B LERE
8. No. 127 Caine Road, Mid-levels, Residential 3017 24,700 Demolition 2025 - 100 Lon
Hong Kon fE work E,ﬁé
*}ﬁ#—lﬂ E127% K1
9, Nos. 24-30 Bonham Road, Residential 13,067 105,400 Superstructure 2026 28 100 Long
Mid-levels West, Hong Kong e works &
ERELUBHENE LERE
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